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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Consolidated strategic report

The directors present the strategic report and the tinancial statements ot International Schools Partnership Limited ((“the
Company 7). together with its subsidiaries (“the Group™) for the vear ended 31 August 2023,

Group’s principal activities and events of the 2023 financial year

The Company s a private company incorporated. domiciled and registered in England in the UK. The registered number
is 098 17502 and the regisiered address is 7% Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London, United Kingdom, 1:C2M 4R, The ultimate
parent company is International Schools Partnership 1 S.a.r.1 by virtue of its sharcholding in the immediate parent company.,
Permatio International Learning S.4.r.l. The ullimate controlling party is Partners Group Access 188 PFF LP.

The core activity of the Group is kindergarten through to twelith grade (K-12) private education. Through its subsidiaries
the Company acquires, operates and builds schools around the world. creating a global schools Group incorporating schools
with an international outlook. which are or can become the school of ¢hoice in their local area. At the year end date the
Group owned and operated 75 (2022: 60) schools with circa 70,000 (2022: 54.000) children enrolled from 2-18 years of
age studying in the United Kingdom, Spain, Tialy, Switzerland. Mexico. Malaysia, Costa Rica, the USA. Canada. Qatar.
the United Arab Emirates. Feuador, Chile, Peru, Colombia, Tndia, Vietnam, Panama. Poland. Braril and Thaitand. The
schools olfer a diverse and enriching educational experience spanning British. Malaysian, International, Mexican. US,
Costa Rican, Peruvian, Chilcan, Colombian and Spanish curricula.

During the year. the Group made 11 acquisitions {2022: 6 acquisitions): Boston (Panama City. Panama). Leenardo
{Bergamo. Ttaly). Manthan (Ilyderabad. [ndia). Wilanow {Wilanow. Peland}, Alexandria {(Alexandria, [taly). Fairmont
{Anahcim. USA). Inglish College (Dubai. UAE). BCIS (Phuket. Thailand). St George (Madrid. Spain). Aubrick (Sao
Paulo. Brazil), and Bangkok Prep (Bangkok, Thailand). Post year-end, the Group has added 5 further schools based in
Potand. the Dominican Republic, Morocco, India and Brazil bringing the number of schools it owns and operates to 81.

The Group completed an equity refinaneing in July 2021 to raisc further cquity capital for future acquisitions. The
refinancing resulted in Partners (iroup retaining a majority sharcholding but also included investment by a new minority
shareholder, OMERS ("OMERS Administration Corporation™). The debt facility agreement with Aremont Asset
Management. Goldman Sachs Asset Management and Santander UK Plc was also amended to reflect additional draw down
facititics and revised financial covenants. During the year, the Group increased its debt facility for new acquisitions and
working capital purposes by €670.000.000 and €75.000,000 respectively. increasing the total debt facilities to
€1,870.000,000 and €125,000,000. As at 31 August 2023, €679.600,000 and €45,000,000 remain undrawn on the respective
debt facilities. The changes in equity and the debt facilities are disclosed in more detail within the relevant notes to the
financial statements.

Results and position

The Group had net assets of €150.298,000 as at 31 August 2023 (2022: €260.862.000) and has madc a loss of €159,541,000
during the financial year 2023 (2022: loss of €37,433.000). which will be carried forward to the following financial year.
Included in the loss for the year is a loss of €1.948,000 from discontinued operations (2022: loss of €7.401.000). related to
the closure of the school in May 2022 and subsequent sale ot assets in Baton Rouge in December 2023, Revenue for the
financial year 2023 was €546.112.000 (2022: €404.139.000). €41.871.000 of the increase is atiributable to the acquisition
of new schools in 2023. The remaining increase is due to organic growth of existing schools and full year ewnership of
acquisitions made in the year ended 31 August 2022,

The Group's directors assess performance and business risk using regular reporting by cach subsidiary and investment
which includes monitoring against agreed budgets and a set of key performance indicators (“KPIs™). The KPIs comprise
both financial and non-financial measures. Non-financial KPls primarily include ratios relating to student enrolments and
utilisation, but also incorporate other key metrics associated with health and safety, the learning performance of the school
and academic resulls.

[R%)
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Consolidated hnancial stalements

International Schools Partnership Limited

Registered number 09817302

Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Results and position {continued)

I'he key KPIs arc as follows:

;'f:rueg“u(::(;uzs Europe Americas Mé::itle Asia Other Total

Number of pupils* 14,000 32.000 10,000 14,000 - 70,000
Capacity® 17.000 42.000 15.000 27.000 - 101.000
Jtilisation 82% 76% 67% 52% - 09%
Number of schools 19 32 9 15 - 75
EBITDA** (€7000) 33406 83.467 32.221 2,520 (35.837) 115.777
Revenue (€7000) 135.156 258.665 89.763 62,528 - 546,112
;fletu‘;nui:(;l]n Europe Americas MEil::ltle Asia Other Total

Number of pupils* 10,000 28.000 7.000 9.000 - 54,000
Capacity* 12.000 37,000 13,000 22.000 - 84.000
Utilisation 83% 76% 34% 41% - 64%
Number of schools 15 25 8 12 - 60
EBITDA** (€ 000) 26,727 39,079 12,110 14,270 {29,582) 82,604
Revenue (€7000) 109.348 171.246 77.552 45993 - 404.139

*Rounded o the nearest thousand

** ~LBITDA™ means operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Reconciliation to alternative performance measures (‘APMs’)

Alternative performance measures are measures used by management to monitor the performance of the business.

These are non-GAAP measures.

(in €£000°'s)

Operating profit

Aded buck.

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of PPE and goodwill
ERITDA

Acquisitions

Relinancing,

Restructun ng Costs

Adjusted underlying EBITDA

Note

-

-4-
-4-
-d-

Year Ended

Year Ended

31 August 31 August

2023 2022
143 12610
99,003 69,994

23,631 -

115,777 82,601
14.154 9.107
1,036 1.660
8,948 8379
139,915 101.730

Adjustments 1o EBITDA arc income or expenditure which, for the dircctors and financial statement reporting
purposes. are disclosed separately because in management’s judgement. due o their nature. size or incidence. they
distort an understanding ot the Group’s financial performance and comparability between periods. The items of
expenditure which management designate as being non-underlying include acquisition costs, refinancing costs,

and business restructuring costs.
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Conselidated tinancial statements
International Schools Partnership 1imited
Registered namber 09817502

Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Results and paosition (continued)
Impairment charges in the current year have been recognised in respeet to goodwill recognised on acquisition of
Claremont School, operating in the United Kingdom. This impairment is discussed tn more detail in note 13.

Acquisition costs are expenses (incurred in the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income) to seek out and acquire
new schools or expansion opportunitics. These include any legal and due diligence fees relating to potential or
actual acquisitions as well as losses incurred prior to the opening of a new school. Although costs relating o
projects can span multiple financial years, key components of expenditure for specific projects are non-recurring,
for example financial due diligence. legal and market surveys. These costs have no relation to the operational
results of existing schools and are split out 10 enable the reader of the financial statements to gain greater clarity
of the underlying business performance.

Business restructuring costs in the current yvear mainly relate to debt refinancing projects and adjustments Lo
contingent and deferred consideration on subsidiary acquisitions. Refinancing costs primarily consist of
professional and legal fees. Costs of this naturc should be considered as non-underlying as they are not part ol the
usual operations.

The change in the key KDPIs above reflects both the acquisitions made (in the current and prior year) and the capital
investment in existing schools w increase capacity. The increase in pupils reflects the varying size of the schools
acquired during the financial year 2023 as well as growth in the underlying schools. The increase in adjusted
EBITDA is attributable to the acquisitions made within the year and the organic performance of the Group.

Rising inflalion, slowing economic growth, the global energy crisis. increasing interest rates, labour shortages and
changes in consumer behaviour are just some of the risks the business currently faces. The Group has demonstrated
adaptability and resilience in adjusting rapidly to challenging situations and expects to deal with the current
economic challenges with the same reselve. The safety and wellbeing of our students, colleagues and families
remains our top priority  The directors continue 1o manage the {inancial risks on a regular basis. Forecasting,
budgets und going concern assessments have been updated to respond to the increased economic risks imposing
on the business. A risk committee has also been formed to identify, monitor and mitigate key risks.

Key risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to several risks. The kev

husiness risks affecting the Group are set out below:

Linrolments

Increasing enrolments in our schools is critical to our performance. The Group therctore continues to invest and
improve the facilitics and learning at the schools Lo retain and attract new students. The Group regularly reports
on pipeline of new students as well as ils retention of existing students so that the outlook is monitored. We
continue to invest in our marketing and admissions capability particularly in the digital space to promote our
schools as widely as possible.

Employees

The Group’s performance depends on its head teachers and stall in each of its schools and the expertise in the
various central and regional teams. The resignation of key individuals and the irability to recruit people with the
right experience and skills from cither local. national or international communities could adversely impact the
Group’s results. To mitigate these risks. the Group has invested in a leading recruitment tool and in-house
recruitment specialists, We have also implemented enhanced review processes, personal development programmes
and succession planning for key employees and regularly monitors its reward structure to ensure that it retains key
employees. The Group has well established recruitment processes coupled with its in-house recruitment specialists
to enable us 1o source high guality replacement stalt and support the on-going expansion of the Group. The Group
regularly surveys its employees using NPS. Gallup and other data o provide [eedback Lo the schools and determine
actions to improve employee engagement.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered mumnber 09817502

Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Key risks and uncertainties (continued)

License 10 operate

T'o operate our schools, we maintain various accreditations from curriculum providers and licenses trom local
education authorities, 1fany of our schools fails to meet the required standard, it could lose its license which could
materially adversely allect our business prospects. Our regional structures include a regional managing director,
supported by a director of learning who supports the regional managing director and head teachers Lo ensure that
we meet the required educational standards and a regional head of property who supports the regional managing
director on ensuring that schools are well invested and licences are maintained.

I'ce increases

The Group needs to be able to sustain fee increases going forward to cover increases in operational costs, provide
continual improvements in the students learning and provide investment in the school’s facilitics. Lach school’s
ability to increase fees is dependent on several factors including local competition, quality of education at the
school, local demographic and parent satisfaction as well as the local inflation rates. ''o mitigate this risk, our aim
is to make our schools the “school of choice” in its catchment area by utilising the resources made available to ISP
schools when they join the group.

Financial risks
The Group’s aclivities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (in¢luding cash flow, foreign currency,
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Risk management is carried out by the board of dircctors. The Group’s objective when managing capital is to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concemn. to provide returns to the sharcholders and o maintain an
appropriate capital structure o optimise the cost of capital.

Increasing energy prices and cost inflation have limited financial impact on the Group due to the stable nature of
the educational sector and importance of education to parents,

(a) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices. such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates wiil affect
the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters. while optimising the return.

(a)(i) Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the tair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in toreign exchanges rates. The Group has limited exposure to currency risk as revenue and
costs arc generally in the same currency. It has some currency risk on cerlain purchases (accounting, audit and
administrative services)y that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. Foreign currency
translation risk will continue (o be significant given the diverse portfolio. A significant weakening ol a currency
in a region could adverscly impact the value of future dividends from investments in that region. To mitigate
foreign currency risk the Group maintains a portlolio of assets and holds bank accounts in all the currencies that
the Group operates in. The Group acquired schools in 4 new countries during the vear, Poland, Thailand, Brazil
and Panama, further adding to number or forcign currencics that require repatriation and diversification of risk.

(a)(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rute risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash Tows of a tinancial instrument will tfluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Rising interest rates have an impact on the availability of cash in the Group as
the interest burden on the Group™s debt witl increase. The Group’s risk management strategy to protect the cash
lows and minimise the adverse impact of increases in variable markel interest rates is to enter into offsetting
interest rate cap or swap contracts o ix the interest on its borrowings from third partics. The Group may formally
designate one or more of these derivative {inancial instruments as a hedging relationship. subject to hedge
accounting. il it meets all the qualifying cflectiveness requirements, Refer o note 19.2 for further details on
derivative instruments designated as hedges.

International Schools Partnership - Confidential Document
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International Schools Partnership Limited
Regisiered number 09817302

Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Key risks and uncertainties (continued)

Financial risks (continued)

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that any counterparty will not meet its obligations under a {inancial instrument or customer
contracl. jeading o a tinancial loss. The Group typically invoices customers in advance and has policies in place
covering subsequent cash collection, which include regular review ol outstanding receivables.

The carrying amount of current receivables represents the maximum credit exposure.

(¢} Liguidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and borrowing facilities. continuously
monitoring forecast and aclual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The
Group also performs regular cash forecasting at the subsidiary level along with the funding required for central
and local cost centres. Funding for new transactions, including due diligence and other pre-transaction cosls, is
asscssed and drawn down on a case-by-casc basis.

Environmental matters

The Group’s principal activity has a minimal direct impact on the environment. however, the directors believe that
good environmental praclices supporl the broader strategy of enhancing the reputation ot the Group as well as
fostering staff, parents and students morale. The Group is committed to reducing its carbon emissions as well as
emission of other greenhouse pases and encourages energy and waste saving initiatives. The Group has committed
to an initiative which will see it plant a tree for every student and emplovee using a reforestation specialist
company . Tree Nalion. and is also investing in installing solar power across appropriate schools.

Greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action

The use of resources W supply educational services indirectly utilises finite global resources. The source of the
raw matcrials and the supply of educational services is spread globally. We recognise. thal our services indirectly
utilise global resources some of which are limited in their nature.

The footprint from our UK operations is as follows:

Year ended 31 August 2023 | Year ended 31 August 2022
Carbon emissions in UK Energy usage Tonnes of COze Energy usage Tonnes of COze

{kWh) ' {(kWh)
Scope 1 (gas) 750,131 137 633.525 116
Scope 2 (electricity) 780.716 162 1,198,130 262
Total footprint in UK 1,530,847 299 1,831,675 378
Group intensity measurement €000 €000
Turnover in UK 13,303 11,062
Emissions (COs¢) reported above per 0.02 0.03
€000 of rnover

The above has been caleulated using information from supplicrs and metre readings. Lmissions were determined
by applying the UK government conversion factors to the energy consumption values and aggregating the total.

Etforts are made to ensure that the footprint trom the services we provide in the UK operations is minimised by
reviews of ineflicient operational practices and avoiding suppliers or regions where the employment or
environmental practices are known (o be below acceptabie standards.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Human rights issues

The Group ensures that its business activities are conducted with the objective of protecting human rights of both
teachers and students. Staff are strongly encouraged to report abuse, cither to their line manager or to other
members of the managerial hierarchy. The qualities of respect and dignity constitute the toundation of the services
we provide and the importance of human rights torms one of the foundations ol our business.

International Schools Partnership and the community

The Group has grown by acquisition of geographically and culturally diverse entities, and we have benelitted from
pre-existing relationships of our staft and teachers with the community, These relationships ensure staft and
teachers and students lead happy. rewarding lives during their student ycars. Schools have direct involvement in a
number of community-based initiatives which help to enhance the schools™ relationships with local communities.

Research and development

During the financial year. the Group has invested €0.6 million (2022: €1.0 million) in its proprietary learning and
sharing platform {The Learning [lub) which is available to all staff. This amount has been capitalised in 1T
soltware.

Acquisition of own shares
During the financial year. International Schools Partnership Limited has not bought back any of its own shares
{2022: none).

Branches of the Company
During the financial year. the Company has not held any branches oulside the United Kingdom.

Going concern

The directors have prepared cash tlow forecasts for a period of al least 12 months from the date of approval of
these financial statements which indicate that, taking account of reasonably plausible, but severe, downsides. the
Company and Group will have sufficient funds. both through the currently available debt facilities and equity
commitments, to meet liabilities as they fall due tor that period. The forecasts indicate that the Company and Group
will have sufficient cash and facililies o operate with a satisfactory level of headroom against the covenants in the
debt facilities. Consequently, the directors are confident that the Company and Group will have sufficient tunds to
continue to mect their liabilitics as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Group has
significant undrawn facilities for future acquisitions, please refer to note 20 for further details. Please refer to note
| of the financial statements for the detailed management assessment.

Future outlook
Management are committed to growing the business. by investing in facilities. creating new capacity and
improving the education provision at the existing schools as well as acquiring new schools.

Alter the reporting date the Group has acquired 5 new schools and drawn down €9.6 million and USD125.9 million
of the respective acquisition debt facilities. See subsequent events, note 30, for further information.
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Consolidated strategic report (continued)

Statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1) Companies

Act 2066

The directors ot International Schools Partnership Limited consider that they have behaved in the way that would
be most likely o promote the success of the Company tor the benelit of its members as a whole (with regards to
the stakeholders and matters set out in $172 {1) {a to ) ol the Companies Act) in the decisions taken during the
yvear ended 31 August 2023,

Specific matters detailed in s172 and the actions taken by the directors with regards

summarised below:

Matters

Likely consequences ol amy
decision i the long term

[nterests of the Group s
emplovees

Need to foster the
Company’s business
relationships with suppliers.
customers and others

Impact of the Company s
operations on the
community and the
environment

Desirability of the Group
maintaning a reputation tor
ligh standards ol busimess
conduet

Need to act tauwrly between
memberes o the Company

Actions

Annually  the Board undertakes a review ot the Company s strategy, including the
budgel for the forthcoming year and the plan for the nexc tive vears. Once
approved, the plan and strategy form the basis tor financial budgets and resource
and investment decisions Both input to the budgets and output in terms ot decision
making mvolves both the Beard and senior management. In making decisions
concerming the business plan and future strategy, the Board has regard to the
Interests ol various stakcholders and the consequences of 1s decisiens in the long-
term

Our emplovees are fundamental to the success of the business We aim to be a
responsible emplover in our approach to the pay and henetits that our employees
recetve and ensure that we adhere to all statutory emptovee health and safets
standards

We arc commutted 1o secunng steong working relationships with both our
suppliers and costomers 1 order o aceentuate the performance of the Group,
optimise the resources avarlable to our emplovees and the expenence of our
pupils. We require that all companies within the Group ensure that suppliers
adhere 10 acceptable emplovment. industry and  envirenmental  practices
Managing good custemer relutions 1s a key area ol tocus which is supponed by
repular parent feedback surveys. the resulls and cngagement ol the survevs 18
reviewed at board level The leadership tcam at our schools are responsible for
building strong relationships with parents and the local community Investors are
actively communicated on Group performance. operations and strategy through
menthly board mectings and are alse atlend nsk and investment commattees

Recveling and reducing carbon footprint are widely encouraged throughout the
Group and amongst emplovees The Group has also mmplemented imbiatives
mentioned inCLnviconmental matters’, such as use of solar power and planuing a
tree for eveny student in the Group. to raise awareness of environmental matters
and get students engaged n the issuc

Qur intention s 1o behave responsibly and cnsure that management vperate the
business m a tesponstble manner and within high standards of business conduct
and good governance

The Board 1s commitied e openly engaging with ot sharcholders. whether with
institutronal investors or pnvate sharcholders Tt s important that sharehoiders
understand our strategy and objectives.

This report was approved by the board on | March 2024 and signed on its behall.

4

.

T

Darren Mee

Chief Financial Officer

to these matters are

Consideration and

engagenient

Annual
S-year plan

budget.

Emplovee reviews and
appraisals

Exit surveys Bonus
schemes Health and

safety certification

Statt training
Customer surveys

Recyeling Green-heuse
BA% CITHSS 0TS TEVIEw

Audit committees
Nonexecutive
direclor

appointments

Roard

dircctor mectings with
sharehoiders

7" Floor 280 Bishopsgate, L.ondon.
[ited Kingdom. EC2M 4RB

1 March 2024
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International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817302

Consolidated directors’ report

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the y ear ended 31 August 2023 tor the Company
and Group.

Proposed dividend
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2022: €nil).

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of signing the financial statements were as follows:
SR Brown

I. M Bucher

A D Deakin

G Dray (Resigned 10 July 2023)

J W Frankish (Appointed 15 November 2022}
7 L. Howorth

D Mee

FMussellwhite (Resigned 15 November 2022)
R J Robson

8 Singh (Appointed 25 July 2023)

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The Company has granted an indemnily to one or more of its directors against liability in respect of proceedings
brought by third parties. subject to conditions set out in section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying
third-party indemnity provisions remain in [orce as at the date ot this report.

Political contributions
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiarics made any political donations or incurred any political expenditure
during the year (2022: none).

Matters covered in the Strategic report

As permitted by Paragraph 1A of schedule 7 to the Large and Medium=sized Companics and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008 certain matters which are required to be disclosed in the directors” report have been
omitted as they arc included in the strategic report instead. These matters relate 1o business review, financial risk
management objectives and policies. including the policy for hedging, exposure 1o price risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and cash flow risk, research and development, existence of branches outside of the United Kingdom,
information on acquisition of own shares. greenhouse gas emissions, energy consumption and energy eliicient
action, future developments, principal risks and uncertainties and financial key performance indicators. In addition.
the Strategic report includes a stalcment summarising how the directors have had regard to the nced to foster the
Group's business retationships with suppliers. customers and others. and the effect of that regard. including on the
principal decisions taken by the Group during the financial year.

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors who held office at the date ol approval of this directors™ report confirm that, so far as they are each
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group®s auditor is unaware: and ecach director has taken
all the steps that they ought to have taken as a dircetor o make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Group's auditor’s is aware of that information.
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Consolidated directors’ report

Other information
An indication of likely tuture developments in the business and particulars of significant events which have
oceurred since the end of the tinanciai year have been included in the Strategic Report on page 7.

Auditor

Pursuant to Section 487 ot the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed w be reappointed and KPMG LD
will therefore continue in office.

By order of the board

Yo

i

L

Darren Mee 7% Floor 280 Bishopsgatc. London,
Chief Financial Officer United Kingdom. EC2ZM 4RB
I March 2024
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
STRATEGIC REPORT, THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The direclors are responsible for peeparing Strategic Report. the Directors” Report and the Group and parent
Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements tor cach financial
year and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must nol approve the financial statements unless they are satistied that they give
a true and fair view ol the state of atfairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's profit or loss for
that period. In preparing cach of the Group and parent Company financial statements. the directors are required
to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:
e  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent:

o [or the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards;

= for the parent Company financial statements. state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
[ollowed. subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial stalements:

o assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing. as applicable.
matters related to going concern; and

* usc the going concern basis of accounting unless they cither intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or 10 cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsiblc for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufticient to show and explain the
parent Company s transactions and disclose with reasenable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent Company and cnable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 20006,
They are responsible for such internal control as they determing is necessary Lo enable the preparation of financial
statements that arc free from material misstatement, whether due o fraud or error, and have general responsibility
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to sateguard the assets of the Group and w prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularitics.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL

SCHOOLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of International Schools Partnership Limited (“the Company™) tor the

year ended 31 August 2023 which comprise the consolidated statement ol comprehensive (loss) / income.

consolidated statement of financial position. consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of

changes in cquity. company balance sheet, company statement of changes in equity and related notes. including

the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion:

e the financial statements give 4 true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company s
aftairs as at 31 August 2023 and of the Group's loss tor the year then ended;

o lhe Group tinancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards:

o  the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards. including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework: and

e the {inancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (*T8As (UK)™) and

applicable law, Our responsibilities are described helow. We have tulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and

are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard.
We belicve that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sulficient und appropriate basis for our upinion.

Going concern

The dircctors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate
the Group or the Company or o cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the
Company’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also coneluded that there are no material
uncertainties that could have casl signilicant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at lcast a
vear from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period™).

In our evaluation of the directors” conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group's business model and
analysed how those risks might atfect the Group and Company’s tinancial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern period.

Chur conglusions based on this work:

¢ we consider that the dircetors™ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements 15 appropriate;

e we have not identified, and concur with the directors™ assessmcent that there is not. a material uncertainty
related (o events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or
the Company’s ability Lo continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However. as we cannot predict ali future events or conditions and as subsequent events may resull in oulcomes

that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made. the above conclusions are

nol a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.

12
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KPMG

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOOLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED (continued)

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to_frawd

To identity risks of material misstatement due to Iraud ("fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate an incentive or pressure 10 commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

*  Enquiring of dircctors and management as to the Group's high-icvel policies and procedures to prevent and
detect fraud, including the Group's channel for ~whistleblowing™ as well as whether they have knowledge ot
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud:

*  Reading Board meeting minutes; and

*  Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships; and

*  Our torensic speclalists assisted us in identifving key fraud risks. This included atlending the Risk Assessment
and Planning Discussion. helding a discussion with the engagement partner and engagement manager, and
assisting with designing and executing of relevant audit procedures to respond to the identified fraud risks.

We communicated identified traud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of lraud
throughout the audit. This inctuded communication from the Group audit team (o full scope component audit teams
of relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level and request to tull scope component audit teams to report o
the Group audit leam any instances of fraud that could give rise 1 a material misstatement at the Group level.

As required by auditing standards, and 1aking into account possible pressures to mect profit targets, we perform
procedures 10 address the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition.
in particular the risk that Group and component management may be in a position 10 make inappropriate accounting
entries and the risk of bias in accounting estimates such as goodwill impairment and business combination
accounting. On this audit we do not belicve there is a fraud risk related o revenue recognition because there are
limited judgments as to when performance obligations are satisfied, reducing the oppertunity and incentive to
commit traud.

We did not identify any addivonal fraud risks.

We performed procedures including:

* [dentifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope compenents based on risk criteria
and comparing the identified entrics to supporting decumentation. These included those posted to unusual or
unexpected accounts where one side of the journal was posted to cash, where the credit side of the journal was
posted to revenue. or where expenses were reclassitied within the P&L resulting in an increase 1o EBITDA,
and

®  Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias.

Identifving and responding 1o risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with lows and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
inancial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors
and othcr management (as required by andiling standards) and discussed with the directors and other management
the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOOLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED (continued)

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations
feontinwed)

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our tecam and remained alert to any indications ol
non-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication from the Group audit team to full-scope
component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request tor (ull scope
component auditors to report to the Group audit team any instances ol non-compliance with taws and regulations
that could give rise to a material misstatement at the Group level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial
reporting legislation (including related companies™ legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation
legislation. and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on
the related financial stalement items.

Secondly, the Group is subjcet to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material eflect on amounts or disclosurcs in the financial statements. [or instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as these most likely to have such an effect:
health and safety. data protection laws, anti-bribery. education regulations and employment law. Auditing
standards fimit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enguiry
of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence. if any. Therefore,
il a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident trom relevant correspondence. an audit will
not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statemenis, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For example. the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial staterments, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud. as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance
or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors™ report.  Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors” report and, in doing so. consider whether. based
on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identitied material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors” report;

. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the {inancial year is consistent with the tinancial
statements: and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INTERNATIONAL
SCHOOLS PARTNERSHIP LIMITED (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required Lo report to you il in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company. or relurns adequate for our audit
hav e not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e lhe parent Company (inancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns: or

s cerlain disclosures of directors” remuncration specificd by taw are not made; or

* wc have not received all the information and expianations we require for our audit.

We have nothing o report in these respects.
Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 11, the directors are responsible lor: the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisficd that they give a true and fair view: such internal control as they
determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of tinancial statements that are {ree from maiterial misstatement,
whether due to traud or crror; assessing the Group and parent Company’s ability to continuc as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to ceasc operations, or have no realistic
alternative bul to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
malerial misslatement, whether due to fraud or error, and o issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level ot assurance, but does not guaraniee that an audit conducted in accordance witl [SAs
(UKD will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstalements can arise from fraud or ¢rror and
arc considered material if) individually or in aggregate, they could recasonably be expected to influcnee the
economic decisions of users laken on the basis of the financial stalements.

A fuller description of our responsibilitics is  provided on the [FRC's  website at
www.fre.org.uk/audilorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body. in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required 1o state to them in an auditor™s report and for no other purpose. To the [ullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company s
members, as a body. for our audit work. for this report. or for the opinions we have formed.

—

‘ jamn

Paul Barron (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square.

l.ondon.

1514 3Gt

1 March 2024
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Parinership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Group consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss) / income
from 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023

Year ended 31 August 2023 Year ended 31 August 2022

(in €000’s) Note Non- Non-

Lnderlving  Underlying Total Underlying Underlying Total
Revenue -2 &6- 346,112 - 346.112 404.139 - 404.139
Cosl of sales -7 & 8- (398.418) - {398418) (297.502) - {297.502)
Other costs -7 & 8- (7.779) - (7.77TH (4.887) - {4.887)
Acquisitions and business explorations -4- - (14.154) {14,134 - (9.107) (9.107)
Refinancing -4- - (1.036) {1.036) - (1.660) {1.660)
Restructuring costs -4- - (8.948) (8.948) - {8.379) (8.379)
Adjusted EBITDA 139,915 (24,138) 115,777 101,750 (19,146) 82,604
Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment -7- (115.634) (69.994)
Operating profit 143 12,610
Finance income 12,723 100
Finance cosl (167.695) (34,525}
Finance cosls - net -9- (154.972) (54,425}
Laoss bt;fnrc tax from continuing (154,829) (41815)
operations
Tax charge -10- (2.764) (8.217)
l.oss I‘ctr the year from continuing (157,593} (50,032)
operations
Loss fgr the vear ‘Irom discontinued -12- (1.948) {7.401)
operations, net of tax
Loss for the year (159.541) {537,433
Attributable to
-Non-controlling interest {500) {116)
-Equity holders of the parent (159,041) (57,317)
Other comprehensive (loss) / income
Other comprehensive rloss)  income
that may he rveclassified to profit or loss
i subsequent periods (net of lax).
Differences on exchange of foreign
operations (34.133) 69.649
Net gain on cash flow hedges -19- 8.160 21274
Net change in cost of hedging -19- (5.884) (1.548)
f'\ct other comprehensive (loss) / 131,857) 89375
income
Total comprehensive {foss) / income (191,398) 31942
for the year
Attributable to
-Non-controlling interest (483) (123
-Equity holders of the parent (190,915) 32,065

The accompanying notes arc an integral pan of these consolidated lnancial statements
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Consolidated finangial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Group consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 August 2023

(in €000's) Note 31 August 31 August
2023 2022
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets and goodwill -13- 990.689 690.599
Property. plant and equipment -14- 1.340.060 860.630
Trade and other receivables -15- 23.039 9.199
Non-current linancial assets -19- 33.711 27913
Deterred tax assets -11- 14.323 34,754
Total non-current assets 2,401,822 1,623,095
Current asscts
Inventories 1.543 712
Trade and other receivables -15- 77.303 54,006
Prepayments -16- 47.937 11,430
Current tax assets 7.663 8.064
Other current financial assets -19- - 1.410
Cash and cash equivalents -17- 133,741 108.733
Assets held for sale -12- 4.379 6.928
Total current assets 274,766 191,303
TOTAL ASSETS 2,676,588 1,814,398

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital -18.1- 14 14
Share premium -18.1- 394477 394.477
Capital contribution reserve -18.2- 79.931 79.931
Other reserves -18.3- 108.228 1.000
Translation reserves -18.4- 15.525 49.675
Other compenents of equity -18.5- 22.002 19,726
Retained earnings (486.875) (285.420)
Equity attributable 10 cquity holders of the parent 133.302 259403
Non-controlling intcrests -18.6- 16.996 1.459
Total shareholders' equity 150,298 260,862
Non-current liabilities

| .oans and borrowings -20- 1.967.644 1,226,339
Other non-current financial liabilities -19- 48310 7244
Provisions -21- 1,235 890
Deferred tax liabilitics -11- 72,880 61.631
Total non-current liabilities 2,090,069 1,296,124
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables -12- 132.215 74.590
Loans and borrowings -20- 34,187 13.067
Other current financial liabilities -19- 30.843 9.475
Term deposits -23- 24920 13.197
Deferred revenue -6- 203.949 [39.6046
Cutrent tax liabilitics 10,107 7.437
Total current liabilitics 436,221 257,412
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,526,290 1,553,536
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,676,588 1,814,398

Ihese financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 1 March 2024 and were signed on (ts behalt by

i
=

Darren Mee
Director

Company registered number 09817502

The accompanying notes ate an tntegral pan of these consohdated financial statements
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Consolidated financial statemenss
Internationad Schools Partnership Limited
Registered number 09817502

Group consolidated statement of cash flows for the period
from 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023

Notes 2023 2022
(in €000's)
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year [rom continuing operations (157.593) (50.032)
[Loss for the vear from discontinued operations -12- (1,948 (7.401)
Adfustments for:
Depreciation. amortisation and impairment -13, 14- 90182 70977
Impairment of goodwill -13- 25,152 3.685
Sharg-based payment expense -26- 1.000 -
Foreign exchange loss / (gain) 17.700 (13.390)
Finance income -9- {12.723) (100}
Finance expense -9- 167.693 34,525
Gain on lease modifications -14- 13.506 -
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment -14- 1.386 1.821
Taxation -10- 2,764 8.217
Increase in trade and other receivables -15- (23.789) {16331)
Increase in inventories (345) (80)
Increase in trade and other pavables, term deposits and deferred
revenue =22, 23- 39.966 40,567
Utilisation of provisions -21- 345 890
Cash generated from operating activities 163,398 93,148
Tax paid (23.719) {15,507
Net cash from operating activities 139,679 77,641
C ash fluws from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired -29- {389.318) (172.270)
Prepaid consideration for acquisition of subsidiary -16- (27.233) -
Payment of deferred consideration -19.4- (11.170) -
Acquisition ot property. plant and equipment -13, 14- (72.424) (49.740)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3119 -
Interest received -9- 12,723 100
Net cash used in investing activities (484.303) (221,919)
Cash flows from financing activities
Acquisition of non-controlling interest -29- (3.427) -
Prepaid proceeds for the issue ol share capital and share premium -18- 106,228 -
Procceds from the issue of share capital and share premium -18- - 93.887
Proceeds from new bank loan -20- 449,113 46500
Interest paid -20- {92.406) (6R.972)
[ .oan arrangement fees paid -20- (12.150) (612)
Repayment of borrowings -20- {27.168) (30.788)
Payment of lcase liabilitics -20- {44,173) (27.016)
Net cash from financing activities 376,019 12,999
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -17- 31,395 {131,270)
Cash and cash equivalents at | Septeraber 108.733 229219
l:ftect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (4.387) 10,784
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August -17- 135,741 108,733

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated hnaneial statements
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION

International Schools Partnership Limited (the “Company ™) is a private company incorporated, domiciled and registered
in Fngland in the UK. The registered number is 09817502 and the registered address is 7% Floor 280 Bishopsgate, T.ondon,
United Kingdom. EC2M 4RB. The ultimate parent company is Intetnational Schools Partnership [ S.ar.l by virtue of its
shareholding in the immediate parent company. Permotio Inlernational 1.caming S.ar.l. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiarics (together
referred o as “Inernational Schools Partnership Group™ or ~the Group™). The parent company financial statements on
pages 101 to 114 present information about the Company ds a separate entity and not about its group.

The core activity of the Group is kindergarten through to twelfth grade (K-12) private education and the Company is
acquiring, through its subsidiaries, schools around the world to create a global Group with schools having an international
outlook and which are or can become the school of choice in their local area. At the year end date the Group owned and
operated 75 {2022: 60) schools with around 79.000 children (2022: 54,000) from 2-18 y ears of age studying in the United
Kingdom, Spain. Italy, Switzerland. Mexico, Malaysia, Costa Rica, the USA, Canada. Qatar, the United Arab Emirates,
tcuador, Chite, Peru, Colombia, India, Vietnam, Panama. Poland, Brazil and Thailand. The schools offer a diverse and
cnriching educational experience spanning British. Malaysian. International, Mexican, US. Costa Rica. Peruvian, Chilean,
Colombian and Spanish curricula.

Fhe Group may borrow in any form except by way of public offer and proceed by private placement only o the issue of
bonds, notes, debentures or any kind of debt or equity seeurities.

The Group may lend tunds, including without limitation, resulting from any borrowings of the Group and/or from the
issue of any equity or debt securities of any kind. to its subsidiaries, affiliated companies and/or any other companies or
entities it deems fit.

I'he Group may further guarantee, grant security in favour of or otherwise assist the companices in which it holds a direct
or indircet participation or which form part of the same Group. The Group may further give guarantees, pledge. transfer
or encumber or otherwise create security over some or all its assets to guarantec its own obligations and those ol any other
company. and generally for its own benefit and that of any other company or person. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Group may not carry out any regulated activities of the financial sector without having obtained the required authorisation.

The Group may further act as a general or limited member with unlimited or limited liability for all debts and obligations
of partnerships or similar entities.

The Group may use any techniques and instruments to efficiently manage its investments and Lo protect itself against
credit risks, currency exchange exposure, interest rate risks and other risks. These conseolidated (inancial statements state
the results and position ol the Group in the year ended 31 August 2023,

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a geing concern basis which assumes that the Group and Company will
continue in operational existence tor at least 12 months from the date of these tinancial statements.

The Group had nct assets of €150.298.000 as a1 31 August 2023 (2022: €260.862.000). generated a loss for the year then
ended of €159,541.000 (2022: €37.433,000) and had operating cash inflows lor the vear of €139.679.000 (2022:
€77.641.000). The Group has undrawn debt facilitics of €724,600.000 at the year-end (2022: €428,300.000). The financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the directors consider o be appropriate for the [ollowing
TCASONS.
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Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION (continued}

Going concern (continued)

I'he directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months trom the date of approval of these
Ninancial statements which indicate that. taking account of reasonably plausible. but severe, downsides, the Group and
Company will have sufficient funds. both through the currently available debt facilitics and equity commitments, to meet
liabilities as they fall due for that period. The forecasts indicate that the Grroup and Company will have sufficient cash to
operate with a satistactory lTevel ol headroom against the covenants in the debt tacilities,

Conseguently, the directors are contfident that the Group and Company will have sulticient funds to continue to meet their
liabilitics as they fall due tor at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and therefore have
prepared the tinancial statements on a going concern basis.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance UK-adopted
international accounting standards {“UK-adopted TFRS™).

The Company has elected o prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with FRS 101; these are
presented on pages 101 to 114,

The consolidated financial stalements are presented in Euro (7€7), which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s adopted presentational currency. The consolidated [inancial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis
except for derivative financial instruments and contingent consideration that have been measured at fair valuc. Non-
currcnt asscts and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of previous catry ing amount and fair value less
costs 1o sell.

The consolidated financial statements are rounded 1o the nearest thousand Euro (7€000°s™).

The accounting policies set oul below have, unless otherwise stated. been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these group financial statements.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31
August 2023, Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed. or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to aftect those returns through its power
over the entity. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting rights. When the Group has less
than a majority of lhe voting or similar rights of an entity. the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over the entity, including the contractual arrangements with the other vole holders of the
entity. rights arising from other contractval arrangements and the Group’s voling and potential voling rights. Refer to
note 3.1 for further details.

The Group reassesses whether or not it conlrols an entity if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to onc
or more of the clements of control. The acquisition date is the dale on which control is transferred te the acquirer. The
financial stalements of subsidiaries are included in the consotidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary arc
allocated 10 the non-contrelling interests even it doing 50 causes the non-contrelling interests Lo have a deficit balance.
Where necessary. adjustments arc made Lo the tinancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with those used by the Group.
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Consolidated financial siatements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary. without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction,

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured o its fair value at the date when
control is fost. with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value subscquently becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition. any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive {loss) / income in respect of that entity are
acceunted for as it the Group had directly disposed of the related asscts or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive tloss) / income are reclassified w profit or loss.

All intra-Group transactions, balances. income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

2.3 Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in contormity with IFRS requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent asscts and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounis of increases and decreases in net assets
attributable to shareholders during the reporting year, Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounling estimates are
recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if'the revision alfects only that year or in the year of the revision
and tuturc vears it the revision afleets both current and fulure years. The arcas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity., or arcas where assumptions and estimates are significant 1o the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 3. Management belicves that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the Group’s
consolidated financial statements therefore present the financial pesition and results fairly.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(1) Functional andpresenla.rignal CHrrency:

The items included in the lirancial statements of cach of the Group™s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the
primary cconomic environment in which the entity operates {lunctional currency ™). The Company s functional currency
is the Euro and the Group has adopted the Euro as its presentational currency for the consolidated {tnancial stalements.

(i} Foreign currency transactions and balunces:

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the dale ol the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilitics denominated in foreign currencics at the consolidated statement of financial position date are
translated at the forcign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arc recognised in the consolidated
statement ol comprehensive (loss) / income. Non-monetary asscts and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a forcign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assels and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value arce translaled al foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.

(iii) Subsidiaries
The results and financial position ol the consolidated subsidiarics that have a functional currency different trom the
presentation curreney are translated into the presentation curreney as (ollows:

{a) assets and liabilities for cach statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of that linancial position;

{by income and expensces for cach statement of comprehensive (loss) / income are ranslated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is nol a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the trunsaction dates. in which case income and expenses are translaied at the rate on the dates of the
transactions);

{¢) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (lossy / income
within other comprehensive income.

I~
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International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

On the disposal of a forcign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group™s enlire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation) all the exchange ditlerences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the equity holders of the Group ure reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as asscts and labilities of
the foreign entity and subsequently translated at the closing rale at cach reporting date.

2.5 Business combinations

All business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on
which the control is transferred W the Group. The cost of the acquisition is measured as the aggregate ot the consideration
transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fajr value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree. For cach business combination. the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s idenlifiable net asscts.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in acquisitions and business explorations expense in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss) / income.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost at the acquisition date. calculated as:
® the fair value of the consideration transferred: plus
® the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
® the fair value of the existing cquity interest in the acquiree; less
® the net recognised amount, based on fair value, of the identifiable asscts acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative. a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a busincss combination is incomplete by the end of a reporting period in which the acquisition
oceurred. the Group reports provisional amounts for the incomplete items. The provisional amounts are adjusted during
the measurement period. or additional asscts and liabilities are recognised. to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that. i known. would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Any fixed part of cash consideration that is deferred is recognised as deferred consideration. Contingent consideration
arises when the Group has an obligation to transfer additional asscts to the former owners of an acquiree if specified future
evenls occur or conditions are met. The liability is recognised at fair value, with any payments duc in greater than 12
months discounted to its present value as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent changes in fair value of contingent
consideration are recognised in the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income. Subsequent changes in fair value that
qualify as measurement petiod adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. with corresponding adjustments against
goodwill. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

I'he Group accounts for put options issued over the equity of subsidiary companics as tinancial Habilities. reported in
contingent consideration. The polential cash amounts that may become pay able under the option on exercise are initially
recognised at the present value of the expected gross obligation. with the corresponding entry recognised directly in
reteined earnings. Such options are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. in
order to accrete the lability up to the amount payable under the option at the date at which it first becomes exercisable.
The aceretion charge is recognised in finance costs. The present value of the expected gross obligation is reassessed at
the ¢nd of each reportting period and any changes are recorded in the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income. In the
event that an option expires unexercised, the liability is derccognised with the corresponding adjustment to retained
earnings.

I3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {(continued}

2.5 Business combinations (continued}

Where the Group increases its interest in an enlity such that control is achicved. previously held identifiable assets.
liabilitics and contingent liabilities ol the acquired entity are revalued 1o their fair value at the date of acquisition. being
the date at which the Group achieves control of the acquiree. The movement in fair value is aken to the asset revaluation
surplus.

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests that do not result in a change ot control are accounted for as
transactions with owners in their capacily as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised us a result of such
transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the
subsidiary. Any difference between the price paid or received and the amount by which non-controtling interests are
adjusted is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

2.6 Revenue
The Group recognises revenue when a performance obligation is satistied. This is when control ot the goods or services
underlying the pertformance obligation is transferred to the students. Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation it one of
the following criteria is met:
- the student simultancously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs:
- the Group's performance creates and enhances an assel that the student controls as the Group performs; or
- the Group’s pertformance docs not create an assct with an alternative usc to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise. revenue is recognised at a point in time when the student obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration reccived or reccivable in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
including tuition fce income and income from ancillary sources including examinations, school trips and bus
transportation.

Revenue recognition criteria by revenuc type arc as follows:

Tuition fee income

Tuition fee income is recognised evenly over the academic year to which the services relates. which the Group deems to
be a period of ten months.

FEarolmemnt fee income
Enrolment fee income is recorded immediately in the consotidated statement of comprehensive (loss) income when the
underlying performance indicator has occurred.

Other income
Revenue trom ancillary sources is recognised eventy over the related service period. Other income includes amounts paid
for schoot lunches, transport and other extra-curricular activities.

All revenue is presented net of discounts. and the net amount represents the consideration which the Group expects o
recover.

Fees are billed in advance, either annually. per term or monthly. Performance obligations which have been paid but not
vel delivered and not yel recognised as revenue are included on the consolidated statement of financial statement as
deferred income.

Term deposits relate 10 fees that may result in a return ol tunds to a student. These are reported as a hinancial liability
until they are either returned to the student or the terms and conditions under which it can be refunded has expired or is
no longer valid. At this point, the fee is either earned and revenue 1s recognised. or the fees have been refunded and the
lighility is relicved.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Revenue (continued)

~on-refundable deposits refate to fees that have no terms or conditions attached which would result in any monies cver
being returned to the student. The revenue is camed and recognised Lo the extent that the services have been Tullilled,
with any excess deferred and recognised over the Group's average student tenure.

Where a student leaves a school ahead of the fult annual wition being provided, or ahead of the end of the peried for
which related fees are being recognised and if there is no recourse Lo repay any amounts, it is deemed that the performance
condition has been satistied and all remaining revenue is recognised at this time,

Trade receivables are recognised for unsetlled invoices raised lor services to students where there is an unconditional
right (o receive the consideration under the contract in place. If any clement of the contract could be cancelled, without
penalty. leading to the receivable not being recoverable. the trade receivable is not recognised and there Is no associated
deferred income balance.

2.7 Income tax expense

The wax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax, Current and deterred tax is recognised in profit or loss
cxcept 1o the extent that it relales 1o items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
it is recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction outside of profit or loss.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset if certain criteria are met, such as the entity has the legal
right and the intention to settle on a net basis.

Current income lax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the reporting date at the amount expecied to be recovered trom
or paid to taxation authoritics using the tax rates and faws that have been cnacted or substantively enacted by the
consolidated statement of financial position date. Certain subsidiaries are subject o foreign taxes in respect (o their net
income and capital gains in their country of operation.

Deferred income tax
Delerred income tax assets and liabilitdes are recognised on ali temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, with the tollowing exceptions:

s Where the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or of an asset, or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the uccounting
nor laxable income or loss;

» In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary diflerences will not
reverse in the torcsecable future; and

»  Delerred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that itis probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difterences. carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be utilised. Deferred
tax assets are only recognised on three vears of tax losses. if appropriate.

Delerred income lax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply

to the year when the related asset is realised, or the liability is scttled, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated statement of financial position date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Finance income and expenses
Finanece income and expenses comprise interest income and expenses and are recognised using the eftective interest rate
method, except for borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets. General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualitying assets arc assets that neeessarily take a substuntial period Lo get
ready for their intended use or sale.

Interest income and interest expense is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues. using the effective interest method.
Foreign eurrency gains and losses are reported on a net busis.

2.9 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classitics non-current assets as held tor sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs (o sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs dircetly altributable (o the sale or disposal.
excluding finance costs and income tax expense. Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as
held for sale.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is
available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be commitled to the plan tw sell the assct and the
sale expeeted to be completed within one year trom the date of the classitication.

Discontinued operations are excluded trom the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single amount in
prolit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment
Property. plant and cquipment are all stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cust less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives. residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and ecquipment are depreciated using the following criteria:

Depreciation method Estimated years of useful economic life
Land Not depreciated
Buildings Straight-line 19 -50
Fixtures, fittings and equipment Straight-line 1020
Other assets Straight-line 4—-10
Construction in progress Not depreciated until assel is in use

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no luture economic benefits are expected
1o arise from the continued use ol the assel. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the assct and
is recognised in the profit or foss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases

The Group recognises 4 right-of~use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use assct is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date. plus any initial direct costs incurred. less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use assct is subscquently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date 1o the end
ol the lease term, unless the lease translers ownership ot the underlying asset to the Group by the end ot the leasc lerm or
the cost of the right-of-usc asset refleets that the Group will exercise a purchase optien. In thal case the right-of-use asset
will be depreciated over the useful lite of the underlying asset. which is determined on the same basis as those of property
and equipment. [n addition. the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses. if any, and adjusted tor
certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The leasce liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, discounted using the inlerest rate implicit in the lease or. if that rate cannot be readily determined. the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

[.case payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
- fixed payments. including in-substance {ixed payments;

- variablc lease paymenls that depend on an index or a rate. initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

- amounts cxpected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

- the exercisc price under 4 purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercisce,

- lease payments in an optional renewat period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and
- penaltics for carly termination ot a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured ar amortised cost using the effective interest method, B s remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate. there is a change in the (Group's estimate of the
amount expected 1o be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment ot whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance tixed lease payment.

The Group presents right-of-use asscts that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property. plant and
cquipment' and lease liabilities in 'loans and borrowings' in the statement of tinancial position.

Short-term leases and leases Qf/()u-‘-w.rfue assets

The Group has elected not 1o recognise right-of-use asscts and lease liabilitics for lease of low-value assets and short-
term leases. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

leases acquired in a business combination

For [eases acquired in a business combination, the Group measures the acquired lease liability at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, as if the zequired lcase were a new lease at the acquisition date. The right-of-use assel is
meusured at acquisition at the same amount as the lease Hability, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market (erms.

L.ease liability and associated right-ot-use assets acquired in a business combination for which the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date or. leases for which the underlying asset value is [ow. are not recognised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

2.12 intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is carried at cost fess any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwiil is not amortised but is tested annually for
impairment. or more frequently it events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Reler to note
2.13 for further details.

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assels acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Following initial
recognition, inlangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination include student registrics and brands. Student registry assets are
recognised in all acquisitions. Brand assets are recognised if they are deemed to generate future cconomic benefits for the
Giroup. Both gualitative and quantitative information is reviewed in the brand assessment, including catchment arca. the
ability 1o increase enrolments by reputation, and the ability to charge premium fees in comparison o the key competitor
market average.

The tair value technique used {or measuring student registries is the multi-period excess earnings method, which considers
the present value of net cash flows expected o be generated by the student registries, by excluding any cash tlows related
Lo contributory assets.

The fair value technigue used for measuring brands is the relief-from-royalty method, which considers the discounted
estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of the brands being owned.

Intangible assels acquired separatcly are carricd at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses,

Where computer soflware is not an integral part of a related item of computer hardware, the softwarce is treated as an
intangible assel. Capitalised softwarc costs inciude external direct costs of goods and services, us well as internal payroll-
related costs for employees who are directly asseciated with the project.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the statement ol comprehensive (loss) / income on a straight-line basis over the estimated
uscful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite usclul life and goodwill
arc systematically tested for impairment at cach balance sheet date. Other intangible assets, including licences. are
amortiscd (rom the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Estimated vcears of usctul
economic lite. in ycars

Student registry 5—18
Brand I8 -20
Software 5
Other intangible assets 16

Research and developmeni
Expenditurc on research activities is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible
and the Group intends to and has the wechnical ability and sufficient resources to complete development. tuture economic
benelils are probable and i the Group can measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development, Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved
products or processes. The expenditure capitalised inciudes the cost of materials and direet labour. Other development
expenditure is recognised in the income stalement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expendigre is
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less accumulated impairment lossces.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

['he Group assesses. at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 1£any indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimaies the assel’s recoverable amount.
For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use. the recoverable
amount is estimated cach vear at the same time. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs o sell.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest
group of asscts that gencerates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
assets or groups of assets (the ~cash-generating unit™). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, tor the purpose
of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units (~CGU™). For the purposes of goodwill impairment testing,
CGUs 1o which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored tor internal reporting purposes. The allocation of CGUs is detailed further in
note 3.

Where the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is higher than the carrying amount of the assets. no impairment
is required. Where impairment is required, this expense is recognised in other costs in the statement of comprehensive
(loss) / income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUSs is allocated first Lo reduce the carrying amount ol any
goodwill allacated to the units, and then 1o reduce the carrving amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on
a pro rata basis. Sec note 3.2 and note 13 for further disclosures.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior
periods are assessed at cach reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed it there has been a change in the estimaies used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only 1o the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount Lthat
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation., if no impairment loss had been recognised.

2.14 Fair value estimates
The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives at fair valuc at cach balance sheet date. The Group has
established a control framework with respect of the measurement of the fair values.

Fair value is the price that would be received o sell an asset or paid to transifer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or. in its absence, the most advantageous market 1o which
the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

The fair value of tinancial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
I'he Group uses a variety of methods, such as reeent price transaction, estimated discounted cash flows. LBITDA or
enterprise value multiples and makces assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the date of financial
position. The nominal value less any estimated credit adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of
less than one vear are assumed to approximate their fair values.

For instruments for which there is no active market. the Group may use internally developed models, which are usually
based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. Valuation models are
used primarily to value unlisted equity. debt securities and other debt instruments for which markets were or have been
inactive during the (inancial year. Some of the inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore
estimated based on assumptions.

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation ol a value that cannot be determined with certainty, and
valuation technigues employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant o the positions the Group holds. Valuations arc
therefore adjusted. where appropriate. 1o allow for additional tactors including model risk. liquidily risk and counterparty
risk.

The carrving value of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents. trade and other payables and term deposits
are assumed to approximate their fair values. due to their respective short-term nature.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Fair value estimates (continued)
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hicrarchy at the end of each reporting period during which
the change has occurred,

When the fair values ol financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of {inancial position
cannot be derived tfrom active markels, their fair value is determined using a variety of valuation technigues that include
the use of valuation modcls.

The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not teasible, estimation
is required in establishing fair values. The estimates include considerations of the discounted eash flow and sensitivity
analysis.

Changes in assumptions aboul these factors could affect the reported tair value of financial instruments in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the level where the instruments are disclosed in the fair value hicrarchy, The models
arc tested for validity by calibrating t prices from any observable current markel transactions in the same instrument
when available. To assess the significance of a particular input 1o the entire measurement. the Group performs sensitivity
analysis or stress testing techniques.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the tair value of tinancial instruments by valuation

technique:

. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
asscls or liabilities,

. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level |
that are observable for the asset or liability. cither directly (i.e. as prices) or indircetly (i.e. derived trom prices).

. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or

liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2.15 Financial assets

2.15.1 Classification
On initial recognition, a {inancial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost or fair vatuc through profit or loss
(FVTPL).
Financial assets are not reclassilied subsequent to their initial recognition uniess the Group changes its business model
for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial asscls are reclassified on the first day of the first
reporting pertod following the change in the business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

- itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows: and

- its contractual terms give rise on specitied dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest

on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classiticd as measured at amortised cost as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes
all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a {inancial asset that otherwise
meets the requirements o be measured al amortised cost as at FVTPL il doing so climinates or sigaificantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise,

Investments in subsidiaries arc carried at cost less impairment. accounted for using the equity method.

Cash and cash ecquivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdratts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose only of the cash flow statement.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Financial assets (continued)

2.15.2 Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income. foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derccognition is recognised in profit or loss.

2.15.3 Derecognition
The Group derccognises a financial asset when:
- the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assel expire; or
- it transters the rights to receive the contractual cash [Tows in a transaction in which either:
- substantially ali of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are wransierred: or
- the Group neither transfers nor retaing substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and
it does not retain control of the financial asset.

2.15.4 Impairment
The Group recognises loss aliowances for expected credit losses (15CI.s) on financial assets measured at amortiscd cost,
and contract assets.

The Group measures loss allowances al an amount equal to lifetime ECL. except for other debt securities and bank
balances for which credit risk (i.c. the risk of detault occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, which are measured as 12-month ECLL.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount ¢qual (o lifetime ECLL.

When determining whether the credit risk ot a tinancial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating I:CL. the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical expericnce and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group considers a tinancial assel 1o be in default when:
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations te the Group in full after investigation.
Litetime FCLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion ol ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date {(or a shorter period it the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credil losses are measured as the present value of all cash
shortlalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

At cach reporting date. the Group assesses whether financial asscts carried at amortised cost are credil-impaired. A
financial asset is "credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated (uture cash
flows ol the financial asset have oceurred.

The gross carrying amount ol a [inancial asset is written oft {¢ither partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect ol recovery.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Financial liabilities and equity

2.16.1 Classification
Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equily only to the extent that they meet the following two
conditions;

(a) they include no contractual ebligations upon the Group o deliver cash or other financial assets or (o exchange
linancial assets or financial labilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to
the company: and

) where the Instrument will or may be settled in the Group™s own equity instruments. it is either 4 non-derivalive
that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company’s own cquity instruments or is a
derivative that will be settled by the Group’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets tor a
fixed number ol its own equily instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met. the proceeds of issue are classiticd as a financial liability.

2.16.2 Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classificd as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financiul liability is classified as at FVTPL
ifil is classified as held-for-trading,. it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilitics
al FVTPL. are measured at fair value and net gains and losses. including any interest expense. are recognised in profit or
loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and forcign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or toss. Any gain or foss on derecognition is also
recognised in prolit or loss.

2.16.3 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a [inancial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelied. or expire. The
Group also derccognises a tinancial liability when its terms arc modified and the cash flows of the moditied liability are
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derccogrition ol a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

2.17 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uscs derivative {inancial instruments, such as inlerest rates caps, to hedge its interest rate risks. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair valuc on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and
are subscquently measured at fair value.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probably forecast transaction.
- Fair valuc hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which it
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNTFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

The documentation includes identitication of the hedging instrument. the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements. A hedging
relationship qualifics for hedge accounting if it meets all ol the tollowing effectiveness requirements:

. there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.
. the eflect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from the economic relationship.
. the hedge ratio ot the hedging relationship is the same as that vesulting from the quantity of the hedged item that

the group actuatly hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that
quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet all the qualifving criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as tollows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the
cash flow hedge reserve, while any inelfective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The
cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted o the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in far valuc of the hedged item.

The Group designates only the intrinsic value of the interest rate caps as a hedging instrument. The time value clement is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of cquity under cost ol hedging
reserve,

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction. [f the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumnulated in equity is removed from the separate compoenent of equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in other
comprehensive income for the period.

For any other cash tlow hedges, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
as a reclassilication adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss.

11 cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in other comprehensive income
must remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to oceur.
Otherwise, the amount will be immediately reclassified to profit or toss as a reclassification adjustment. Afler
discontinuation, once the hedged cash tlow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income
must be accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying transaction as described above.

2.18 Loans and borrowings

Borrowings are recognised inilially at fair value, net of direct transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the procceds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive (loss) / income over the period of the borrowings using the
ceffective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan (o the extent that it is
probable that some or all the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fec is deferred until the draw-down oceurs. To
the extent there is no evidencee that it is probable that some or all the fucility will be drawn down. the fee is capitalised as
a pre~payment for liguidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Loans and borrowings (continued)
When borrowings are including floor or cap rates which are defined as closely related embedded derivatives, they are not
separated from the host contract.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of (inancial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged. cancelled or expired. The diflerence between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
heen extinguished or transterred o another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed. is recognised in protit or loss as other income or finance costs. Borrowings are classified as current
tHabilitics unless the Group has an unconditional right to deter settlement of the liability tor at least 12 months after the
reporting period.

2.19 Current and non-current classification
Current assels are assets expected o be realised or consumed in the normal course of the Group's operating cvele
(normally within one year). All other assets are classified as non-current assets.

Current liabilities are liabilities expected to be scttied by usc of cash generated in the normal course of the Group's
operating cycle (normally within one year) or liabilities due within one year from the reporting date. All other liabilities
are classified as non-current liabilities.

2.20 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafls that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash cquivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

2.21 Inventories
[nventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course ol busiuess.

2.22 Trade receivables

Irade receivables are measured al initial recognition at tair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. less provision for impairment (see note 2.15.4). Trade receivables that are known to be
uncollectible are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.

2.23 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligaticns for contributions to
defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during which
services are rendered by employees.

2.24 Share-based payment transactions

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives goads or services as consideration for its own equity
instruments are accounted for as equity seitled share-based payment transactions. regardless of how the equity instruments
are obtained by the Group.

Equily settled share-bused payments o employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date using an appropriate valuation model. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

The tair value determined at the grant date of the equity settled share-based payments is recognised in employee benelits
expense over the vesting period. based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each
reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected 0 vest as a result of the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions. The impact ot the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in the
statement of profit and loss, with the corresponding adjustment in equity rescrves.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

2.25 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event. it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount ot the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to setile the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period. aking into account the risks and uncertaintics surrounding the obligation.

2.26 Long-term incentive plan

Certain employvees ol the Group are entitled to receiv e remuncration in the form of awards based on performance. The
awards arc issued annually and will vest at the time of the Group's next equily reflinancing. which is deemed 1o be in 3
years.

A lability is recognised for the fair value of the future settlement of awards outstanding at each reporting date. The awards
outstanding are measured initiallv. and at each reporting date up to and including the vesting date. at fair value. The initial
fair value of any awards granted arc recogniscd in staff costs. with any changes in fair value at cach reporting date up to
and including the vesting date. recognised in (inance costs. The fair value is determined using an appropriate valuation
model.

2,27 Adoption of new and revised IFRS
The Group has applied all TFRS that are currently applicable in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
New standards. amendments and interpretations are adopted. i applicable to the Group. when they become effective.

The directors consider that there is no significant financial impact on the Group financial statements of the following new
standards. amendments and interpretations that are in issue and mandatory for the financial year ending 31 August 2023:

+ Onerous Contraets — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to TAS 37)

« Annual Improvements to [FRS Standards 2018-2020

+ Property. Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to TAS 16)
* Reference to Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)

I'he tollowing Adopted IFRSs have been issued but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements.
Their adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated.

« IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

* Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to TAS T and [FRS Practice Statement 2)

« Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to TAS 8)

* Detferred ax related 1o Assets and Liabilities arising {rom a Single Transaction (Amendments to TAS 12)
+ International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to TAS 12)

» Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current {Amendments to TAS 1)

» Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1}

s |.ease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback {(Amendments o [FRS 16)

« Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to TAS 7 and I[FRS 7)

» General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information {IFRS S1)
+ Climate-related Disclosures {IFRS §2)

« Lack ot I:xchangeability (Amendments to TAS 21)

There are no other standards, amendments or interpretations that are in issue but not yet effective that are expected to
have 4 significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3 — USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The estimates and judgments made by muanagement are re-examined continuously and are based on historical data and
expectations about future events which are considered reasonable in light of current circumstances.

3.1 Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management has made the
foltowing judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated (inancial
statements.

Presentation currency

The Group has elected 1o use the Euro as the presentation currency for these financial statements. The vast majority of the
(roup's transactions arc denominated in Luro. The Euro is consequently an appropriate choice for presentation currency
in these financial statements. As more subsidiaries are acquired it is likely that these will transact business in other
currencies. At this time, the Group will continue o use the Buro as its presentation currency but will provide turther
information to explain the expected cconomic effects of a rate change on its cash flows and cquity in cases where, in the
opinion of management, there is a material risk ot exchange rate volatility.

Control assessment & de facte confrol

A Giroup controls an entity when it has power over the entity; is exposed. or has rights, to variable returns {rom its
invelvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity, Power can arise
from voting rights the Group holds in the investee or contractual arrangements. The power to direct the relevant activitics
of the investee do not need to be exercised. The Group invests in its subsidiaries by acquiring the majority of the voting
rights (share capital) of the substdiaries or through contractual arrangements with the other shareholders (see note 24 and
the appendix).

Although the Group owns less than hall of the shares of the following entities, management has determined that the Group
controls these entitics:

- Al Nibras International Private School 1L1.C

- Aspen Heights British School 1.1.C

- Aspen [eights Educational Facilities Management Sole Proprictorship LI.C
- Ilanoi Toronto Jaint Stock Company

- Ilmu Bijak Bestari Sdn. Bhd.

- ISP Holdings 3 1.td.

- Manthan Fducational Society

- PIL (Dubai) SPC 1 [.td

- Reach British School LLC

- St Mary’s Society

- Tenby Education 8dn. Bhd.

- Tenby Labuan Foundation

- The Aquila School Owned by Shaikh Mohammed Maktoum Juma Al Maktoum One Person Company LLC
- The Hamilton International School LL.C

Management has determined that the Group controls these entities. This is by virtue of contractual agreements with the
above listed companies™ other sharcholders whereby the Group excereises management control over the entities and is
entitled to 100% of the profit or loss of the entities.

Cash generating units (CGUs)

Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business combinations are allocated. al the date of acquisition. w cach of the
CGUs or groups of CGUSs. expected to benelit from the synergics of the business combination. llach individual school is
considered a CGUL The allocation of goodwill to a CGU or group of CGUSs is judgemental and the directors consider that
goodwill is often attributable to a grouping of similar schools in the same region.

36

International Schools Partnership - Confidential Document



Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 3 — USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

3.1 Judgements {continued)

Cash generating units (CGUx continned)
Impairment is tested at the lowest level at which goodwill and intangible assets are monitored for internal reporting
purposes. The grouping of CGUSs used 1o monitor and assess for impairment is shown below:

Cash generating unit Location
Al Nibras International Private School UAE
Asia Pacific School Malaysia
Baton Rouge International School LUISA
Bellevue Childrens Academy USA
British I°ducation Management (St (Gieorge) Spain
Claremont School UK
Colegios Laude Spain
Colegios Pedro de Valdivia Chile
Instituto Thomas Jefferson Group Mexico
Kehoe-France School USA
Liceo Panamericano & Colegio La Moderna Ecuador
La Colina Colombia
Montessoti Academy of Broward USA
Park House English School Qatar
Reuch British School UAE

St Jude Schoeol Costa Rica
St George’s College Peru
Tenby Group Malaysia
Tomas Alva Ldison School Mexico
Lynn Rose School Canada
Rowntree Montessori School Canada
British School of Geneva Switzerland
Mile Rilingual School laly
British Royal School Chile
Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools JSA
Straits Tnternational Education Group Malaysia
Ecole Mosaic Switzerland
Colegio l'erranova Iicuador
St. Mary s School India
Star International School UAE
Boston School Intemational Panama
Leonardo da Vinei Scuola Paritaria Ttaly
Manthan International School India
British School of Wilanow Poland
Alexandria International School Ttaly
Fairmont Schools USA
The LEnglish College NDubal UALE
Berda Claude International School of Phuket (BCIS) I'hailand
St. George Madrid Spain
Aubrick Brazil
Bangkok [nternational Preparatory and Secondary School Thailand
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NOTE 3 - USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

3.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

The Group mukes estimates and assumptions about the development of tuture events. Those estimates and assumptions
that may cause material adjustment in the carrying value of assets and liabilities over the next 12 months pertain to the
following:

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

When the fair values ol financial assets and liabilitics recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in aclive markets, the fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the discounted
cash flow (DCF) model. The inputs o these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is
not fecasible. 4 degree of judgement is required in establishing fuir values. Assumptions include consideration of inputs
such as fiquidity risk, ¢redit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported
fair value of financial instruments. See note 19 for further disclosures.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Deterred tax assels are recognised for unused tax losses o the extent thai it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Management is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, which reguires management to estimate the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together
with future tax planning strategies, to determine the amount of the deferred tax asset that is appropriate to recognise. See
notc 11 for further disclosures.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group has recognised intangible assets in relation to goodwill and the valuation of student registry and brands arising
on the acquisition of subsidiaries. The Group is required to make judgements on whether non-financial assets (including
the goodwill, student registry and brand balances) are recoverable and to estimale the recoverable amount ol these assets.
The recoverable amount of goodwill is assessed on an annual basis {or impairment. The recoverable amount of the CGUs
is based on the higher of fair value less cost ol disposal (~1"VLCD™) and value in use ("VIU™). Fair value is determined
by multiplying the budgeted normalised EBITDA for the following tinancial year by a multiple, bascd on the markel
expectation of multiples applied in the education industry. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy. due (o use ol the EBITDA multiple. which is an unobservable inpul, in the valuation. The caleulation of value
in use is detailed in note 13,

Acquisition accounting
The Group initially recognises the assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination al their fair value, which
involves significant judgement in determining the valuation of the separable intungible asscts acquired.

Intangible assets recognised tor student registries and brands are cstablished using a level 3 fair value measurement
technigue (sec note 2.12), The inputs for these models are taken trom ohservable markets where possible. bul where this
is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing tair value. The estimates involve determining the future
cash {lows expected to be generated from the assets and the appropriate discount rate to use, When assessing the valucs
of the intangible asscls, management is required to exercise judgement in determining the future prefitability and cash
Mows of those asscts. royally rates, life of customer base, growth rates and the appropriate weighted average cost of
capital. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the fair value of the assels recognised on acyuisition,
Sce notes 13 and 29 for further disclosures.

The total value of other intangibles recognised during the year ended 31 August 2023 duc o acquisitions was
€94,532,000 (2022: €36,354,000). The impact of making different judgements regarding these intangible assets would
be to increase or decrease goodwill by the equivalent amount.
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NOTE 3 - USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

3.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties (continued)

Leases

In valuing the lease liability and right-of-use asset. judgement is involved in determining the appropriate discount rate
te calculate the lease liability and the teasce term where contracts included renewal options. Renewal eptions arc included
in a number of leascs across the Group. In determining the lease term. management consider all the facts and
circumstances that creale an economic incentive o exercise the renewal option. Periods of extension are only included
in the lease term if it is reasonably certain that the lease will be extended. The lease term is reviewed it a significant
cvent or a significant change in circumstances occurs that is within the control of the Group.

For the discount rates, the interest rate implicil in the lease should be used. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
incremental barrowing rate of the lessee should be used. The implicit rate in the lease would require the Group Lo have
access to the lessors’ sensitive intormation in relation to pricing of contracts and returns being made. which it decs not.
As such. the Group uscs the incremental borrowing rate across all Icases. The incremental borrowing rate is based on
the sum of'the risk free rate of the country in which the school operates and the credit spread derived from comparable
honds with companies operating in educationat services with similar credit ratings.

For leases acquired in a business combination, the Group is required to value the right-of-use assel using the market
terms of the lease as it it were a new lease at the acquisition date. When assessing the market terms of the lease.
managemenl is required o make assumpltions about comparable properties with similar terms to the existing lease. The
inputs to this asscssment are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not leasible. a degree of
judgement is required in cstablishing the market rates. Therefore. there is high estimation uncertainty involved in
assessing the fair value of the lease in a business combination, and changes in market lerm assumptions can have a
matcrial impact. The impact of making different judgements regarding these market rates would be to ncrease or
decrease goodwill by the equivalent amount.

39

Internationa! Schools Partnership - Confidential Document



Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 4 — NON-UNDERLYING ITEMS

Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2023 2022

(in €000's}
Acquisitions 14,154 9.107
Refinancing 1.036 1.66{
Restructuring costs 8.948 8.379
24,138 19,146

Non-underlying items are income or expenditure which, for the board of directors and financial statement reporting
purposes. are disclosed separately because in management’s judgement. due to their nature, size or incidence, they distort
an undetstanding of the Group’s financial performance and comparability between periods. The items of expenditure
which management designate as being non-underlying include acquisition costs, refinancing costs. business restructuring
costs and impairment of assets.

Acquisition costs are expenses (incurred in the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income) to seck out and acquire new
schools or expansion opportunities. These include any legal and duc diligence fees relating to potential or actual
acquisitions as well as losses incurred prior to the opening of a new school. Although costs relating to projects can span
multiple financial years, key components of expenditure for specific projects are non-recurring, for example financial due
diligence, legal and market surveys. These costs have no relation to the operational results of existing schools and are
split out to enable the reader of the tinancial statements to gain greater clarity of the underlying business performance.

Business restructuring costs in the current year mainly relate to debt refinancing projects and adjustments to contingent
and deferred consideration on subsidiary acquisitions. Refinancing costs primarily consist ol professional and legal {ees.
Costs of this naturce should be considered as non-underlying as they are not part of the usual operations.
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NOTE 5- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group™s activitics expose iU W a variety of linancial risks: market risk (including foreign currency and interest rate
risk}, credit risk and liquidity risk.

(@) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as toreign exchange rates and interest rates will atfect the
Group’s income or the value of ity holdings of financial instruments. [he objective of market risk munagement is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceplable parameters, while optimising the return.

(b) Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk (hat the tair value ot future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuale because
of changes in foreign exchanges rates. The Group has significant and expanding international operations trading in non-
Furo currencies. Movements in exchange rates can cause curreney exposures to the Group's consolidated Euro {inancial
results. Trade in foreign subsidiaries is usually conducted in local currencies and. where appropriate. intercompany loan
balances are held in their respective currencics 10 mitigale the risk of exposure 1o the Grroup’s asscts and liabilities from
exchange movements.

Taking into account the different functional currencics within the Group. the [ollowing tables demonstrate the sensitivity
10 a reasonably possible change in the below currencies, with all other variables held constant, A 10% strengthening or
weakening (2022: 10% strengthening or weakening) of the following currencies against the Luro would have increased
(decreased) profit or toss by the amounts shown below.

As at 31 August 2023:

Nel assels Profit or loss
Effect in €000°s Strengthening  Weakening Strengthening Weakening
Brazilian real (BRL) (229) 229 - -
British pound sterling (GBP} 2359 (259) 2,130 (2.130)
Canadian dollar (CAD) 1.073 {1.073) 9 (9
Chilean peso (CLP) 3.836 (3.836) 956 (956)
Chingse yuan {(CNY) 149 (149) 52 (52)
Colombian peso (COP) 1,408 (1.408) 123 (123)
Costa Rican Colon (CRCY) 1,496 (1.496) 99 {99)
Hong Kong dollar {1TKD) (11) 11 - -
Indian rupee (INR) 4,521 {4,521) (486) 486
Malaysian ringgit (MYR) 8.587 (8.587) 249 (249)
Mexican peso (MXN) 7.600 {7,600} 889 {889)
Peruvian sol (PLEN) 6.386 (6.386) 913 (913)
Polish zloty {PLN} 1.812 (1.812) - -
Qatari rival (QAR) 430 (430) 471 471
Swiss frane (CHF) (353) 533 198 (198)
Thai bhat (THB) (604) 604 175 (175)
United Arab Emirates dirham (A1) 9.101 (9.1001) {1.970) 1,970
United States dollar (USD} 40,018 {40.018) 947 (947
Vietnamese dong (VND) (1125 1.123 (930) 930
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NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

(h) Foreign currency risk (continued)

As at 31 August 2022:

Net assels

Profit or loss

Effect in €000°s Strengthening  Weakening Strengthening Weakening
British pound sterling (GBP) 4,271 4,271 (2.632) 2,632
Canadian dollar {CAD) 1,171 (1170 (76) 76
Chilean peso (CLP) 1,077 (1.077) 5357 (537)
Colombian peso (COP) 1,267 (1,297) 90 (90)
Costa Rican Colon (CRC) 566 {366) 52 (52)
Indian rupee (INR) 1.927 {1,927) 80 (80)
Malaysian ringgil (MYR) 3.195 (3.195) (457) 437
Mexican peso (MXN) 6,716 {6,716} (1.227 1,227
Peruvian sol (PEN) 863 (863} 433 (433)
Qatari rival (QAR) (53) 53 317 (317)
Swiss tranc (CHF) {694) 694 143 (143)
United Arab Emirates ditham (AED) (8,820) 8,820 132 (132)
United States dollar {UJSD) (1.131}) 1.131 1.072 (1.072)
Victnamese dong (VND) 35 (35) (111) 111

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or futurc cash ilows of a financial instrument will tluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is disclosed
in note 20,

The Group's loans and borrowing issued at variable market interest rales expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group's risk management strategy to protect the cash flows and minimise the adverse impact of increases in variable
market interest rates is to enter into offselting interest rate cap or swap contracts to fix the interest on its borrowings Irom
third parties. Asat 31 August 2023_ the Group had entered into interest rate cap contracts which were formally designated
as a4 hedging relationship, refer 0 note 19.2.

At 31 August 2023, the Group had cxposure Lo interest rate sensitivity in respect of variable rate loans. A change of 1%
in intercst rates would have decreased equity and comprehensive loss by €10.296.000 (2022: decrease equity and
comprehensive loss by €3,199.000). This calculation assumes that the change oceurred at the balance sheet date and had
been applied to risk exposures existing at that date. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant and
considers the effcet of financial instruments with variable interest rates and the impact of the related derivative assets and
liabilitics. This analysis s performed on the same basis for 31 August 2022,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

(d) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that any counterparty will not meet its obligalions under a financial instrument or customer contract.
leading to a financial loss. The Group™s accounting policies tor linancial assets is consistent with the requirement of TFRS
9. The schools within the Group recognise provisions und impairments based on the expected eredit losses over the next
12 months. The assessments arc based primarily on the age of the assets to assess the likelihood of recovery.

F'o minimise the credit risk the schools within the Group invoice customers in advance and have policies in place covering
subsequent cash collection, which include regular review of outstanding debt. Individual school policy is cither 1o invoice
at the beginning of each term or the beginaing of cach month. Duc to this it is deemed that the credit risk within the Group
is low. There were no significant impairments of trade and other receivables during the current or prior year.

The carrying amount of financial assets and cash and cash equivalents represents the maximum credit exposure.

The maximum exposure 1o credit risk at 31 August 2023 and at 31 August 2022 was:

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Trade and other receivables 100.208 63,205
Cash and cash equivalents 135,741 108,733
Total 235,949 171,938

Trade and other receivables

The following table is an analysis ol the Group's trade and other receivables allowance provision by geographical market
in 2023 and 2022 respectisely:

Middl
(in €000's) Europe  Americas IEas: Asia Other Total
Year ended 31 August 2023 2278 5.885 1.578 568 1,500 11,809
Year ended 31 August 2022 37 2.869 264 617 4,000 8,267

Please refer to note 19.1 for the details of the Group's approach to [FRS 9 and expected credit losses,
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NOTE S - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Credit risk (continued)

There are no significant other receivables past due at the current or prior year end. No (urther disclosure is required on
the location of the reecivables or the nature of the receivables. as all the receivables are ol the same nature and the directors
do not believe that the location of the receivables has a signiticant impact on the credit risk. due to the similar nature of
the controls apparent at the schools to mitigate the risk.

The movement in the allowance provision in respect of trade and other receivables during the y car was as follows:

(in €000's) 2023 2022
At 1 September 8.267 4.652
Acquisition of subsidiarics 2,617 954
Impairment loss recognised 1.667 2.466
Amounts written ol {400} (220}
Exchange differences (342} 415
At 31 August 11,809 8,267

The allovwance provision for trade and other receivables is used to record impairment losses. The Group performs guarterty
debtor reviews at which time, if the Group is satislied that no recovery of the amount owing is possibte, the amounts
considered irrecoverable are written oft against the trade receivable directly.

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk with respect to balances at bank is limited because the counter parties are reputable banks, thercfore expected
credit losses are expected to be minimal.

(e) Ligquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and banking tfacilities. loans granted by the sharcholders,
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of finuncial assets and
liabilitics. The Group also performs regular cash forecasting at the subsidiary level along with the funding required for
ceniral and local cost centres. Funding for new transactions. including due diligence and other pre-transaction costs, is
assessed and drawn down on a case by case basis.

The cash position at 31 August 2023 remains strong al €135.741.000 (2022: €108,733,000) and we continue to monitor
cash collections to identify any deviations from historical trends.

The Group has leans and borrowings with third parties that mature in 2028. The total available facitities and the amounts
drawn at 31 August 2023 are disclosed in note 20.

The Group has a strong working capital position as cash payments for tuition services are typically received in advance
on an annual or term basis. Trade payables are settled on the basis of credit terms agreed with the respective suppliers.

44

tnternational Schools Partnership - Confidential Document



Consolidated linancial statements
tnternational Schools Partnership |Limited
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NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk {continued)

The following are the contractual maturities ol financial assets and liabilities as at 31 August 2023, The amounts are gross
and undiscounted. include estimated contractual interest payments and exclude the effect of netting agreements:

‘ . ) Less than Between 3  Between | Between More
(in €000°s) Carrying 3 months months and 2 2and 5 than 5
amount and 1 year yvears years years
Assets
Trade and other receivables 100,342 77.303 - - - 23,039
Cash and cash cquivalents 135,741 135.741 - - - -
Derivatives 33.711 - - 33711 - -
Total assets 269,794 213,044 - 3371 - 23,039
Between3 Between1 Between 2 More
(in €000's) Carrying  Less than months and 2 and5  thans
amount  3months - year years years years
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 1.322,794 26,741 5.615 9.406 1.278,375 2,657
Derivatives 1.805 - - 1.805 - -
I.ease liabilities 707.179 87 11,071 13.225 48,938 633.858
Contingent and deferred
consideration 77.348 4.791 26.051 2.663 24,582 19.261
Trude and other payables 132,215 132,215 - - - -
Total liabilities 2,241,341 163,834 42737 27,099 1,351,895 655.776

The following are the contractual maturities of financial assets and liabilities as at 31 August 2022, The amounts are gross
and undiscounted, include estimated contractual interest payments and exclude the cffect of netting agreements:

. . Less than Between 3 Between 1  Between 2 More
(in €000's) Carrying 3 months months and 2 and 5 than §
ampunt and 1 year years years years
Assets
Trade and other receivables 63.205 03.205 - - - _
Cash and cash equivalents 108,733 108.733 - - - -
Derivatives 29,323 - 1.410 - 27913 -
Total assets 201,261 171,938 1,410 - 27,913 -
] ) Less than Between 3 Betweenl Between 2 More
(in €000's) Carrying 3 months months and 2 and 5 than 5
amount and 1 year years vears years
Liabilities
l.oans and borr()\vings 864,958 6.1476 3.162 54,248 8.077 792,995
[.case liabilities 398.145 85 1G.335 12,209 41.03%9 334.477
Contingent and deferred
consideration 16,719 8.029 1.446 1.945 2.990 2.309
Trade and other payabtes 74,590 74.590 - - - -
Total liabilities 1,354,412 89,180 14,943 68,402 52,106 1,129,781
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

() Capital management

Risk management is carried ous by the board of directors. The Group’s objective when managing capital is o sufeguard
its ability to continue as a going concern to provide returns to the sharcholders and w0 maintain an optimal capital structure

10 reduce the cost ol capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure. the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid. return capital.
issue new shares or sell assets 1o reduce debt. The capital, as defined and managed by the Group, consists of the amounts
of equity as presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

NOTE 6 - REVENUE

In the following tables. revenue is disaggregaled by primary geographical market and major service lines.

Year ended

31 August 2023 Europe Americas Middle East Asia Total

Revenue {in €0007s) 135.156 258,663 89.763 62,528 346,112

Year ended . . ]

31 August 2022 Europe Americas Middle East Asia Total

Revenue (in €000°s) 109.348 171.246 77,552 45,993 404,139
Year ended Year ended

(in €000°s)

| wition income
Enrolment fee income
Other Income

Total

31 August 2023

429.004
44,249
72,859

546,112

31 August 2022

320178
37.756
46,205

404,139

Fuition income has been disaggregated to report enrolment tee income separate {rom tuition income.

The Group™s TFRS 15 contract liabilitics are as follows:

{in €000's)

Year ended
31 August 2023

Balance at 1 September 139.646
New contract liabilities 493,307
Amounts recognised as revenue in year (429.004)

203,949

Year ended
31 August 2022

80,637
379.187
(320,178)

139,646

The Group’s non-current IFRS 15 contract fabilities are not material o disclose for the current or previous year.
INo contraciual assets ure apparent in the current or previeus year.
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NOTE 7 - BREAKDOWN OF COSTS OF SALES AND OTHER COSTS

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

(in €000°s)

Costs of providing services and other costs

Staft costs (adminy 102.628 75944
Stafl costs (teaching) 168.102 131.576
Amortisation (note 13) 30,370 26,092
Depreciation (note 14) 39.633 44.8%6
Tmpairmerit of goodwill (note 13) 25152 -
Tmpairment of property. plant and equipment {note 14) 479 -
I.egal and prolessional fecs 8.389 4911

Audit and assurance tees (note 8) 1.636 1.018
General expenses 141.781 92,168
Other costs 7.779 14934

545969 391,529

Year ended
31 August 2023

Year ended
31 August 2022

Other costs are mainly related to costs associated with acquiring subsidiaries and costs required to bring the acquired

subsidiaries o the standard expected in the year,

General expenses include costs associated with short term and low value leases. as disclosed in note 20.

The staffing costs included the following charges:

Year ended

Year ended

: L]

(in €000°s) 31 August 2023 31 August 2022

Staff costs

Wagces and salaries 241.896 184.940

Social security costs 27.033 21,908

Fixpenses related o detined contribution plans 801 672

Share-bused payments (note 26) 1.000 -
270.730 207,520

Mhe average number of total stafTin the year was 10,235 (2022: 7,439} split out by admin statl] including salaried directors,
of 3.5346 (2022: 2.481) and teaching statf 6.689 (2022: 4,9358).

In the prior year the share-based payment charge was recognised within interest expenses.
NOTE 8 — AUDIT AND PROFESSIONAL FEES FOR SERVICES PROVIDED BY KPMG

Audit and other protessional fees for services provided by KPMG member firms of the network are noted in the table

below:

. . Year ended Year ended
{in €006°s) 31 August 2023 31 August 2022
Audit fees for these financial statements 1,127 570
Audit fees for subsidiaries of the Company 433 434
Audit related assurance services 21 12
Tax services 75 2
Other assurance services N -

1,656 1,018
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 9 — FINANCE COSTS - NET

Year ended Year ended
31 August 2023 31 August 2022
(in €000's)
Hedging income 9419 -
Bank interest income 3.304 100
Finance income 12,723 100
Foreign exchange (loss) gain —net {18.68%) 37.932
(1.oss) gain on deriv ative instruments at fair
value through profit or loss {2.868) 3.253
Bank interest expense and charges (9.996) (9.497)
Interest expense — Bank loans (90.948) (50.881)
Interest expense — Lease liabilities (33.622) (23.552)
Interest expense — Other - (268)
Other finance costs (11.573) {(11.512)
Finance costs (167,695) (54,525)
Net finance costs (154,972) (54,425)

The net gain (loss) on derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to interest rate caps and inlerest

rate swaps that did not quatity for hedge accounting.
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NOTE 10 - INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended Year ended
31 August 2023 31 August 2022
(in €000°s)
Consolidated profit or loss
Income 1ax expense in respect o the current period (15.129) (15.959)
Tncome lax expense in respect of the prior period (1,957) €1.972)
Deterred tax credit in respect of the current period 14,775 8.740
Deterred tax (expense) / credit in respect of the prior period (453) 974
Total tax charge reported in the statement of profit or loss (2,764) (8,217)
Consolidated other comprehensive income
Net gain on cash {low hedges (4.821) {4.990)
Net change in costs of hedging 2114 363
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income (2,707) (4.627)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
l.oss belore tax for the year from continuing operations 154,829 41.815
Loss before tax from a discontinued operation 1.948 7.401
Loss before tax 156,777 49,216
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate of 21.5% (2022; 19%)* 33,707 9.351
ﬁlfis.(c]':;:pdi)lri;t;:?etstdx rates on profits / losses in countries in which (8.660) (6.560)
Tax effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (8.138) (7.579)
Utilisation of previously unrccognised lax losses 14 6.343
Tax losses tor which no deferred tax asset was recognised™** (10.272) -
Corporate interest restriction for which no deferred tax assel was
recognised** (10.048) )
Prior period ditlerences (2.411) (999)
Other difTerences 3,044 (8.777)
Tax charge (2,764) (8,217)
Tncome tax charge reported in the statement of profit ot loss (2.764) (8.217)

Income tax attributable to a discontinued operation - -

* Applicable tax rate in United Kingdom.

** No deferred Lax asset has been recognised in some CGU™s due 1o uncertainty in recoverability of this assel. The Group’s
policy is 1o recognisc a deferred Lax asset for tax losses only to the extent that it is prebable that future profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised. Refer to note 11 for turther detaits.

An increase in the UK corporation rate from 19% 1o 23% was eftective from 1 April 2023, This increases the Company s

future current tax charge accordingly. The UK deterred tax assets and liabilities at 31 August 2023 have been calculated
based on these rates, rellecting the expected timing of reversal of the refated timing difterences (2022: 19%).
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NOTE 11 - DEFERRED TAXES

(in €000°s) 31 Auzgoli; 31 Auzgouzszt
Decferred tax liability (72.880) (61631
Deferred tax asset 14.323 34,754
Total (58.537) (26.877)
Current - -
Non-current (58.557) (26.877)
Movement in deferred tax is as follows:
Recognised Recognised in
1 in statement other Acquired in 31
September of profit or comprehen- business Exchange August
2022 loss sive income  combinations differences 2023
€000°s €000’s €000°s €000's €000’s €000’s
Intangible asscts (30.93%) 2382 - (26.283) 3.886 {70.930)
Cash flow hedgces (4,627) - {2,707 - - {7.334)
Right-ot-usc assets {42.880) (17.177) - {79.624) - (139.681)
l.ease liabilities 49.354 22726 - 37.967 - 130.247
Tax losses carried
torward 13 070 (62) - - 13.003
Other 8.941 6,453 - (756} 1.515 16,153
(26,877) 14,322 (2,707) (48,696) 5,401 (58,557)
Recognised Recognised in
1  in statement other Acquired in 31
September  of profit or comprehen- business Exchange August
2021 loss sive income  combinations differences 2022
€000°s €000's €000°s €000°s €000's €000°s
Intangible assets (48.774) 1,692 - {2,139) (1,714) (30,933)
Cash {low hedges - - (4.627) - - (4.627)
Finance lcases. net 4.990 1,684 - - - 6.674
Tax losses carried
forward 7.170 5900 - - - 13.070
Other 8.902 438 - - (399) 8.041
(27,712) 9,714 (4,627) (2.139) (2,113 (26,877)
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NOTE 11 - DEFERRED TAXES (continued)

The Group has a deferred tax liabitity of €70.930,000 (2022: €50.933.,000) arising [rom student registrics, brands and fair
valuc uplifls on acquired tangible assets. €7.334.000 million (2022: €4.627.000) arising from cash [ow hedges, and
€139.681,000 (2022: €42,880,000) in respect to right-of—use assets. The Group has recognised deferred tax assets of
€13.247.000 (2022: €49.554.000) in respect of lease liabilities. €13.008.000 (2022; €13.070.000) in respect of losses and
€16.153.000 (2022: €8.941.000) in respect of ather temporary timing differences.

The deferred tax has been caleulated using the prevailing tax rate in the jurisdictions where the underlying transaction has
occurred and the rate at which the asset or liability is expected to sclile.

The Group has €120.194,000 (2022; €83.874.000) of unrecognised tax losses carried forward. These assets relate te
subsidiaries that have a history of losses. which do not expire, and may not be used to offset taxable income elscwhere in
the Group. The Group also has €75,187.000 {2022: €28,451,000) of unrccognised losses in relation to UK corporate
interest restrictions, [ the Group were able to recognise all unrecognised losses. additional deferred tax assets totalling
€46.913.000 (2022: €26,593.000) would be recognised, comprising of €28.116,000 (2022: €19.480.000) in relation to
unrecognised lax losses and €18,797.000 million (2022: €7.113,000) in relation w UK corporate interest restrictions.

NOTE 12 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In April 2022, the Group announced the closure of Baton Rouge International School and operations ceased in May 2022,
The disposal was effected in order to generate cash flows for the expansions ot the Group’s other businesses. The related
assets and liabilitics were classified as held for sale at 31 August 2022, As at 31 August 2023, the propetty [rom which
Baton Rouge International School operated continued te be listed for sale and classified as a non-current asset held for
sale in the statement of financial position. The results included in the loss for the year relate to costs incurred to maintain
the property as it awaited sale. Subsequent to year end. the asset was sold o a third party. reter to note 30.

The results of the discontinued operations, which have been included in the loss for the year, were as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 August 2023 31 August 2022
{in €000°s)
Revenue - 3.040
I'xpenses (148} (3.743)
Orperating loss (148) (2.703)
Finance coslts (5) {(23)
Impairment loss recognised on the remeasurement 1o fair
value less costs to sell {1.793) {+.675)
l.oss before tax from discontinued operations (1.948) (7401
Tux expensc:
Refated 10 pre-tux loss from ordinary activities for the ) )
period
Related 10 impairment losses - -
Loss for the year from discontinued operations, net of
tax (1,948) (7,401)

I'he carnving vaiue of the property as at year end was assessed at lower than fair value less costs to sell and an additional
impairment loss of €1.795.000 (2022: €990.000) was recognised in discontinued operations in the statement of
comprehensive (loss) / income. An impairment loss ot €3.685.000 was recognised in 2022, being the difference between
the carrying valuc of the associated goodwill and its recoverable amount. Refer W note 13.
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NOTE 13 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Other
Student intangible
Goodwill registry Brand Software assets Total
Cost €000°s €000's €000 €000s €000's EOMPs
At 1 September 2021 360901 168.225 - - - 329.126
Acquisition of subsidiaries 118.540 36.354 - - - 154,894
Additiens - - - 6.181 - 6181
Reclassification trom property.
plant and cquipment (note
14y%%* - - - 12.798 - 12,798
I-xchange difference 52.334 25429 - (39) - 77.724
At 31 August 2022 531.775 230.008 - 18.940 - 780.723
Finalisation of prior
acquisitions™®* 798 - - - - 798
At 1 September 2022 332,573 230.008 - 18.940 - 781.521
Acquisition of subsidiaries” 294.265 72.090 22442 15 - 388.812
Additions - - - 3,080 536 j6le
Disposals - . - (114) . (114

Reclassification trom property.
plant and equipment {note
]4)*** - - - 3,261 - 3.261

Reclassitication for incorrect

classification of licences**** - (8.888) - - 8.888 -
[xchange ditterence {33,720 (6,886) {263) 16 (697) (41.550)
At 31 August 2023 793.11% 286.324 22.179 27.198 8.727 1.137.540

Amortisation and impairment

At 1 September 2021 - (49.792) - - - (49.792)
“harar te v _ b 5 - .

Charge tor the vear (21,29%) 4,797) (26.092)
[mpairment (3.683) - - - - (3.685)

Reclassification from property.
plant and equipment (note

[4y*** - - - (3.650) - (3.650)
Fxchange difference 371 {7,299) - 23 - (6.903)
At 31 Auguse 2022 (3.314) (78.386) - (8,424) - (00.124)
Charge for the year - {23.842) (315) (3.366) (847} (30.370)
Amortisation on disposals - - - 12 - 12
Impairment {25.152) - - - - (23.132)

Reclassification from property.

plant and equipment {(note

1 4y=== . - - (1.655) - {1,633
Reclassification for incorrect

classification of licences** ¥* - 2,238 - - (2.238) -
Exchange difterence - 204 6 (50) 182 132
At 31 August 2023 {28.466) 199.6%6) 309 (15.483) (2.903) i146.857)
Carrving amount

AL August 2023 T64.652 186.628 21.870 11,715 3824 990.689
AL31 August 2012 328461 151.622 - 10516 - 690,599
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NOTE 13- INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

* The intangibles acquired in the year include the amounts included on acquisition as set outl in note 29. The Group tesis
goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently it there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

** Changes to goodwill arising on the acquisttions in 2022 have been reflected in the current period financial stalements.
Prior vear comparatives have not been changed as the directors do not consider the effect on the prior period financial
statements Lo be material.

AL software, with 4 net book value ot €1,606,000 at 31 August 2022 (€9.148,000 at 31 August 2021), was reclassified
from furniture and fixtures in property. plant and equipment (o intangible assets W better reflect the nature of the underlying
assets.

**+*Costs and related accumulated amortisation associated with licences have been reclassified from student registry
{previously reported as Acquired intangible assets) to other intangible assets during the year to better reflect the underlying
nature of the asset. No changes were required 1o the expected useful life of the asset. The prior year comparatives have
not been reclassified as the impact to Group intangible assets and net assets was deemed immaterial Lo restate.

Individually material intangible assets with definite useful lives

Average Average

remaining remaining

Carrying amortisation Carrying amortisation

amount period amount period

2023 2023 2022 2022

Student registry €000°s Years €000's Years

Tomds Alva Edison School 11.825 5 12.910 6

St George's School (Peru) 17,422 6 21.872 7

Riviera Preparatory and Day Schoals 15.856 8 19.318 9

Fuairmont Schools 12.380 7 - -

St George Madrid 14.476 12 - -
Goodwill

The grouping of CGUs for the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill are listed below.

. . Year ended Year ended
(in €000°s) 31 August 2023 31 August 2022
Carrying amount
Al Nibras International Private School LI1.C 29.454 32.080
Asia Pacific Schools 34,163 38.485
Bellevue Children’s Academy 14.540 15,763
British Education Management, $.1.. 26,878 26,878
Claremont School (St Leonard's) Limited - 25.545
Colegios Pedro De Valdivia 18,658 19,349
Instituto Thomas JefTerson 14.912 13.446
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NOTE 13- INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL {(continued)

P Year ended Year ended
(in €060°5) 31 August 2023 31 August 2022
Carrying amount
Kehoe-France 4,998 3.419
[.a Colina School 4.102 4.177
Liceo Panamericano. Colegio La Moderna 21.575 23.391
Montessori Academy of Broward 5.899 6.396
Park House English School 16.593 17.871
Reach British School L1.C 2.565 2.794
St Jude School 4.329 3,936
St George's School (Peru) 28.378 30.767
Tenby Schools 41.220 46.433
Tomds Alva Edison School 20.535 18.535
Rowntree Moniessori Schools 8.004 8.988
Lynn-Rose School 2,370 2,661
Mile Bilingua! Schoot 11,210 11.210
British School of Geneva 16.870 16,583
British Royal School 23.368 24,234
Rivigra Preparatory and Dy Schools 83,126 89,047
Straits International Education Group 8477 8935
Feole Mosaic 9.843 9.556
Colegio Terranova 16,082 10,668
St. Mary s School 13,578 15.314
Star International School - -
Bosten School Intermational 17,631 -
Leonardo da Vinci Scuola Paritaria 19,243 -
Manthan International School 22.853 -
British School of Wilanow 16,573 -
Alexandria International School 3.205 -
Fairmont Schools 76.652 -
The English College Dubai 16,896 -
Berda Claude International School of -
Phuket (BCIS) 16.843
St. George Madrid 44.189 -
Aubrick 23,454 -
Bangkok International Preparatory and -
Secondary School 27.664

764,652 o 528,461
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NOTE 13- INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries in the year ended 31 August 2023 was allocated as per the below lable (sce note

EA N

€00¢’s
Baston School international 19.582
.eonardo da Vinel Scuela Paritaria 19.243
Manthan Enternational Schoot 23.767
British Schuol of Wilanow 13.910
Alexandria International Schoo! 3.205
Fairmont Schools 77.386
The English College Dubui 16.786
Berda Claude International School of Phuket (BCTS) 17.220
St. George Madrid 44.189
Aubrick 26.672
Bangkok International Preparatory and Secondary
School 28,303
Total 294,265

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries in the year ended 31 August 2022 was allocaled as per the below table. Sce note
29 for calculations ol goodwill per acquisition.

€000°s
Ecole Mosaic 8,785
Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools 77436
Straits International Education Group 8.680
St. Mary’s School 14421
Colegio Terranova 10.016
Star International School -
Total 119,338

Impairment review

The recoverable amount of goodwill is assessed on an annual basis tor impairment. The recoverable amount ol the CGUSs
is based on the higher of fair value less cost ol disposal ("FVLCD™) and value in use {~VIU™). Management’s initial
assessment is based on a FVLCD test, with the key assumptions being finked to estimating the multiples applied and
forecasting the EBITDA appropriately at the CGU level. If this initial assessment gives rise t 4 potential impairment,
management then perform a detailed VIU assessment to determine the recoverable amount.

FVLCD is determined by multiplying the budgeted normalised EBITDA for the following (inancial year. by a muitiple.
based on the market expectation of multiples applied in the education industry. The multiple is adjusted for several factors
relevant to each CGU, primarily location. The directors have elected not to disclose the multiples used. as disclosure would
be prejudicial Lo the interests of the entity. The valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value hicrarchy, duc (o use
of the EBITDA muliiple, which is an unobservabie input. in the valuation. Budgeted normalised LBITDA for FY24 was
forecasted from the balance sheet date., as approved by the board, and adjusted, where appropriale, to reflect market
participant’s assumptions.
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NOTE 13— INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment review {continued)

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU's exceeded the carrying amount by approximately €1.204.2 million (2022:
€1.277.1 million). Management has identified that no reasonable possible change in the exit multiple could cause the total
carrying amount to exceed the total recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by which the exit multiple
assumption would need to change collectively lor the estimate recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.

2023 2022
Change in exil multiple 47% 66%

Value-in-Use

Where the excess of the recoverable amount over the carrying amount fell below management’s threshold, a VIU was
prepared. Management calceulated this threshold as 50% ol average goodwill acquired on acquisition. This threshold was
deemed to signify there was no indicators of impairment and no further assessment required. A VIU assessment was
performed for nine CGUs as a resull. Acquisitions that oceurred within financial year ended 31 August 2023 wcre also
considered for impairment. The acquisitions of St. George Madrid and Manthan International School were highlighted as
requiring further analysis after performing the FVLCD assessment. Management performed a review of the CGU’s
performance post acquisition against the investment case Completed at the time of the acquisition. Both CGU’s have
demonstrated that they are meeting or exceeding expected performance. Theretore, we arc satislied that the goodwill does
nol require impairment for these acquisitions.

The value-in-use model incorporated the following key assumptions:

Key Assumption Management Rationale

Revenue growth — Driver: fee increases Unless restricted by regulatory guidelines. internal forccasts incorporated
within the value in use calculations assume annual fee increases over the
relevant DCF period appropriate to the markets in which we operate. Fee
increases for all CGUs are based on intlation, adjusted for circumstances
specitic to that CGLU. and in line with historical growth.

Revenue growth — Driver: pupil numbers Pupil numbers are determined based on past performance and market
trends where relevant, specific 1 the market in which the CGU operates.

Revenue growth — Driver: additional Expansion projects were not considered within the value in use
capacily *caleulations. unless they were considered 1o have substantially
commenced. No such projects existed at the time the assessment was
performed.

Cost base Future costs within the forecast period have been determined based on
previous  spend  observed, whilst incorporating  future  expected
inflationary increases and the incremental costs associated with an
increase in organic growth and any other known cost,

Terminal growth rate Terminal growth rates have been cstimated using a combination of
macroeconomic indicators within the region the CGU operates in.
Inflation. both current and forccasted, along with growth in Gross
- Domestic Product ("GDP™) were considered. The weighting of these
factors was adjusted where relevant, specific to the region the CGU
operates in.

Foreeast period The VIU modeis have been performed over a five-year forecast period
and a terminal growth value thereafter,

Discount rates Based on the estimated post-tax weighted average cost of capital, specific
to cach geographical region and inclusive of the Group's cost ol debt.
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NOTE 13- INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

The average of the abov e assumptions over the five-year forecast period are as below tor euch VIU performed:

Cost
Cash Generating Unit inflation
Reach British School LLC 2.0%
Colegios Pedro De Valdivia 3.2%
Al Nibras International Private School 11.C 2.0%
Lynn-Rose School 4.2%
Claremont School (8t Leonard™s) Limited 2.0%
Asia Pacitic Schools 34%
Ecole Mosaic 2.0%
Straits International Bducation Group 3.4%
Star International School 2.0%

Terminal
growth rate

3 4%
5.0%
3.4%
3.6%
2.9%
4.0%
2.0%
4.0%
34%

Discount rates
8.9%

14.3%

8.9%

14.5%

12.5%

11.2%

9.1%

11.2%

8.9%

The results of the impairment assessment are as below, with recoverable amount being the higher of FVLCD and VI

Carrying
Cash Generating Unit amount
Reach British School LI.C 33,918
Colegios Pedro DNe Valdivia 69,325
Al Nibras International Private School LI.C 35.338
[ynn-Rosc School 14,684
Claremont School (St Leonard’s) [Limited 38.923
Asia Pacific Schools 49007
Ecole Mosaic 10,648
Straits International Education Group 4.695
Star Tnternational School 41.558

international Schools Partnership - Confidential Document

Recoverable
amounnt

39,492
108.577
50814
21.416
13,771
57.098
29.119
37.791
97,933

Goodwill
impairment
recognised

(25.132)
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NOTE 13 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (continued)

Sensitivity Analysis
Fhe Group has conducied a sensitivity analysis on the impairment assessment of cuch CGUs recoverable amount, as the
assessments are sensitive to changes in underlying forecast cashilows. The following assumptions were sensitised, with
all other assumptions held constant:

- anincrease of 1% in post-tax discount rate utilised in the DCF;

- a 0% rclative deerease in terminal growth rate: and

- a 3% relative decrease in EBIT.

This would result in an impairment charge to the reles ant CGUs as follows:

10% relative 5% relative

1% increase in decrease in decrease in

discount rate terminal growth EBIT

€°000 €000 €000

Reach British School 1LLC 3.281 - -
Colegios Pedro De Valdivia - - -
Al Nibras International Private School LEC - - -
Lynn-Rose School - - 400
Claremont School (5t Leonard’s) Limited 22,075 20.023 20516

Asia Pacific Schools - - -
Ecole Mosaic - - -
Straits International Education Group - - -

Star International School - - -

Impairment loss
Claremont School (St Leonard's) imited

Since acquisition, Claremont has performed poorly in recent times. Enrolment growth has fallen significantly below
forecasted rates and EBITDA margin has been below torecast. This has been driven by a higher-than-cxpected cost base.
Management is making signiticant efforts to improve the performance of the CGU by addressing the issues noted as part
of the review and expect an improvement going forward. The performance challenges have resulled in a full write down
of the goodwill balunce. An impairment charge 0f €25,152.000 has been included in the statement of comprehensive (loss)
/income for the year ended 31 August 2023,
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NOTE 14— PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The table below shows the movements in property. plant and equipment in the vear o 31 August 2023 including additions.
transfers from construction in progress (~CIP7), disposals, effect of movements in exchange rates and acquisitions.

Fixtures.
L.and and fittings and Other

buildings equi pment assety CIP Total
€000 €000°s €0040's €100 €00D’'s
Cost at 1 September 202 628 503 73785 201201 11862 734,331
Acquistiion ot subsidiars 156839 §.662 7 G 165517
Additions 48 B8 14 867 20065 9,302 75,118
Ihsposals (3677) (2720 (310) - (6,907)
Assels held tor sale (note 12 (X446 - - - (8,446)
Transter trom CIP 733 376 3 (1312 -
Reclassitication 1.377 1. 866 1139) (1.367) 1,737
Rectussification to mtangible assets (note 131% - (12.798) - - (12,798)
{i:;::;:);t:;):l)”ojr!r::rr value adpustments on land previoushy 17 394 _ (12.324) ) _
Reclassification for incorrect categonisation of a bulding 7784 - - - 7,784
Fxchange difterence ¥5 847 15,857 4319 | .380) 102,603
Cost at 31 Aungust 2022 EXTHiR 1 Y3.095 13542 200,074 1,058,939
Acquisition ol subsidrany 417682 7.327 234 1115 426,358
Addians 11160 20916 2967 31.683 166,628
Iisposals (12424 (1.3735) (393) - (14,194)
Transter trom CIP 1711 2092 1.185 (13.988) -
Reclassification 7.267 4.3536 (305) (3980 5,368
Reclassification 1o mtangible assets (note 13)* - (3.201) - - (3.261)
Right-of-use lease moditicatons 15.979) - - - (5,979)
ifj;}n;;gznl:’iimn.ctmn to nght-ofl-use lease caleulanions (7.040) ) ) ) (7.040)
Exchange difference 154.938) {6.139) (1.357) (1.101) {63.535)
Cost at 31 August 2023 1.396.597 119011 13871 31,805 1.563,284
Depreciation at | September 2021 (104.624) (33.48t) (3.333) - {141,637)
epreciation charge (30.482) (12.988) (1.416) - (44.886)
Iisposals 2820 1.932 334 - 5,086
Asscts held for sale (note 12 1.318 - - - 1,518
Rectassiication (714 ({696H) (327 - (1.737)
ReclassiNneation ty intangible assets (note 13)* - 3.650 - - 3.650
Reclasstiicastion for meorreet categonisation of a butlding (843) - 843 - -
Reversal of excess depreciation on 4 leased building 4012 - - - 4912
Exchange ditterences (16409 (6533 (2278} - (25213
Depreciation at 31 August 2022 {143817) (48,115} (6377 - (198.309)
Depreciation charge (39.881) {l6.478) (3.270) - (39,633
Impairment charge - 4 (73) 1360) (479)
Disposals 14.393 1.083 w9 - 11.585
Reclassibication (1.698} 4.313) 643 - {5.368)
ReclasstDeation to intangible assets (note 133* - 1.633 - - 1655
Right-ot-use lease modificanions 12,607 - - - 12.607

Recogmition of correction o right-of-use lease caleulations
undc;!FRS 1** i 1.836 . i . L.A36
Fxchange diftferences 8184 3.688 1.000) 10 12.882
Depreciation at 31 \uguee 2023 1132376} (62 308) (7.984) (336) (123224)
NBV at 1 September 202) 323939 400,303 16388 171.862 392,694
“BVat 31 August 2022 786,411 16,980 7163 20074 R61,630
NBV at 31 August 2023 1244221 56,303 7.887 31449 1,540,060
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NOTE 14 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the vear.

Fixtures,
Land and fittings and
buildings equipment Total
€000’s €000's €000’s
Net book value at | September 2021 211,207 240 211,447
Acquisitions 90126 - 90.126
Additions 31,756 417 32,173
Depreciation charge {18,704) (200) (18.904)
Reversal of excess depreciation on a leased
building*** 4912 - 4912
Exchange differences 28.751 33 28.804
Net book value at 31 August 2022 348,048 510 348.558
Acquisitions 315,782 - 315.782
Additions 99.241 541 99,782
Depreciation charge (25.567) (248) (25.813)
Right-of-use lcase modifications 6,627 - 6.627
Recognition of correction to right-of-use lcase
calculations under IFRS 16%* {5,203) - (5.203)
Exchange differences {26,320} (24) (26.344)
Net book value at 31 August 2023 712,608 779 713,387

*Costs and related accumulated amortisation of 11 software have been reclassitied from turniture and fixtures in property.
plant and equipment to intangible asscts during the year to better reflect the underlying nature of the asscts. The prior year
comparatives have not been reclassified as the impact w Group property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and net
assets was deemed immaterial to restate.

**Right-ol~use lease calculations prepared in & prior period. in accordance with IFRS 16, have been adjusted in the year
ended 31 August 2023 to correct the timing ot contractual payments and include renewal periods not previously
considered. An adjustment of €2.867.000 was made to decrease the right-of-use land and building asset net book value,
cost was reduced by €7,040.000 and accumulated depreciation reduced by €4.172.000. of which €2.336,000 is inctuded
in right-of-usc depreciation charge tor the current year. The related lease liability was increased by €9,173,000, of which
€3505.000 is included in finance costs, refer Lo note 20. An adjustment of €14.883,000 is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive {loss) / income as variahle lease payments, giving a net effect on the current year of protfit before tax of
€12,042.000. The prior year comparatives have not been restated as the impact to Group property. plant and equipment
and nct assets is deemed immaterial to restate.

***Accumulated depreciation on a leased building was adjusted in the prior year to correct for €4,912.000 of excess
depreciation taken erroneously on the assel in prior periods. This was adjusted o prior year opening retained carnings.
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NOTE 15-TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31 August 31 August
(in €000°s) 2023 2022
Non-current
Amount due from related party (note 27) - 3.231
Other receivables §.660 5.908
Deposits 14.379 -
23,039 92,199
Current o -
Tradc receivables 41.117 21,133
VAT receivable 961 -
Other receivables 15996 9.925
Deposits 19,229 22928
77,303 54,006

Trade and other receivables are classified as current if the terms and conditions for payment are within the next 12 months.

See financial risk management (notc 3) and financial instruments (note 19) for further information on valuation and
recognition of trade receivables.

The amount receivable trom related party in the prior year was due from Permotio International Learning S.a.r.l the
immediate parent company of the Group. During the year the balance was repaid and as at 31 August 2023, the related

party is in a payable position, which has been reported in trade and other payables (note 22).

Other receivables do not contain any sigaiticant individual balances and the balances apparcnt are ditferent in nature. The
most signilicant balance relates to amounts owed trom parties associated 1o a school.

Past due receivables and doubttul debts are provided for in tull. with costs going through other costs.

NOTE 16 — PREPAYMENTS

. \ 31 August 31 August
(in €000°s) 2023 2022
Prepayments 20.704 11,450
Prepaid consideration 27,233 -
Total 47,937 11,450

Prepaid consideration relates to the acquisition of the trade and asscts of Colegio Bilingue New Horizons, which completed
subseyuent to vear end on 31 October 2023, The full consideration was transferred during the vear and held in a reserve
account pending a tax ruling. Refer to note 30 for turther details.
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NOTE 17 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

. . 31 August 31 August
(in €000°s) 2023 2022
Bank balances 135.741 108.733
Total 135,741 108,733

NOTE 18 - EQUITY
18.1 Share capital and share premium

As at 31 August 2023, the Company had issucd and outstanding 1.401.941.247 Ordinary shares ot €0.00001 each (2022:
1,401,941.247 Ordinary shares o €0.00001 cach).

No ordinary shares were issued during the year. The Company received funds o'€106.017.363 (rom the sharcholders prior
to year end [or the issue of one (1) ordinary share at 2 nominal value of €0.00001, however the allotment of the share. and
subsequent reduction of the share premium account, was completed subsequent to year end on 14 September 2023, As
such, the funds received have been recognised in other reserves for the year ended 31 August 2023 and will be reclassified
to the appropriale equity accounts in 2024,

During the prior year. the previously issued class A, A1, B1,B2, C, I}, and E ordinary shares were subdivided so that each
had a par value of €0.00001. The shares were subsequently redesignated as Ordinary shares at a par value of €0.00001
per share. Lach share has fuli rights in the Company with respect o voling, dividends and distributions.

Capfital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the business. The Group does this through both reinvesting in the business and seeking Lo maintain
a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and sccurity
afforded by a sound capital position. The Group monitors capital using an adjusted nct leverage ratio which aligns with
its largest external banking agreement.

31 August 31 August

2023 2022

Allotted, called up and fully paid €000s €000s
Share premium 394,477 394,477
Ordinary shares 14 14

18.2 Capital contribution reserve

The reserve comprises contributions made 1o the Company {rom its shareholders. other than in exchange for the issue of
cquily instruments.
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NOTE 18§ — EQUITY {continued)

18.3 Other reserves

Ihe reserve includes the following:
- recognises the value of equity scttled share-bused pay ments provided o employees. including key management
persennet. as part of their remuneration, refer to note 26 for (urther details of the plan:
- recoghises amounts received from the Company sharcholders for issue of shares that have not yel been allotted.
refer to note 18.1 above; and
- recognises preference shares that have been deemed as equity.

The disaggregation of changes of other reserve items is shown below:

Total

Share-based Preference Prepaid other

pa¥ments shares shares reserves

€000°s €000’s €000's €000°s

Balance at 1 September 2021 - - - -
Share-based pavments (note 26) 1.000 - - 1.000
Balance at 31 August 2022 1,000 - - 1,000
Share-based payments (note 26} 1.000 - - 1,000
Issuance ol preference shares - 211 - 211
Prepayment tor issuance of shares - - 106.017 106,017
Balance at 31 August 2023 2,000 211 106,017 108,228

18.4 Translation reserves

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net assets of the Group™s forcign operations from their
functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency (Fura ~€7), are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve.
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NOTE 18 - EQUITY (continued)
18.5 Other components of equity

The disaggregation of changes ot other comprehensive income items by each type of other components of equily is shown

below:
Total
Cash flow hedge Cost of hedging  other components
reserve reserve of equity
€000’s €000°s €000°s
Balance at 1 September 2021 - - -
[nterest rate caps change in fair value (26,264) 2,656 (23.608)
Reclassified to stalement ol profit or loss - (74%) (745)
Tax movements on reserves during the year 4,990 (363) 4.627
Balance at 31 August 2022 (21,274) 1,548 (19,726)
[nterest raie caps change in tair value (12,981) 9433 (3,548)
Reclassified to stalement of profit or loss - (1.43%) (1.433)
Tax movements on reserves during the vear 4,821 (2,114) 2,707
Balance at 31 August 2023 (29,434) 7,432 (22,002)

18.6 Non-controlling interests

The Group’s subsidiaries with non-controlling interests are as follows:

- ISP Kchoe Holdings 1.1.C, Kehoe-France Ine.. Kechoe-I'rance Day Camp, Inc.. River Forest Partners LLC, and
France Family Partners LLP, which are all, direetly or indirectly. owned 95%.

- St Marv's Fdumangement Services Privale Limited and St Mary’s Society. which are euach. directly and
indirectty. owned 73%.

- Star Schools Holding Limited and Star International School LLC. which are each. directly and indirectly, owned
80%.

- SMAcrocity Eduserve Private Limited, which is dircctly owned 75%

- Boston School SA. which is directly owned 90%,

- British Primary School of Wilanow Sp.z.0.0 Limited and British Nursery of Wilanow Sp.7.0.0. which are ¢ach
directly owncd 90%

- Fnglish College Toldings Ltd and English College Dubai LLC. which are cach. directly and indirectly, owned
80%

- Niucleo Lducacional Moema §/8 Ltda, which is directly owned 90%

- ISP Holdings 3 Ltd, which is directly owned 49%

- ISP Holdings 2 T.1d, ISP Holdings 1 Ltd. ISP Thai Holdings [.td. Fducation Holdings (Thaifand) 1.1d. Phuket
International Education Centre Co Ltd. and Berda Claude International School of Phuket. which are cach. directly
and indircctly. owned 73.99%

- Systems Litte House Lid and Bangkok International Prepuaratory and Secondary School, which are each. directly
and indirectly. owned 68.42%

I'he Group has not disclosed information relating to IFRS 12.10¢a)ii), 12, B10-11, as no Group subsidiaries have a
material non-controlling interest. Please refer to notes 24, 29 and the appendix for further information.
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NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
19.1 Fair value measurement
The following table shows the carrying amounts and tair valucs ot financial asscts and liabilitics. including their levels in

the fair valug hierarchy . Tt does not include fair value information for financial asscts and liabilitics nol measured at {air
value if the carrying amount is a reasonable appraximation of (air value.

Carrying amount Fair value (level 2)
2023 2022 2023 2022
€ 000 € 600 € 000 € 000
Other financial assets
Intcrest rate swaps - 236 - 236
Interest rate caps not designated as a hedging instrument - 1.174 - 1.174
Interest rate caps designated as a hedging instrument 33.711 27913 33,711 27.913
33,711 29,323 33,711 29,323
Carrying amount Fair value (level 3)
2023 2022 2023 2022
€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000
Other financial liabilities
Interest rate cap designated as a hedging instrument (1.745) - (1,745) -
Imerest rate cap and collar designated as a hedging instrument (60) - (60) -
Contingent and deferred consideration (77.348) (16,719) {77.348) (16,719)
(79.153) (16,719) (79,153) (16,719}

The lair value of cash and cash equivalents. trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and term deposits, are
considered be the same as their carrying amounts largely due o the short-term nature.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplitied approach to measuring expected credit losses which calculates a litetime expected
toss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses. trade receivables have been grouped based
on geographical location and other credit risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on historic payment profiles and the corresponding credit losses experienced. These loss
rates are adjusted and stress tested to reflect current and forward looking data on inflation, unemployment and other
macrocconomic factors. The details of the trade receivable provision are disclosed in note 5{d).

The initial fair value of the liability pottion of borrowings are determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liabilities are subsequently recognised on an amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or maturity. When calculating the fair value of the borrowings, consideration has been made
lo the market rate. maturity and significance of the borrowing.

The derivative contracts are measured at fair value, which is determined using valuation techniques that utilise observable
inputs. The key assumptions used in valuing the derivatives are the Euribor rates.

The contingent consideration is measured at tair value, which is based on the expected payment determined by calculating
cash out flows under possible earn out seenarios and discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

During the vear ended 31 August 2023 and 31 August 2022, there were no reclassitications in or out of the Tevel 2 and
Level 3 fair value categories.
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NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
19.2 Derivative instruments

The Group is exposed o certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risk managed using
derivative instruments is interest rate risk.

The Group's risk management strategy and how it is applied to manage risk are explained in note 3.

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate caps - 1.174
Interest rate swaps - 236
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Interest rate caps. net 33711 27913
[nicrest rate cap (1.745) -
Inicrest rate cap and collar {60) -
Total derivative instruments at fair value 31,906 29,323
Current - 1.410
Non-current 31,900 27913

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments rcflect the positive change in fair value of interest rate caps and swaps
not designated as hedge contracts but are intended to reducc the level of interest rate risk in the bank loans.

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments reflect the positive change in fair value of interest rute caps designated as
cash flow hedges to hedge highly probable movements in the interest rate on the bank loans. There were no derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in the prior vear.

The derivatives designated as hedging instruments are classified as cash flow hedges.

In January 2022, the Group entered inlo interest rate cap conlracts in order to reduce the expected volaltility attributable to
interest rate fluetuations in the Euribor on the bank loans. During the year, the Group entered into an additional interest
rate cap coniract and an intercest rate cap and collar contract to further reduce the interest rate risk. Hedging the interest
rate volatility in Euribor is in accordance with the risk management strategy determined by management.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items and the hedging instruments as the terms ol the interest rate
caps maich the terms ot the expected highly probable forecast transactions. The Group has established a hedge ratio of 50
to 90% ol its estimated interest rate risk exposure on the bank loans for the hedging relationship. To test the hedge
ctfeetiveness. the Group compares the critical terms matching. and if there is a deviation, compares changes in the fair
value of the hedging instruments against the changes in tair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks.

The hedge ineftectiveness can arise {rom:
¢ Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the hedged items and the hedging instruments
e The counterpartics” credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instruments and
hedged items
¢ Changes to the forecasted amount of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments
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NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
19.2 Derivative instruments (continued)

As al 31 August 2023, the Group is holding the tollowing derivative instruments:

- three interest rate caps with a wtal nominal amount of €694.4m. The contracts have a term of 3 vears and are due
o mature on 23 January 2025, 26 February 2025 and 22 March 2025, The instruments protect the Group from
rate increases in the Euribor above 0.5%;

- one interest rate cap with a nominal amount of €825m. The contract has an etfective date ot 31 March 2023,
becoming effective as the above three contracts expire, and is due to mature on 31 December 2026, Instrument
protects the Group from rate increases in the Furibor above 3.5%; and

- onc interest rate cap and collar with a nominal amount of €200m. The contract has an effective date of 30
September 2024 and matures on 31 March 2025, The instrument eftectively guarantees the Group a tloaling
interest rate between the Euribor rates of 4.25% and 2.73%. [ Euribaor (alls below 2.75%, the Group will be
required to pay the difference in rates, however if the Euribor rises above 4.15% the Group will receive cashilows.

19.3 Hedging activities
The impact of the hedging instruments on the statement of financial position is as follows:

Change in fair
value used for

Nominal Carrying Line item in the statement of mes!surmg
. i ineffectiveness
amount amount financial position .
for the period
€000 €000 €000
As at 31 August 2023
Interest rate caps 694,350 33.711 Non-current financial assets -
Interest rate cap 823,000 (1.745) Other non-current financial liabilities -
Interest rate cap and collar 200,000 (60 Qther non-current financial liabilitics -
As at 31 August 2022
Interest rate caps 482,330 27913 Non-current financial assets -

The impact of hedged items on the stalement of financial position is as follows:

Change in fair Balances remaining in the cash flow

value used for Cash flow (’OSt_ of hedge reserve from hedging
. hedge hedging . ) R
measuring relationships for which hedge
. . reserve reserve . .

ineffectiveness accounting is no longer applied

€000 €000 €000 €000
As at 31 August 2023

Bank loans - (29.434) 7.932 -
As at 31 August 2022

Rank loans - (21274 1.548 -
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NOTE 19 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

19.3 Hedging activities (continued)

The impact ol the cash flow hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCT™) is as tollows:

Total Amount
hedging Cost of  reclassified
gain [Ineffectiveness hedging from OClI Line item in the
recognised recognised in recognised to profitor statement of profit
in OCI profit or loss in OCI loss or loss
€000 €000 €000 €000
Year ended 31 Angust 2023
Interest rate caps (12.981) - 8,929 (1.435) Finance cosl
Interest rate cap and collar - - 304 - Finance cost
Year ended 31 August 2022
Interesl rale caps (26.264) - 2,656 (743) Finance cost
19.4 Contingent and deferred consideration
Contingent Deferred
consideration consideration Total
€000°s €000°s €000°s
At 1 September 2021 2,232 7,620 9,852
Acquisitions {notec 29) 4,153 3.276 9431
Payments (1,063) {1,988) (3.053)
Release to the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income (L.167) - (1.167)
Exchange differences 98 1.558 1.656
At 31 August 2022 4,253 12,466 16,719
Acquisitions (note 29} 30,673 21,715 72,388
Additions 3.679 - 3.679
Payments - (11.170) {11,170}
Release o the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income (3.531) 415 (3,116)
Exchange differences {84)) (312) (1,152)
At 31 August 2023 54,234 23,114 77.348
Current 18.900 11.943 30.843
Non-curreat 35.334 11.171 46.505

Refer to note 29 for details on the nature of the arrangements and fair value meastirement of the consideration related to

the acquisitions.

The provision for the contingent consideration on St Mary s School was trued up by €3.679.000 during the vear to reflect
the final ERITDA underlying the contingent consideration calculation. A portion of the Star International School provision
of €3.331.000 was released due to post-acquisition updates. The net impact was recognised in the statement of

comprehensive (loss) / income for the year.
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NOTE 20 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. which

are carried at amortised cost. Refer to note 5 for information about the Group™s exposure 1o inferest rate and foreign

currcney risk.

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Non-current loans and
borrowings
Bank loans 1.271.720 821,500
Borrowing costs (18.816) (16,686}
[Lease liabilitics 696,021 387.726
Other loans 18,719 33.819
1,967,644 1,226,359
Current loans and borrowings
Bank loans 12,509 5.539
Borrowing cosls (9,327) (6.991)
[.ease liabilities 11,158 10,419
Other loans 11,359 4,100
Related party loan (note 27) 8.488 -
34,187 13,067
Total loans and borrowings 2,001,831 1,239,426
Terms and repayment schedule
The amounts below include principal and acerued interest.

. . 31 August
(in €000°s) Currency Interest rate Maturity 31 August 2023 2022
Debt facility Furo  Euribor+3.75% July 2028 1,203,321 776.983

Euribor+ January

Revolving credit facility Luro 2.75%-3.50% 2028 80.908 50.054
Borrowing costs l-uro nfa July 2028 {28.143) (23.677)
Teasc liabilities Varies Varies Vaties 707.179 398.145
Other loans Varies Varics Varies 30,078 37919
Related party loan (note

27) Baht 6.00%  On demand 8.488 -
Total loans and borrowings 2,001,831 1,239,426
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NOTE 20 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

During the year, the Group increased its debt facility for new acquisitions and working capital purposes by €670.000.000
and €75.000,000 respectively. The new debt tacility has an interest rate of 6.50% + Euribor and matures 6 July 2028. The
new revolving credil facility has an interest rate of 3.50% plus Furibor and matures on 6 January 2028, Both lacilities can
be drawn on in cither the Furo or US currency. Nothing was drawn in year.

As at 31 August 2023, the Group bad a tolal available debt tacility of €1.870.000.,000 (2022: €1.200,000.000). of which
€1,190,400,000 (2022: €771,500,000) was drawn. In addition, the Group had a total available revolving credit lacility of
€125.000,000 (2022: €50.000.000). of which €80.000.000 (2022: €50.000.000) was drawn. The amounts drawn refer to
the principal amount of the debt and do not include related accrued interest.

Loans and borrowings include capitalised deal fees of €28.143,000 (2022: €23.677,000), including €11,457.000 of deal
fees incurred during the year in relation to refinancing. The fees are being amortised over a period in line with the maturity
of the term loan and acquisition tacility (5 years).

Other loans relate 1o loans held by subsidiaries across the Group, mainly in Spain, Italy and Thailand (2022: Spain and
United States), which have varving intercst and repayment periods. During the year. in addition to regular principal
repayments. a bank loan of €20.000,000 in the United States was repaid in tull, Two new loans. totalling €15,700.000,
were assumed in the acquisitions of Leonardo da Vinei Scuola Paritaria and Bangkok International Preparatory and
Secondary School, reter to note 29,

If the Group exceeded its leverage covenant (11.75:1 maximum permitted as at 31 August 2023) and is not cured (if
capable of being cured) within 20 business days of the delivery of the compliance certificate. the term loan and acquisition
facility would become repayable on demand. The Group did not exceed this leverage covenant as at 31 August 2023 and
does nol expect to over the going concern period. see note 1.

he shares of ISP Chile Limited, ISP Colombia Limited, ISP Costa Rica Limited, ISP Ecuador Limited, 18P India l.imited,
ISP Malaysia Limited, ISP Neorth America Limiled, TSP Peru Limited. ISP Vietnam Limited, PIL Furope Holdings
Limited. P1Il. Mexico Holdings 1 Limited. PI. Mexico Haoldings 2 Limited, PIl. Middle East Holdings Limited, and PIL.
LK Holdings | Limited have been pledged as security for the loan.

Leases as a lessee
The Group recognises right-ofeuse assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet in line with [FRS 16,

Right-of-use assels
Right-of-use asscts related to lease properties that do not meet the definition of investment properties are presented as
propertly. plant and equipment (sce note 14).

The Group lcascs school buildings, T.eases typically run for a period ol up to 25 years. though the longest unexpired lease
term is 170 years. The maturily of the lease liabilitics is disclosed in note 5.

Included in the statement of comprehensive (loss) / income:

(in €000's) Year ended Year ended
31 August 2023 31 August 2022

Interest expensc on lease liabilities 33.622 23.552

Expenses related to short-term and low value leases 5.882 4.050

Fxpenses refated to variable [case payments not

included i the measurement of lease liabilities 2,062 -

Total 41,566 27,602
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NOTE 20 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Bank Derivative Derivative

loans and  IL.ease liabilities financial financial
(in €000°s) borrowings asset liability Total
Balance at | September 2022 841.281 368.143 (29.5323) - 1.210.103
Changes from financing cash
flows
Proceeds {rom new bank loan 449,115 - - - 449,115
Repayment of borrowings (27.168) - - - (27.168)
Repayment of leases - (44.173) - - (44.173)
Capitalised borrowing costs {12,150 - - - (12.150)
Interest paid (91961 - - {443) (92.406)
Total changes from financing cash
flows 317.836 (44.173) - {445) 273,218
Other changes
Lease additions - 99 820 - - 99.820
Liabilitics acquired 28.145 231.095 - - 239240
Unrcalised (gain)/ loss on
derivatives - - (4.388) 2.250 {2.138)
Interest expense 108.007 33.622 - - 141.629
Right-of-use lease modifications - 3,250 - - 5.250
Recognition of comection of right-
of-use lease calculations under IFRS
16* - 9,680 - - 9.680
Exchange differences (617) {26.259) - - (26.876)
Total other changes 135,535 353.208 (4.388) 2.250 486.605
Balance at 31 August 2023 1,294,652 7179 (33,711 1,805 1,969,925

*Right-of-use lease caleulations prepared in a prior period, in accordance with IFRS 16, have been adjusted in the year
ended 31 August 2023 o correct the timing of contractual payments and include renewal periods not previously
considered. An adjustment of €2,867.000 was madc to decrease the right-of-use tand and building assct net book value,
cost was reduced by €7.040,000 and accumulated deprecialion reduced by €4.172.000, of which €2,336,000 is included
in right-of-use depreciation charge for the current vear, refer o note 14, The related lease liability was increased by
€9.175,000, of which €503,000 is included in finance costs. An adjustment ol €14.883.000 is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive (loss) / income as variable lease payments, giving a net effect on the current year of profit before tax of
€12.042.000. The prior year comparatives have not been restated as the impact to Group property, plant and equipment
and net assets is deemed immaterial to restate.

71

International Schools Partnership - Confidential Document



Consolidated financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 20 - LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Reconciliation of mavements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities (continued)

Bank Derivative

loans and Lease financial
{in €000's) borrowings liabilities asset Total
Balance at 1 September 2021 770368 280,792 - 1.051.160
Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from new bank loan 46.500 - - 46,500
Repayment of borrowings (30.788) - - (30,788)
Repayment of leases - (27.016) - (27.016)
Capitalised borrowing costs {612) - - (612)
Interest paid (68.972) - {4.449) (73.421)
Total changes from financing cash flows (33.872) {27.016) {4,449) (85.337)
Other changes
[ ease additions - 31.559 31.559
Liabilities acquired 48.012 5R8.445 2.343 108.800
Unrealised gain on derivatives - - {27.606) (27.606)
Interest expense 76.773 23,552 - 100.325
Reversal of excess interest expense previously
recognised on a leased building** - (5.277) - (3.277)
Exchange differences - 36,090 389 26479
Tatal other changes 124.783 144,569 (24.874) 244,280
Balance at 31 August 2022 841,281 398,145 {29,323 1,210,103

**[_gase liability related to a lcased building was adjusted during the prior year o correct lor €5,277,000 of excess finance
lease interest taken crroncously on the lease in prior periods. This was adjusted o prior year opening retained carnings.
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NOTE 21 - PROVISIONS

€000°s
At 1 September 2021 }
Arising during the vear 850
At 31 August 2022 830
Arising during the year 345
At 31 August 2023 1,235

Tn 2022, the Group introduced a long-term incentive plan ("L'TIP™) which grants awards based or performance w certain
employees of the Group. The awards are granted annually to employcces that meet specilied performance targets tor the
vear. All awards will vest at the time of the Group™s next equity refinancing. which is deemed to be in 3 vears. Entitfement
1o the awards is subject to continued employment up to, ard including. the vesting date. an employ ee feaves employment
before the vesting date, with exception of redundancy. the employee will torgo the right o any awards previously granted.

The fair value of the ITIP at 31 August 2023 was €1.235.000 (2022: €890.000). The fair value was calculated based on
the expected present value of the probability-weighted average of all possible future cash flows, based on the issued and
outstanding awards at 31 August 2023. The liability is remeasured at tair value at each reporting date, up to and including
the vesting date. Any changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss for the period. The total expensc recognised for
the period in staff costs in respect of the LTIP was €345.000 (2022: €890.000).

NOTE 22 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 Avgust 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Amount due to related party (note 27) 134 -
Trade payables 20,633 14,445
Payroll payables 20.079 12.166
Payroll taxes payables 6,006 340
Capex payables 3,257 2,197
VAT payable B 1,761
Other payables 13,080 11,248
Accruals 67,026 29,362
Total 132,215 74,590

The amount payable to related party is due to Permotio International Learming S.a.r.l. the immediate parent company of
the Group. The outstanding balance is interest free and repayable on demand,
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NOTE 23 — TERM DEPOSITS

31 August 31 August
(in €000°s) 2023 2022
Term deposits 24.920 13,197
Total 24,920 13,197

The term deposits balance relates to security deposits {which are typically non-refundable) paid in advance of students
joining a school.

NOTE 24 — SUBSIDIARIES

The Group consists ot a parent company. International Schools Partnership Limited, incorporated in United Kingdom and
several subsidiarics held dircetly and indirectly by International Schools Partnership Limited.

A full list of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings, all of which are consolidated in these financial statements, are set
out in the appendix.

Subsidiaries exempt from the requirements of the Act relating to the audit of individual accounts

International Schools Partnership Limited has provided a guarantee [or the purposes of exemplion [rom audit of individual
company accounts under scction 479A(2)(a) of the Companics Act 2006 tor the following companics:

- Claremont School (St. Leonards) Limited

- International Schools Partnership Services Limited

- ISP Brazil Limited (formerly PIL. Brazit Holdings 2 Limited}

- ISP Chile Limited

- ISP Celombia Limited

- ISP Costa Rica Limited

- ISP Dominican Republic Limited

- ISP Ecuador Limited

- ISP India Limited

- ISP Malavsia Limited

- ISP North America Limited

- I8P Peru Limited

- ISP Thailand f.imited

- ISP Victnam Limited

- Oaks International School Limited

- PIL Europe Holdings Limited

- PIL. Mexice Holdings 1 Limited

- PIL Mexico Holdings 2 Iimited

- PIL Middic East Holdings Limited

- PH. UK Holdings 1 Limited

- PIL UK Ioldings 2 |.imited

- Temple Cambridge 1.td
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NOTE 25 - ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The ultimate parent company is International Schools Partnership 1 8.4.r.]l. a company incorporated and registered in
l.uxembourg. The immediate controlling party is Permotio International Learning S.4a.r.1, a company incorporated and
registered in Luxembourg.

This is the smallest and largest entity to consolidate the results of the company.

The ultimate controlling party is Partners Group Access 188 PF LP, a parlnership registered and designated in Scotland.

NOTE 26 - REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

During the 2023 {inancial vear, the Group incurred remuneratien costs, including social security costs, of €1,666.343 (2022:
€1.560,514) for its key management personnel. Key management personnel arc assessed as directors of the Company. The
highest paid director received remuncration of €598.647 (2022: €398,731). The Group implemented a defined contribution
pension scheme for key management personnel in July 2017, During the 2023 financial year cach management personnel
received €1.518 (2022: €nil) of pension benefit.

Management incentive plan

In July 2021, a managemenl incenlive plan ("MIP™) was introduced whereby certain executive management purchased
Class A ordinary shares in International Scheols Partnetship 11 el (TSP Sarl™) through Mourant Corporate Trustee
(Jersey) Limited. the trustee, for their fair market value at the grant date.

A valuation of the market value of the shares issued was performed by an independent third party on the issue date, The
shares will only deliver a return on a future exit event of the company: therefore the fair value was derived using the Monte

Carlo based option pricing model.

The following assumptions were applicd in determining the fair value of the shares issued:

July 2021
Risk tree rate of return based on the 5-year yield o a Luropean guilt 0.0%
Future volatility rate 30.0% to 35.0%
Market value of each share issned €1.23
Ixpected term to exit event (vesting period) 6.0 to 8.0 years

Further Class A erdinary shares in ISP Sarl were purchased in February 2022 and May 2022 by new exceutive management
tcam members. The directors determined that the original valuation carried out in July 2021 was still valid for determining
the market value of these shares issued.

The MIP is an equity settled share-based payment scheme. The total amount of employ ee benelil expense recognised in
the statement of profit or loss for the vear in respect of the MTP was €1,000.000 (2022: €1,000.600).
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NOTE 27 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Amounts outstanding at the year-end were as follows:

Balances outstanding with related parties

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Trading balance with parent company (notes 15 and 22) (134) 3.231
Itading balances with other related partics - 1.777
Related party lToan (note 20) (B.488) -
Total balance (owing) due (8.622) 5,008

Transactions during the year were:

Transactions with related parties

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Administrative expenses
Trading balances with other related partics 3.529 1.928
Total 3,529 1,928

Balances with parent company are amounts held with Permotio International Learning S.arl., the immediate parent
company of the Company.

Ralances and transactions with other related parties relate 1o rent and service charges incurred through lease or service
agreements with the other shareholders of subsidiarics where the Group owns less than 100% ot the sharces in the cntities.

NOTE 28 — CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

To our knowledge there are no contingent liabilities. We have fully provided for material taxes and associated taxes, but
not related interest and fines.

The Company has provided guarantees tor ongoing support o Colegios Laude SA, Tenby Educare Sdn. Bhd, Tenby
Education Sdn. Bhd. Al Nibras International Private School LLC, Aspen Heights British School LLC. Muntazeh English
School SPC. Reach British School LLC, Star [nternational School L1LC, The Aquila School Owned by Shaikh Mohammed
Maktoum Juma Al Maktoum One Person Company [L1.C. and The Hamilton International School LLC in respect to their
continuation as a going concern.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions have been consolidated using the purchase method of accounting with goodwill being recognised as an asset.
The acquisitions have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that the control was obtained
by the Group. Acquisitions arc performed to strengthen and widen the presence of the Group. Unless otherwise stated,
control is gained through the purchase of the share capital of the company. Details of the acquisitions and disposals along
with adjustments 10 the valuation of goodwill recognised are detailed below. Acquisition costs are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive (loss) / income.

Business combinations between 1| September 2022 and 31 Auguost 2023

Tomas Alva Edison School

On 8 September 2022, Pictos SAPH de CV (Mexico resident), a 160% owned subsidiary of PIL Mexico Tloldings 1 Limited
(Mexico resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired
the remaining 10% non-conltrolling interest in Formacién, Educacion Y Cultura, S.C.. increasing its ownership from 90%
1o 100%. Cash consideration of €3.427.000 was paid to the non-controlling sharcholder.

Following is a schedule of additional interest acquired:

€000's

Cash consideration paid to non-controlling sharcholders 3.427

Carrying valuc of the additional interest in Formacion, Iiducacion Y Cultura. 8.C. 2373

Decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,300
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS

Boston School International
On 12 October 2022, ISP North America Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 90% ol the share capital of Bosten School S AL (Panama resident).

The Group has cleeted to measure the non-contrelling interest in Lthe acquiree al the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquiree™s identifiable net assets.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 17.435
Tangible assels 709
Right-of-use assets 6328
Current asscts 1.204
Cash 152
Current labilities (3.310)
[.case liabilitics (5.817)
Long-term liabilitics (1,982)
Deferred tax liabilities (281)
Net asscts attributable to owner (2,997)
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating 1o the student registry 612
Non-controlling interest 238
Goodwill 19.582

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate o' 0.979 USD/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of USD 12,177,000 and contingent consideration of USD 4,894.000.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies and opportunitics that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables al the aequisition date was €93.000. The gross contractual receivable was €172,000.
The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €79.000. Carrying value of trade receivables is

deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition ¢osts:

(in €0040°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 5,051 5.445
Proin 1,438 1.510
Acquisition costs 65 926

a

***Past-acquisition refers o the fellowing period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2023,
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NOTE 29 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Boston School international (continued)

Contingenf consideration

Acquisition consideration agreed with the former owner includes a contingent portion based on the resulls tor the year
ending 31 August 2023,

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated 1o be €4.999.000.

Leonardo da Vinci Scuoela Paritaria

On 30 November 2022, Magate 2 Srl (Italy resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of P11 Europe Holdings Limited (UK
resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100%
of the share capital of Centro Studi Superiori S.r.l. (Ttaly resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as follows:

€000°s
Consideration™* 33.000
Tangible assets 14.583
Right-ot-use assets 1.647
Current assels 4.623
Cash 6.449
Current habilities (10,036)
Leasc liabilities (1,647}
Long-lerm liabilities {2,941)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,546)
Nct assets attributable o owner 11,132
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 2,623
Goodwill 19,243

*Consideration on acquisition was cash of €33.000,000. There was no deferred or contingent consideration.

The goodwill is atiributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring 1o the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €3,699.000. The gross contractual receivable was
€3,744,000. The provision tor contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €45,000. Carrying value of trude
receivables is deemed a reasonablc approximation of fair value,

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

{in €0007s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 7211 9.773
Profit 1.334 1.970
Agquisition cosls 188 432

*ExpPost-acquisition refers o the following period: date of acquisition w0 31 August 2023,
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NOTE 29— ACQUISITIONS {(continued)

Manthar International School

On 15 December 2022, 18P India Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital of Manthan Educational Solutions Private Limited (India
resident). which itseif manages the trading eperations o Manthan Educational Society. a non-for-profit organisation.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s™
Consideration** 35374
Tangible assets 5,682
Right-of-use asset 2324
Other long-term assets 1.611
Current assets 2.124
Cash 177
Current liabilities (3.599)
t.easc liability {439)
L.ong-term liabilities (640)
Deferred lax liabilities (2,960)
Net assels attributable to owner 4,280
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 7.327
Goodwill 23.767

*Converled using a foreign exchange rate of 86.550 INR/€.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of INR 2.755 mitlion and deferred consideration of INR 306 million.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergics and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €31,000. The gross contractual receivable was €31.000.
The provision for contractual cash ows not expected Lo be collected was €nil. Carrying value of trade reccivables is

deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) *%#*Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 3393 5.091
Profit 544 1.370
Acquisition costs 204 352

***Post-acquisition refers to the following peried: date of acquisition to 31 August 2023,
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NOTE 29— ACQUISITIONS (continued)

British School of Wilanow

On 23 December 2022, [SP Poland Limited (UK resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of’ International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident). acquired 90% of the share capital of British Primary School of Wilanow sp.o.o and British Nursery
of Wilanow sp.7.0.0 {Peland residents).

i'he Group has clected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the aequiree’s identifiable net assets.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 18.913
Tangible asscts 4
Right-of-usc assct 5.974
Current asscls 473
Cash 721
Current liabilities (2.657)
[.casc liabilily {5,974)
Delerred tax liabilities (1.123)
Net assets attributable to owner (2.584)
Tntangible asset recognised on acquisilion relating to the student registry 5.260
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to brand 661
Non-controlling interest (334)
Goodwill 15.910

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 4.635 PLN/E.

**Consideration on acquisition was cash ol PLN 88,155.000 lcss deferred consideration of PLN 123.000, Deferred
consideration actually paid subsequent to year end was PLN 123.000. which was initial purchase price adjustment
calculated as per the terms of the share purchase agreement.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the syncrgies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €131,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€191.000. The provision for contractual cash Tows not expected to be collected was €60.000. Carrying value ol trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of {air value,

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 3.130 5.158
Profit 430 1,227
Acquisition costs 401 723

*EPost-acquisition refers to the following period: date ol acquisition to 31 August 2023.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

British School of Wilanow (continued)

Option (o prrchase non-controlling interest

The sharehotders™ agreement includes both a put and call option, exercisable sometime between the 3™ and 7™ annis ersary
ol the acquisition date.

The estimated present value of the exereise option prices range from €1,689,000 1o €1.739.000. As at Lhe acquisition date.
the Group has included €1,689,000 as the fair value of contingent consideration liability related w the purchase of the non-
controlling interest. with the offset being reported directly in equity.

Alexandria International School

On 16 February 2023, Magalc 2 Sl (Taly resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL Europe Holdings Limited (UK
resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 100%
of the share capital of Centro Studi Alexandria S.r.l. (Italy resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s
Consideration*® 7.809
Tangible assets 196
Right-oi-usec asset 2003
Current assets 341
Cash 428
Current liabilities (1.999)
[.case liability (2.093)
Deferred tax [iabilitics (1.149)
Net assets attributable to owner (2,183)
Intangihble asset recogniscd on acquisition relating to the student registry 4.787
Goodwiil 5.205

*Consideration on acquisition was cash of €6.571.000 and contingent consideration ol €1.238.000.

The goodwill is atributable mainly to the synergies and opportunitics that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying vatue of trade receivables at the acyuisition date was €nil. The gross contractual reccivable was €nil. The

provision for contractuat cash flows not expected to be collected was €nil. Carrying value of trade receivables is deemed
a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Alexandria International School (continued)
CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 1,341 3.410
Profit {(523) (198)
Acquisition costs 123 373

#*+*Post-acquisition refers W the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2023,

Contingent consideration
Acquisition consideration agreed with the tormer owner includes a contingent partion based on trading for the calendar
year I January to 31 December 2023,

As at the acquisition date. the tair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be €1.238.000.

Fairmont Schools

On 30 March 2023, ISP US Holdings Inc (US resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of ISP North America Limited (UK
resident), which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 100%
of the share capital of Fairmont Schools Inc (US resident), incfuding its 100% owned subsidiary Fairmont Global
Education Services Lid (Hong Kong resident) and its 100% owned subsidiary Fairmont Empowering Dreams { Shanghai)
Cultural Communications Co. [.td (China resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration®* 102,698
Tangible assels 11,075
Right-of-use assets 179,721
Current assets 4,122
Cash 6.966
Current liabilities (28.911)
Lease liabilitics (155,847)
Deferred tax liabititics {14.702)
Net asscts attributable o owner 2424
Intangible assct recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 13.300
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the brand 9.388
Goodwill 77.386
*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.077 USD/€.
*+Consideration on acquisition was cash ot USD 104,684,000 and deferred consideration of USTY 5,.932.000.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Fairmont Schoaols (continued)
The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergics and opportunitics that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved [carning,

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €426,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€2.347,000. The provision for contractual cash fTows not expected 1o be collected was €1.921.000. Carrying value ol trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGLU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000's) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 22.512 61,121
Profit 1.119 8.940
Acquisition costs 1,202 1,851

*E*Post-acquisition refers o the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2023,

The English College Dubai

On 5 July 2023, PIl. Middle East Holdings L.td (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 809 of the share capital of English College Tloldings Lid (UAFE resident)
which itself holds 100% of the share capital of English College Dubai LLC {(UAE resident).

The Group has elected 10 measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 21.659
Tangible asscts 427
Right-of~usc assct 30.024
Current asscts 965
Cash 3.266
Current liabilitics {5,080}
T.ease liability (31.321)
Long-term liabilities (686)
Deferred tax liabilitics (712)
Nct assets attributable to owner .17
Intangible asscl recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 5323
Intangible assel recognised on acquisition relating to the brand 3.885
Non-controlling interest (1.218)
Goodwill 16.786
*Converled using a forcign exchange rate of 4.038 AED/€.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of AED 79.920.000 and deferred consideration ot AR 7.530.000.
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NOTE 29 — ACQUISITIONS (continned)

The English College Dubai (continued)
The goodwill is attributable mainty to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €202,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€333.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €131.000. Carrying value of trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value,

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 28 15.852
Profit (2.266) 2.137
Acquisilion costs - 384

**¥*Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition o 31 August 2023,

Option {o purchase non-conlrolling interesi
The sharchalders™ agreement includes both a put and call option. which is exercisable on the third anniversary of the
acquisition date.

As ut the acquisition date, the Group has included €6.097.000 as the {air value of contingent consideration liability related
to the purchasc of the non-conirolling interest, with the offset being reported direetly in cquity.
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NOTE 29 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Berda Claude International School of Phuket (BC1S)

On 18 July 2023, ISP Thaitand Limited (UK resident) and ISP Thai Holdings Ltd {Thailand resident) aequired 100% of
Phuket International Education Centre Co.., Ltd (Thailand resident), with shareholdings of 49% and 51% respectively.
Refer 1o note 24 and the appendix for details on immediate and ultimate parents of the acquiring enlities,

On the same date. Phuket International Centre Co Ftd purchased the trade and assets of Berda Claude International School

of Phuket (BCIS). including the school license agreement and specilied school assets. and assumed liabilities ol deferred
income and stadent deposits valued at THB 69.052.000 and THB 34.460.000 respectively.

The goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration®* 27.695
Tangible asscts 1,246
Right-of-usc asseis 12.097
Current asscls 1,907
Cash -
Current liabilitics (5.892)
l.case liabilities (488)
Deferred tax liabilities (3.290)
Net assets attributable to owner 5,580
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition refating to the student registry 3,143
Intangible asset recogniscd on acquisition relaiing to the brand 1.752
Goodwill 17.220

*Converted using a forcign exchange rate 017 37.237 THB/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of THB 893.989.000. deferred consideration of THB 13,956,000 and contingent
consideration of TITB 121.344.000.

The goodwill is attributable mairly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning,

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €1.233.000. The gross contractual receivable was
€1.253.000. The provision for contractuzl cash flows not expected to be collected was €nil. Carrving value of trade
receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Berda Claude International School of Phuket (BCIS) (continued)
CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 377 7.493
Profit (325) 1,659
Acquisilion costs 4 677

-
a

***Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of ucquisition to 31 August 2023,

Cantingent consideration

Acquisition consideration agreed with the former owner includes a contingent portion based on student numbers for the

academic vear ending 31 August 2023,

As al the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be €3.259,000.

St. George Madrid

On 31 July 2023, Colegios Laude SL (Spain resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of PIL. Europe Holdings Limited (UK
resident). which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 100%

of the share capital of British & International School XXT SLU (Spain resident).
The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

Consideration™®

€000°s
94,563

Tangible assets
Right-of-usc assct
Current assets

Cash

Current liabilitics
I.casc liability
Long-term liabilitics

Neferred tax liabilities

4,051
39.812
1,500
2,130
{4.590)
(10.829)
(389)
(15.890)

Net assets attributable to owner
Tntangible asset recognised vn acquisition relating to the student registry

35,795
14.579

Goodwill

44,189

*Consideration on acquisition was cash o €90,000.000 and contingent consideration of €4.563.000.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

St. George Madrid (continued)
The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of' trade receivables at the acquisition dale was €22.000. The gross contractual reccivable was €324.000.
The provision tor contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €302.000. Carrying value of trade receivables

is deemed a reasonable approximaltion of tair valuc.

CGU perfermance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Past-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 360 10.894
Profit 190 4.835
Acquisition costs 462 540

***Post-acquisition refers o the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2023,

Contingent consideration
Acquisition consideration agreed with the former owner includes a contingent portion based on securing certain additional
contractual rights..

As at the acquisition date, the {air value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be €4.563.000.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)
Aubrick
On | Aggust 2023, 18P Brazil Limited (UK resident). a 100% subsidiarny of ISP Chile Limited (UK resident). which is a
100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 90% of the share capital of

Nucleo Fducacional Moema §/8 Ltda (Brazil resident).

The Group has clected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquiree’s identiliable net assets.

Fhe goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as Tollows:

€000°s*
Consideration™* 27,297
Tangible asscts 1,481
Right-of-usc asscts 13.215
Current assets 790
Cash 2
Current liabilities (6.398)
L.casc liabilitics (15.604)
Deferted tax liabilities {2.483)
Net assets attributable to owner (8,997}
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating 1o the student registry 8.006
Intangible assct recognised on acquisition relating to the brand 1.686
Non-controlling interest o (70}
Goodwill 26,672

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 5.099 BRL/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of BRI, 126286000 and deferred consideration of BRI, 12,897.000.

I'he goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergics and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The catrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €88.000. The gross contractual receivable was €149.000.
Fhe provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €61.000. Carrying value of trade receivables is

deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:
p

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 870 8.404
Profit 188 1.420
Acquisition costs 520 691

*¥**Post-acquisition reters o the following period: date of acquisition 1o 31 August 2023,
q gp q 4
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NOTE 29 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Aubrick (continued)

Option to purchase non-controlling interest

The share purchase agreement includes a put option exercisable between | January 2024 and 31 Decernber 2028 and a
call option that can be exercised between | January and 31 December 2028.

The estimated present value of the exercise option prices range [rom €233 1,000 w €2.880.000. As at the acquisition date,
the Group has included €2,573.000 as the tair value of contingent consideration liability related to the purchase of the non-
controlling interest, with the oftset being reported directly in equity.

Bangkok International Preparatory and Secondary School

On 8 August 2023. ISP Thailand Limited (UK resident) and Education Holdings (Thailand) Ltd (Thailand resident)
acquired 75% ol Systems Litte House Ltd ( Thailand resident). with shareholdings of 49.7% and 25.3% respectively. Refer
1o note 24 and the appendix for details on immediate and ultimate parents of the acquiring entities. Systems Little House
I.td owns 100% of Bangkok International Preparatory and Secondary School, a schoel juristic person under the Private
School Act in Thailand.

The Group has clected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the zequiree’s identifiable net asscts.

I'he goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 64.252
Tangible assels 70.663
Right-of-use asset 2.547
Other non-current asscts 460
Current assets 2,558
Cash 5313
Current liabilitics {20,925)
Leasc {iability {1,033)
Long-tcrm liabilities (19.092)
Deferred tax Liabilities {4,558)
Net assets attributable to owner 35.931
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 7.128
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the brand 4.870
Non-controlling interest (11.982)
Goodwill 28.305

*Converled using a foreign exchange rate 0f' 37.207 THB/€.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of THB 2.095 million and deferred consideration of THB 295 million.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITHONS (continued)

Bangkok International Preparatory and Secondary School (continued)
The goodwill is attributable mainly 10 the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €1.694.000. The gross contractual receivable was
€1.712,000. The provision tor contractual cash tlows not expected o be collected was €18.000. Carrying value of trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair v alue.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2023
Revenue 1.719 24337
Profit 30 7.491
Acquisition costs 427 815

*+¥Past-acquisition refers to the tollowing period: dale of acquisition to 31 August 2023.

Option to purchase non-controlling interest
The sharcholders™ agreement includes a put option for the non-controlling management sharcholders which can be
exercised at any time.

I'he estimated present value of the exercise option prices range rom €10.035.000 to €22.442.000. As at the acquisition
date. the Group has included €15.441.000 as the fair value of contingent consideration liability related to the purchase of
the non-controlling intercst. with the oftset being reported directly in equity.
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Business combinations between 1 September 2021 and 31 August 2022

[f new information is obtained within the measurement period, being one vear from the date ot acquisition. about facts
and circumstances that existed at the date of acquisition that identities adjustments to the below amounts, or any provisions
that existed at the date of acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition 1s revised. Any revisions Lo the prior year
business combinations have been disclosed below under the respective acquisitions.

Ecole Mosaic
On 1 September 2021, PIL Burope Toldings Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools

Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 100% of the share capital ot Ecole Mosaic SA (Swiss resident).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 10.134
Tangible assets 902
Right-of-use asset 3,378
Current asscls 413
Cash 177
Current tiabilities** * (1.939)
I.ease liability {3.378)
Deferred tax liabilities {296)
Net assels atteibutable 1o owner (763)
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 2112
CGoodwill*** 8.785

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.076 CHF/€.

**Consideration on acquisition was cash of CHF 9.329.000 and deferred consideration of CHF 1.576.,000. Deferred
consideration actually paid out during the year was €1,187.000 (CHF 1,111,000}, which was based on the amount as per
the purchase agreement less any agreed tinalisation adjustments.

¥k Additional provisions of €119.000, and offsctting impact to goodwill. have been retlected in the current period
financial statements. Prior year comparatives have not been changed as the directors do not consider the effect on the prior
period financial statements to be material.

The goodwill is attributable mainly 0 the synergies and opportunitics that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €187,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€242.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not cxpecied to be collected was €55.000. Carrying value ot trade

receivables 1s deemed a reasonabie approximation of fair value.

CGL. performance and acquisition cosls:

(in €600's) **% Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 6.468 6,468
Profit 263 265
Acquisition costs 1 1

*+*Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition t 31 August 2022,
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NOTE 29 ~ ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Riviera Preparatory and Day Schools

On 29 September 2021, ISP US Holdings Inc. (US resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of TSP North America Limited
(UK resident). which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired
L00% of the share capital of Riviera Preparatory School Holdings LLC and Lare CG LIC (US residents).

The goodwill an acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration™** 110,234
Tangibte assets 38.229
Current assets 2,711
Cash 4.240
Current liabilitics*** (3,476)
l.ong term liabilitics (27.203)
Nel assets attributable to owner 14,499
Intangible assel recognised on acquisition relating 1o the student registry 18.299
Goodwill*¥** 77.436

*Converted using a foreigh exchange rate ol 1.166 USD/€.

**Consideration on acquisition was cash of USD 125,555,000 and deferred consideration of 1781 3.000.000.
+*+Additional provisions of €179.000, and offselting impact to goodwill. have been retlecled in the current period
financial statements. Prior year comparatives have not been changed as the directors do not consider the cffect on the prior
period financial statements o be material.

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergics and opportunitics that the Group will bring o the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acyuisition date was €2.264.000. The gross contractual receivable was
€2.483.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not cxpected 1o be collected was €219.000. Carrying value of trade

reccivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 23,175 23.691
Profit 8.702 9,960
Acquisition costs 276 8.694

***Post-acquisition relers to the following period: date of acquisition o 31 August 2022,
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NOTE 29 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)
Straits International Education Group
On 13 October 2021, Tenby Educare Sdn Bhd (Malaysia resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of ISP Malaysia [id (UK
resident). which is a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 100%

ol'the share capital of Straits Iniernational Education Group Sdn Bhd. which ttsell holds 100% ef the share capital of KK
Straits International Education Group Sdn Bhd and SG Straits International Education Group Sdn (Malaysia residents).

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as (ollows:

€000°s*
Consideration®** 8.717
Tangible asscls 1.928
Right-of-usc asset 19176
Current asscts 851
Cash 272
Current liabilitics*** {3.243)
L.casc liability (19.176)
Deferred tax liabilities (272)
l.ong term liabilities (631)
Net assels attributable to owner (1.095)
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 1.132
Goodwil [ ¥** 8.680

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate o' 4.762 MYR/E,

**Consideration on acquisition was cash of MYR 41.508.000. There was na deferred or contingent consideration.

¥ Additional provisions of €259.000, and offsetting impact o goodwill, have been retlected in the current period
financial statements. Prior year comparatives have nol been changed as the directors do not consider the effect on the prior
period financial statements to be material,

The goodwill is attributable mainly o the synergies and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade reccivables at the acquisition date was €nil. The gross contractual receivable was €10.000.
The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €10,000. Carrying value of trade receivables is

deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGU performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 4,185 4,545
(Loss) (1.077) (L.087)
Acquisition costs (5 5)

*¥*EPosl-acquisition relers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

St. Mary’s School
On 18 January 2022, ISP India [.td (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited
(UK resident). acquired 75% af the share capital of St. Mary’s Ldumanagement Services Private Limited (India resident),

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as (ollows;

€000°s*
Consideration** 17.171
Tangible assets 21472
Right-cl-usc asset 20,575
Current assets 703
Cash 37
Currem liabilities {2,203)
[.case liability (20,575}
Deferred tax liabilities {1.571)
Long term liabilities {185)
WNet assels attributable to owner (1.047)
Intangible assct recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 5,237
Nan-controlling interest o (1.440)
Goodwill 14,421

*Converted using a (oreign exchange rate of 84.746 [INR/E.
**Consideration on acquisition was cash of INR 1,300,000,000 plus contingent consideration of INR 1355,188,000.

The goodwill is atiributable mainly to the synergics and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through
dircct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €nil. The gross contractual receivable was €31,000.
The provision for contractual cash tlows not expected to be collected was €3 1.000. Carrying valuc of trade receivables is

deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

(G performance and acquisition costs:

(in €000°s) #*%Ppst-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 4481 7.221
Profit 397 1.716
Acquisition ¢osts 623 630

*EEPost-aequisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,
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NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

St. Mary’s School (continued)

Contingent consideration

Acquisition consideration agreed with the former owner includes a contingent portion based on the results for the year

cnded 31 March 2023.

As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent consideration was estimated to be INR 155,188,000,

Cotegio Terranova

On 22 February 2022, [SP Feuador Limited { UK resident) and ISP Chile Ltd (UK resident). cach a 100% owned subsidiary
of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident). acquired 100% of the share capital of Compania Scolasticomp

C'. Lida (Ecuador resident).
The goodwill on acquisition was caleulated as follows:
Consideration**

Tangible assets

Deferred tax asset

Current assets

Cash

Current labilities***

Net assets attributable to owner

GoodwillF**

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 1.095 USD/E,

€000°s*
21.547

13,671
45
1.632
552
(4.369)

11.531
10.016

*+Consideration on acquisition was cash of 1ISI) 23,585,000. There was no deferred or contingent consideration.
**% A dditional provisions of €241.000, and offsetting impact to goodwill. have been reflected in the current period
financial statements. Prior year comparatives have not been changed as the directors do not consider the effect on the prior

period financial statements to be material.

The goodwill is atiributable mainly to the synergics and opportunities that the Group will bring to the school through

direct investment and improved learning.

The carrying value of trade receivables at the acquisition date was €425,000. The gross coniractual receivable was
€765.000. The provision for contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was €340,000. Carrying value of trade

receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.

CGlI performance and acquisition costs:

{in €000°s) **%Post-acquisition

Revenuoe 2,510
Profit 63
Acquisition costs 144

*+*Post-acquisition refers o the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022,
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International Schools Partnership Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 29 - ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Star International School

On 29 July 2022, PIL Middle Easlt Holdings Lid (UK resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Timied (UK resident). acquired 80% of the share capital of Star Schools Holding Limited (Abu Dhabi
resident) which itsclf holds 100% ol the share capital of Star Tnternational School LIC (Dubai resident).

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate shure of tts interest in
the acquiree’s identifiable net asscts.

The goodwill on acquisition was calculated as follows:

€000°s*
Consideration** 15.693
Tangible asscts 19,118
Right-of-usc assct , 46,997
Current assets*** 2.676
C'ash 106
Current liabilities {10.433)
lease liubility (15.316)
Long term liabilities (31.297)
Net assets atiributable to owner 12,151
Intangible asset recognised on acquisition relating to the student registry 9574
Non-controlling interest*** (4,345)
Bargain purchase*** (1.687)

*Converted using a foreign exchange rate of 3.831 AED/E.

**Considcration on acquisition was cash of AED 48.403,000 plus deterred consideration of AED 2.867.000 and
contingent consideration ol AED 8,846.000.

*** Additional other receivables of €1,171,000 were recognised during the measurement period, resulting in additional
gain on purchase which has been recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value of the remaining lease payments al the date ol
acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured al an amount equal 1o the lease liabilities and adjusted to reflect the

favourable terms of the leasce.

The acquisition has resulted in a bargain purchase due to the fuvourable terms of the lease. Fhe gain on purchase has been
recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

The carrying value ol trade receivables at the acquisition date was €800,000. The gross contractual receivable was
€976.000. The provision for contractual cash Hlows not expected to be collected was €176.000. Carrying valuc of trade
receivables is deemed a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 29 — ACQUISITIONS (continued)

Star International School (continued)

CGU performance and acquisttion costs:

{in €000°s) ***Post-acquisition Year ended 31 August 2022
Revenue 32 12.897
(f.0ss) (1.002) (4.664)
Acquisition costs 33 273

***Post-acquisition refers to the following period: date of acquisition to 31 August 2022.

Contingent consideration

Acquisition consideration agreed with the former owner includes a maximum earn out payment of AED 8,846,000 which
is contingent on the school’s future performance. Management have assessed the probability of meeting this future
performance at 100%.

Option to purchase non-comtrolling interest

The sharcholders™ agreement includes both a put and call option which may be exercised during the period commencing
30 June 2026 and 30 June 2028. During the current vear, management identitied that the put call option was nol accounted
tor in the prior year financial statements. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability related to the purchase of
the non-controlling interest at the date of acquisition was cstimated at € 10.814.000. I'he fiability. and offsetling impact
directly in equity, has been reflected in the current period financial statements. Prior year comparatives have not been
changed as the directors to not consider the effect on the prior period financial statements to be material. The liability was
recognised during 2023 considering the initial fair value as at the acquisition date, and updated to the fair value as at 31
August 2023 Reter to note 19 for further details.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 30 - EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Acquisitions/subsidiaries
On 7 October 2023, ISP Morecco Limited (UK resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of International
Schools Partnership Limited {UK resident).

On 2 January 2024, ISP Morocco Holdings (Moroceo resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of ISP
Maoroceo Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident).

On 4 October 2023, ISP India Limited (UK resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident). acquircd 80% of the share capital ol Vivus Education Private Limited (India resident). On 31
October 2023, ISP India Limited acquired 80% ol the share capital of Kovai Hilts Edinfra Private Limited (India resident).
he acquired companies are collectively known as CS Academy amd purchased for total consideration of INR
1.823.000.000.

On 30 October 2023, 18P Brasil Participacoces [ TS (Bracil resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of [SP Brazil Limited
{UK resident), uitimately a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired
31% of the share capital of International School Centro de Educagio (Brazil resident). On 8 December 2023, ISP Brasil
Participacoes acquired the remaining 49% sharcholding in the company. tor total ownership of 100%. The company was
purchased for total consideration of BRI, 156.687.000.

On 31 October 2023, ISP CNBH Srl {Dominican Republic resident). an 80% owned subsidiary of ISP Dominican Republic
Limited (UK resident). ultimately a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident),
completed the purchase of the trade and assets of Colegio Bilingue New Horizons Srl for total consideration of DOP
1,565.000.000. The consideration was paid during the year and held in a reserve account umiil a tax ruling was issued. The
advance pavment has been reported as prepaid consideration in the statement of {inancial position as at 31 August 2023.

On 3 January 2024, ISP Poland Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership
Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital ot Akademeia liducational Group Sp zoo (Poland resident) and
its 100% wholly owned subsidiaries Akademeia High School Sp zoo (Poland resident) and Akademeia Operations Sp zoo
(Poland resident) and registered foundation Fundacia Akademeia High School. The group was purchased for PLLN
153.947.000.

On 20 February 2023, [SP Morocco Holdings (Moroceo resident). a 100% owned subsidiary of [SP Morocco Timited
(UK resident). ultimately a 100% owned subsidiary of Internationat Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired
106% of the share capital of Group Charles Peguy, and its 100% wholly owned subsidiarics Graines d'Enfances and

Graines d°Flite Prive, The group was purchased for MAD 198.531,000.

The aceounting for each of these acquisitions has not been finalised o show the caleulation of the goodwill on acquisition.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTE 30 - EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Borrowings

There has been a total draw down of €9.649.000 and UISI2125.900,000 from the acquisition facilitics to facilitate the post
vear end acquisitions, The drawdowns occeurred on 14 September 2023 for €9.649,000 und USH 46.000.000. 13 Oclober
2023 for IS 32,700,000, and 20 December 2023 for 1S 47 200,000,

Of the €80,000.000 dravwn on the Revolving Credit FPacility at year end. €30.000,000 was repaid on 18 September 2023,
An additional €94.000.000 was drawn on the Revolving Credit Facility subsequent to yvear end, of which €45.000.000 has
heen repaid.

Share issuance

On 14 Scptember 2023, the Company issued 1 Ordinary share, with a nominal value of €0.000031, at a premium of
€106,(117,363. The Company further resolved to reduce the share premium account by €106,017,363, with the amount
credited to the distributable reserve account.

On 1 February 2024, the Company issued 1 Ordinary sharc. with a nominal value of €0.00001, at a premium of
€30,000,000.

Other events
In December 2023, the property formerly used for the school operations in Baton Rouge. see note 12, was sold Lo a third
party for USD4,200.000,
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Company Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 August 2023

31 August 2023

31 August 2022

Note €000’s €000°s
Fixed assets
Tangible asscts 3 1,137 -
Intangible assets 4 471 -
[nvestments 5 1,213,852 963,923
Current assets:
Debtors (including €260.305,000
(2022: €199.672.000) falling due afler
more than one vear) 6 477,695 227,585
Cash at bank and in hand 16,939 36,536

494,634 264,121

Creditors: amounts falling duc within
one year 7 (94,108) (81,349)
Net current assets 400,526 182,772
Creditors: amounts falling due after
more than one year 8 (1,244,015) (797,825)
Deferred tax tiability 10 (7.334) (4,627)
Provision I - (890)
Net assets 364,637 343,353
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 12 14 14
Share premium account 12 394,477 394,477
Prepaid share reserve 13 106,017 -
Capital contribution reserve 13 79,931 79,931
Fair value rescrve 13 22,002 19,726
Profit or loss account 13 (237,804) (150,795)
Sharehaolders’ funds 364,637 343,353

The notes on pages 101 to 114 form part of these financial statements.

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006. the company has not presented its own prolitor loss account and related notes,
as it prepares group accounts. The company’s total comprehensive loss for the period was €87.009.000 (2022: loss of
€82.420.000).

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on | March
2024,

A
'fur“v“;j“_, *
;e

D Mee
Director



International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

At 31 August 2021

Total comprehensive
loss for the period

Loss (or the year

Other comprehensive
income for the year
{note 9)

Total comprehensive
loss for the period

Transactions with
owners, recorded
directly in equity

Issuc of sharcs
(note 12)

Total contribution by

and distributions te
owners

At 31 August 2022

Total comprehensive
loss for the period

[Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
income for the year
{note 9)

Total comprehensive
foss for the period

Transactions with
owners, recorded
directly in cquity
Issuc of shares (note
12)

Total contribution by

and distributions to
OWIers

At 31 August 2023

Company statement of changes in equity
from 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023

Share Prepaid share Capital
Called up premium reserve  contribution
share capital account reserve  Fair value Profit or loss
reserve account Total
€000’s €000°s €00s €000°s €000’s €000°s €00’s
14 464,477 - 79,931 - (232,262) 312,160
- - - - - (82,4200 (82,420)
- - - - 19,726 - 19,726
- - - - 19,726 (82,420 (62,694)
- (70,000) - - - 163,887 93,887
- (70,000) - - - 163,887 93,887
14 394,477 - 79,931 19,726 (150,795) 343,353
- - - - - (87,009} (87.009)
- - - - 2,276 - 2,276
- - - - 2,276 (87,009) (84,733)
- - 106,017 - - - 106,017
- - 106,017 - - - 106,017
14 394,477 106,017 79,931 22,002 (237,804) 364,637

The notes on pages 101 o 114 form part of these financial statements.



International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements
1. Accounting Policies

1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements
International Schools Partnership Limited (the ~Company™) is a private company limited by shares
incorporated, domiciled and registered in England in the UK. The registered number is 09817502 and
the registered address is 7" Floor 280 Bishopsgate. T.ondon, United Kingdom, EC2M 4RB.

The group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the companies Act 2006 (“IFRS™). The Company has elected o prepare
its parent company linancial statements in accordance with FRS 101 (Reduced Disclosure
Framework): these are presented on pages 101 w 114, The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention modified 1o include the fair value measurement of derivative
financial instruments,

On publishing the parent company financial statements here together with the Group financial
statements. the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in 5408 of the Companies Act 2006 not
to present its individual income statement and related notes that form a part of these approved financial
staterments.

The Company has taken advantage of the tollowing disclosure exemptions as permitied by FRS101:
e The Company has not prepared a cash flow statement and related notes
e Certain disclosures required by [FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and disclosures required by
IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures
s Disclosures in respect of capital management
Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries
Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel
The effects of new bul not yet effective TFRSs,

The financial statements are presented in Buro (€). The Company s financial statements arc rounded
1¢y the nearest thousand Luro (4€0007s™).

The accounting policies set out below have. unless otherwise stated. been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these financial statements.

1.2 Uses of judgements and estimates
Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
The directors have assessed and don’t believe there are any key judgement within the parent company
accounts. I'stimates made by the directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have
significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment
in the next year are discussed in note 3 of the consolidated financial staternents.

Impairment of imvestments in subsidiaries

The Company is required 10 estimate on whether the investments in subsidiaries are recoverable and
to estimate the recoverable amount of these assets. This asscssment is performed annually and is based
on the fair value of the investments. The fair vatue is measured using valuation techniques that require
management o excrcise judgement in determining the future profitability and cash flows of those
subsidiaries. growth rates and discount rates. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the fair value of the investment. and it applicable. the impairment loss recognised.

103

International Schools Partnership - Confidential Document



International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements
1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.3 Foreign currency

Transactions in forcign currencics arc translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
lransaction. Monetary assets and labilities denominated in foreign currencies at the statement of
financial position date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
differences are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a forcign currency are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair valuc are translated at loreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

1.4 Income taxes
Current income tax asscts and liabilitics are measured al the reporting date at the amount expected to
be recovered [tom or paid to taxation authorities using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substaniively enacted by the consolidated statement of financial position date. Certain subsidiaries arc
subject 1o foreign taxes in respect to their net income and capital gains in their country of operation.

Current tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in cquity. in which case it is recognised in correlation to the
underlying transaction outside of profit or loss.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary difterences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of’
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or scttlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates cnacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the iemporary difterence can be utilised.

1.5 Tangible assets
langible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss, Depreciation of these
assets, determined on the same basis as 1T hardware. commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised W write off the cost of' the asscts less their residual values over their useful
lives. using the straight-ling method. The estimated useful economic tife of 1T hardware is 5 years.

1.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is recognised 1o write off the cost over the uscful life of the asscts, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful cconomic life of software is 5 years.

1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets are assessed at each reporting date. as to whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. [fany indication exists. or wher annual impairment testing for an assct is required. the Group
estimales the asset’s recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset 1s the greater of its vatue
in usc and its fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is recognrised it the carmying amount of
an assct exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

1.8 Investments
Invesiments in subsidiarics are carried at cost less impairment to date.

1.9 Cash at bank and in hand
Cash comprises of cash balances held at banks or in hand.
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

I. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.10 Impairment of financial assets
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (FCEs) on linancial assels
measured at amortised cosl.

The Company measures {oss allowances at an amount equal o lifetime ECLL. except for bank balances
for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected lite of' the financial instrument)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition which are measured as 12-month 1ECL. Loss
allowances for trade receivables that do not contain a significant tinancing component are always
mcasurcd at an amount cqual to lifetime ECLL.

When determining whether the eredit risk of a tinancial assct has increascd significantly sinee initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or cffort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company "s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

1.11 Intra-group financial instruments
Where the Company enters into financial guaraniee contracls to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its group. the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until
such time as it becomes probable that the Company wilt be required to make a payment under the
guarantee.

1.12 Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Cormpany uses derivative financial instruments. such as interest rales caps. 1o hedge its interest
rate risk on bank loans. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at {air value on
the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently measured at fair value.

At inception ot designated hedging relationships. the Company documents the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Company also documents the economic
refationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. including whether the changes in
cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset cach other.

Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted tor as cash flow hedges.
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a
recognised asset or liability. or a highly probable {orecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or
loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve through other
comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the
statement of profit or loss,

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item. the
associated cumulative gain or loss is removed trom the hedging reserve and is included in the initial
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. For alt other hedged forecast transactions, the
associated cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to the income statement in the same period or periods
during which the hedged expected future cash flows allects profit or loss.

When the hedging instrument is sold. expires, is terminated or exercised. or the enlity revokes
designation ot the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur. the
cumulative gain or loss at that poeint remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above
policy when the transaction oceurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place. the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement
immediately.
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502}

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)
1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.13 Loans and borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of direct transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortised cost: any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the
barrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all the lacility will be drawn down. In this case. the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all the
tacility will be drawn down, the fec is capitalised as a pre-payment for Liquidity services and amortised
over the period ol the facility to which it relates.

When borrowvings are including floor or cap rates which are defined as closcly related embedded
derivatives. they are not separated {rom the host contract.

Borrowings arc removed from the statement ol financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount ot a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid. including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed. is recognised in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs. Borrowings are elassified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at [cast 12 months alter the reporting period.

1.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a present abligation (legal or constructive) as a resuli ol a past
event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and 4 reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present ebligation at the end of the reporting period. taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

2. Directors' remuneration

No director received remuneration, retirement or other benelfits trom the Company during either the current
or prior vear. Due to the nature of operations of the Group, the remuneration of the directors for their
services to International Schools Partnership Limited is not contained in the records of the Company. The
directors are remunerated for their services to the group. which is disclosed in note 26 of the consolidated
financial statements. Their services Lo this entity are minimal and a trivial amount of their remuneration is
attributablc 1o this cntity.

106

Internatioral Schools Partnership - Confidential Document



International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

3. Tangible assets
Construction in
IT Hardware progress Total
€000’s €000’s €000’s
Cost
At 31 August 2022 - - -
Additions 3 1.135 1.138
At 31 August 2023 3 1.135 1138
Depreciation
At 31 August 2022 - - -
Charge for the year () - (D
At 31 August 2023 (1) - n
Net book value
At 31 August 2022 - - -
At 31 August 2023 2 1,135 1,137
4. Intangible assets
Software
€000's
Cost
At 31 August 2022 -
Additions 357
At 31 August 2023 357
Amortisation
At 31 August 2022 -
Charge for the year (86)
At 31 Angust 2023 (86)
Net book value
At 31 August 2022 -
47

At 31 August 2023
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

5. Investments
Shares in group
undertakings
€000°s
Cost
At 31 August 2022 964,436
Acquired in the period 280.251
At 31 August 2023 1,244,687
Provisions
At 31 August 2022 (513)
Impairment losses {30.322)
At 31 August 2023 (30,835)
Net book value
At 31 August 2022 963,923
At 31 August 2023 1,213,852

Ihe Company holds several direct and indirect investments in subsidiaries. A tull list ot the Company s subsidiary
undertakings are sct out in the appendix.

The impairment in the current year of €30.322,000 relates to the investment in ISP Services Limited that has been
written down to the net asset value of the subsidiary.

6. Debtors
31 August 31 August
2023 2022

(in €000's)
Amounts due from group undertakings 438,337 197,084
Perivative instruments designated as hedges (note 9) 33,711 29.087
Other debtors 4,092 863
Prepayments 1.555 551
477,695 227,585
Duc within onc year 217,390 27.913
Due after more than one year 260,305 199,672

The amounts due from group undertakings arc unsecured and repayable on demand. incurring interest at the rates
of 3.94%-10.46% (2022: 5.94%-10.46"%). Balances repayable on demand that are not expected 10 be received
within the next 12 months have been classiticd as duc aficr more than onc year.

During the year. the directors identified that receivables of €9.187.000 from Promouvoir Management Consultancy
LLC were unrecoverable as the entity was liquidated in 2019, This balance should have been impaired in 2019
when the entity was liquidated. The directors do not consider that this has a material effect on the users ol the
accounts and have not restated the comparatives but have derecognised the receivables and recognised an
impairment charge ol €9,187.000 in the current year’s statement of comprchensive loss
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

31 August 31 August
2023 2022

(in €000°s)
Trade creditors 1.497 675
Bank loan accrued interest 12.509 3.703
Accruals 6.064 3.015
Amounts owed to group undertakings 73.576 71.956
Corporate Lax liability 462 -
94,108 81,349

All amounts owed to group undertakings are trade balances. The amounts are inlerest free and repayablc on

demand.

8. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Bank loans 1.242.210 797.825
Derivative instruments designated as hedges {note 9) 1.805 -
1,244,015 797,825
Terms and repayment schedule
. 31 August 31 August
non':

(in € K Currency Interest rate Maturity 2023 2022
Debt facility Euro  Luribor+5.75% July 2028 1,190,353 771,502

Revolving credit l-uribort January
facility FEuro 2.75%-3.50% 2028 80,000 30.000
Borrowing costs LEuro nfa July 2028 (28.143) {23.677)
Total loans and barrowings 1,242,210 797,825

During the year, the Group increased its debt facility for new acquisitions and working capital purposes by
€670.000,000 and €75.000.000 respectively. The new debt facility has an interest rate of 6.50% — Lurtbor and
matures 6 July 2028, The new revolving credit facility has an interest rate of 3.50% plus Euribor and matures on

6 January 2028. Both facilities can be drawn on in either the Buro or US currency.

Asat 31 August 2023, the Group had a total available debt facility of €1.870.,000,000 (2022: €1,200,000.000). of
which €1.190.400,000 {2022: €771.500.000) was drawn. In addition. the Group had a total available revolving
credit facility of €1235.000,000 (2022: €30.000,000). of which €80.000,000 (2022: €50,000.000) was drawn,

Loans and borrowings include capitalised deal fees of €28.143,000 (2022: €23.677.000). including €11.457.000
ot deal fees incurred during the year in relation to refinancing. The fees are being amortised over a period in line

with the maturity of the term loan and acquisition facility (5 years).
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

9.

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

Financial instruments

Al vear end the company has the following financial assets measured at Lair value:

31 August 31 August

{in €000's) 2023 2022
Derivative instruments designated as hedges 31.906 27913
Derivative instruments not designated as hedges - 1.174
31,906 29,087

The Company enlers into interest rale cap or interest rate cap and coliar contracts o mitigate the interest rate risk
on the bank lauans.

As at 31 August 2023, the Group is holding the following derivative instruments:

three intercst rate caps with a total nominal amount of €694.4m. The contracts have aterm of 3 years and
are due to maturc on 23 January 2025, 26 February 2023 and 22 March 2023, The instruments protect the
Group from rate increases in the Furibor above 0.5%:

one interest rate cap with a nominal amount of €825m. The contract has an effective date of 31 March
20235, becoming eftective as the above three contracts expire, and is due to mature on 31 December 2026,
Instrument protects the Group from rate increases in the Euribor above 3.5%: and

onc interest rate cap and collar with 4 nominal amount of €200m, The contract has an effective date of 30
September 2024 and matures on 31 March 2025, The instrument effectively guarantees the Group a
floating interest rate between the Euribor rates of 4.25% and 2.75%. It Euribor falls below 2.75%, the
Group will be required 1o pay the ditference in rates. however if the Luribor rises above 4.15% the Group
will receive cashllows.

The derivative contracts are measured at fair value, which is determined using valuation techniques that utilise
obscrvable inputs. The key assumptions used in valuing the derivatives are the Euribor rates.

The impact of the cash 1low hedge in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI™). net
of tax, is as follows:

Total Amount
hedging Cost of  reclassified
gain [neffectiveness hedging  from QCI Line item in the
recognised recognised in recognised to profit or statement of profit or
in OC1 profit or loss in OCI loss loss
€000 €000 €000 €000
Year ended 31 August 2023
Interest rate caps (12.981) - 8.929 {1.435) Finance cost
Interest rate cap and
collar - - 304 - Finance cost
Year ended 31 August 2622
Interest rate caps (26.264) - 2.656 (743) Finance cost
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

10.  Deferred tax liability

The movement in the deferred tax included in the statement of {inancial position is as follows:

Cash flow
hedges
€000's

AL | September 2022 -

Deterred tax charge included directly in other comprehensive loss 4.627

At 31 Augunst 2022 4,627
Deferred tax charge included directly in other comprehensive loss 2,707

At 31 Augnst 2023 7,334

11 Provision

Long-term

incentive plan

€000’s

At 1 September 2022 -
Arising during the vear 80

At 31 August 2022 890

Reversed during the year (890)

At 31 August 2023 - -

The provision jfor the long-term incentive plan was derecognised during the year as the employees in the plan are
employed by Internatuonal Schools Partnership Services Limited (“ISPS™). a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. The provision and related stafi expenses have been recognised in the company accounts for [SPS for
the year ending 31 August 2023.

12.  Share capital and share premium

31 August 31 August

2023 2022

Allotted, called up and fully paid € €
Sharc premium 394,476,573 394,476,573
Ordinary shares 14,019 14,019

As at 31 August 2023, the Company had issued and outstanding 1.401.941.247 Ordinary shares of €0.00001 each
(2022: 1.401.941.247 Ordinary sharcs of €0.00001 gach).

No ordinary shares were issued during the vear. Prior to year-end, the Company received funds of €106.017.363
from the shareholders for the issue of one (1) ordinary share at a nominal value of €0.00001. The allotment of the
sharc, and subscquent reduction of the share premium account, was completed subsequent to year end on 14
September 2023, As such, the funds received have been recognised in the prepaid share reserve for the year ended
31 August 2023 and will be reclassified to the appropriale equity accounts in 2024,

During the prior year, the previously issued class A. A1, BL. B2, C. D. and I ordinary sharcs were subdivided so
that each had a par value of €0.00001. The shares were subsequently redesignated as Ordinary shares atl a par

valuc of €0.00001 per share. Each share has full rights in the Company with respect to voting, dividends and
distributions.

11
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International Schools Partnership Limited (Registered Number: 09817502)

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)
13.  Reserves
Called-up share capital — represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Share premium — represents the amount paid by the sharcholders in excess of the Company 's share capital nominal
value.

Prepaid share rescrve — represents the amount received by the Compuany trom its sharcholders for the issue of
shares which have not yet been allotted.

Capital contribution reserve — represents contributions to the Company from its sharcholders, other than in
exchange for the issue of equity instruments.

Fair value reserve — represents the fair value movements on the derivative financial instruments accounted for
using hedge accounting, net of tax.

Profit or loss account — includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

Other reserves retated o the value of equity scttled share-based puyments reported in the Group consolidated
financial statements have not been included in the Company as the employcees in the plan are not employved by the
Company.

14. Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries exempt from the requirements of the Act relating to the audit of individual accounts

A full list of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings. all of which are consolidated in these financial statements,
are set out in the appendix.

International Schools Partnership Limited has provided a guaraniee for the purposes of exemption tfrom audit ot
individual company accounts under section 479A(2)(a) of the Companies Act 2006 for the foflowing companies:

- Clarcmont School (St Leonards) Limited

- International Schools Partnership Services Limited

- ISP Brazil Limited (formerly PIL. Brazil Ioldings 2 Limited)

- ISP Chile Limited

- ISP Colombia lLimited

- ISP Costa Rica Limited

- ISP Dominican Republic Limited

- ISP Feuador Limited

- ISP India Limited

- ISP Malaysia Limited

- ISP North America Limited

- ISP Peru Limited

- ISP Thailand Limited

- ISP Vietnam L.imited

- Oaks International School Limited

- PIL Europe Holdings Limited

- PIL. Mexico Holdings 1 Limited

- PIL Mexico Holdings 2 Limited

- PIL. Middle East Holdings T.imited

- PIL UK Holdings | Limited

- PIL. UK Holdings 2 Limited

- Temple Cambridge Ltd
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

15. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The ultimale parent company is [nternational Schools Partnership 1 8.4.r.1, a company incorporated and registered
in Luxembourg. The immediate parent is Permotio International Learning 8.4.r.1, a company incorporated and
registered in Luxembourg,

The attached consolidated financial statements are the only Ninancial stalements to include the results of the
Company.

The ultimate controlling party is Partners Group Access 188 PE 1P, a partnership registered and designated in
Scotland.

16. Related party transactions
Amounts outstanding at the year-end were as tollows:

Trading balances with related parties

31 August 31 August
(in €000's) 2023 2022
Trading balance with immediate parenl company 1.313 3.231
Total 1,313 3.231

Transactions during the year were:

Transactions with related parties

31 August 31 August
(in €000's} 2023 2022

Administrative expenses
Trading balances with immediate parent company - -

Total - -

Balances with parent company arc amounts held with Permatio International Learning 5.4.r.1., the immediate parent
company ol the Company.

17. Subsequent events

Acguisitions subsidiaries
On 7 October 2023, ISP Morocco Limited (UK resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of
International Schools Partnership Limited (UK resident).

On 2 January 2024, ISP Morocco Tloldings {Moerocco resident) was incorporated as a 100% owned subsidiary of
ISP Morocco Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary ol International Schools Partnership Limited (UK
resident).

On 4 October 2023, ISP India Limited (UK resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 80% of the share capital of Vivus Fducation Private Limited (India
resident). On 31 October 2023, TSP India Limited acquired 80% of the share capital of Kovai Hills Fdinfra Private
Limited {India resident), The acquired companies are collectively known as CS Academy amd purchased for total
consideration of INR 1,825.,000.000.
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Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

17. Subsequent events {continued)

Acquisitions subsidiaries {continued)

On 30 Qctober 2023, ISP Brasil Participacoes [ ITS (Braril resident), a 100% owned subsidiary o ISP Bravil
Limited (UK resident). ultimately a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK
resident). acquired 51% of the share capital of International School Centro de Educagédo (Brazi! resident). On 8
December 20230 ISP Brasil Participacocs acquired the remaining 49% sharcholding in the company., for total
ownership of 100%. The company was purchased for total consideration of BRL 156,687,000,

On 31 October 2023, ISP CNBIH Srl (Dominican Republic resident). an 80% owned subsidiary of ISP Daminican
Republic Limited (UK resident). ultimately a 100% owned subsidiary of international Schools Partnership Limited
{UK resident), complcted the purchase of the trade and assets of Colegio Bilingue New Horizons Srl for total
consideration of DOP 1,565.000.000. The consideration was paid during the year and held in a reserve account
until & tax ruling was issued. The advance payment has been reported as prepaid consideration in the statement of
tfinancial position as al 31 August 2023,

On 5§ January 2024, ISP Poland Limited (UK resident). a 100% ownecd subsidiary of International Schools
Partnership Limited (UK resident), acquired 100% of the share capital ot Akademeia Lducational Group Sp zo00
(Poland resident) and its 100% wholly owned subsidiaries Akademeia High School Sp zoo {(Poland resident) and
Akademeia Operations Sp zoo (Poland resident) and registered foundation Fundacja Akademeia High School. The
group was purchased for PLN 153.947.000.

On 20 February 2023, ISP Marocco Holdings (Morocco resident), a 100% owned subsidiary of ISP Morocco
Limited (UK resident), ultimately a 100% owned subsidiary of International Schools Partnership Limited (UK
resident). acquired 100% ot the share capital of Group Charles Peguy, and its 100% wholly owned subsidiaries
Graines d"Enfances and Graines d Elite Prive. The group was purchased for MAD 198.531,000.

The accounting for each of these acquisitions has not been finalised to show the calculation of the goodwill on
acquisition,

Borrowings

There has been a total draw down of €9.649.000 and USD 125,900,000 {rom the acquisition facilities to facilitale
the post yvear end acquisitions. The drawdowns occurred on 14 September 2023 for €9.,649,000 and 1SD
46,000,000, 13 October 2023 for USD 32,700,000, and 20 December 2023 for USD 47,200,000.

Of the €80.000,000 drawn on the Revolving Credit Facility at year end. €30,000,000 was repaid on 18 September
2023, An additional €94 000,000 was drawn on the Revolving Credit Facility subsequent 1o year end, of which
€45.000.,000 has been repaid.

Share issuance
On 14 September 2023, the Company issucd 1 Ordinary share, with a nominal value ot €0.00001. at a premium of
€106.017,363. The Company further resolved to reduce the share premium account by €106,017.363, with the

amount credited to the distributable reserve account.

On | February 2024, the Company issued 1 Ordinary share, with a nominal value of €0.00001, at a premium ol
€30,000,000.
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List of subsidiaries

Appendix

Percentage of

ownership
Company nam Classof 1 5023 | 2022 | Registered address
gmpany name shares held gt .
PO . . L | 1785 Queen Street East, Unit J, Brampron, Ontario.
> ey v B . 0 1)
4039459 Canada 1.1d Ordinary 100% | 100% Canada 16T 453
Calle Ozumbilla. Mz 99 1t 117, Los Héroes de Tecamac
Abastecedora Fscolar TAT, S.A. — o o, | Seccion Bosques. Tecamac, 55764 State of Mexico
de C.V. Ordinary 100% | 1006% (Registro Publico de ta Propicdad de Tlalnepantla, Estado
de México)
Administradora de Colegios N o .| Administradora de Colegios Pedro de Valdivia SpA.
Pedro de Valdivia SpA Ordinary 100% 1 100% Santiago, Chile
’:Clhr:::r[‘”l i‘T[;m““"“"" Private | oy finary | 49% | 49% |PO Box 54084. Dubai. UAE
Ark Holdings SA Ordinary | 100% | 1009 |2V d¢ Chitelaine 95A, 1219 Chitctain. Geneva,
Switrerland
; i 1 g5 19 Cha 1 T .
ASC international House SA Ordinary | 100% | 100% | V- ¢ Chatelaine 93A. 1219 Chacelain. Geneva.
Switzerland
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat
Asia Pacific Schools Sdn. Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% | Bandar Damansara. 50490. Kuala .umpur. Wilayah
Petsckutiuan. Malaysta
A leights British School n/a - - | PO Box 137352, Abu Dhabi, UAE
Aspen ieights Educational
Facilities Management Sole nfa - - PO Box 33366. Abu Dhabi. UAE
Proprietorship [1.C ##
Bangkok International No. 77 Soi Rim Khlong Phra Khanong. Phra Khanong
Preparatory and Secondary nfa 100% - Nuea Sub-District, Vadhana District, Bangkok. {0114,
School #4### Thailand
Berda Claude International p 100% 28/29, Moo 4, Chalong sub-district, Mucang Phuket
School of Phuket (BCIS) #### va e ) district, Phuket, Thatland
. Avenida Paseo del Mar con Calle Vista del Pacifico
c | A . 0, - N
Boston School SA Ordinary 0% Edificio H-31. Costa del Fste. Ciudad d¢ Panama, Panama
)B;;‘(‘I"‘é’[ ‘iﬁ foternational School oy qine | 100% | - | Calle Padres Dominicos. 1. 2850 Madrid. Spain
lzrllu.:? Education Management. n/a } 100% | nva
111 v of Wi r e aeid s ats . 7 [P pe—
anst? Nursery of Wilanow sp. Ordinary 90% ) ul. Ksicdra Prymasa Augusta Hlonda. 12, 02-972 Warsaw,
7004 Poland
British Primary School of Ordinary 90% ) ul. Ksicdza Prymasa Augusta Hlonda. 12. 02-972 Warsaw,
Wilanow sp. z.0.0. Limited * 0y ° Poland
Centro kducacional Escucla Ordinary | 100% | 100% | Valle del Sol Santa Ana. San José. Pozos. Costa Ric
Centro Studi Alexandria Sri* Ordinary 100% - Via [on Luigi Orione 1, 13121 Alessandria, Ttaly
Centro Swudi Superiori Sri * Ordinary | 100% - Via G.B. Moroni 255, 24127 Bergamo (BG). Ttaly
) . 2, 0 . Y : B g7 4 ] M
C.lar.i.monl School (St. Leonards) Ordinary 100% | 100% 7}h Floor 280 Bishopsgate., London. EC2M 4RB, United
1imited Kingdom
g}?kgm British Royal School Ordinary | 100% | 100% | Av Las Perdices 263, T.a Reina, Santiago, Chile
o H s - T T
coleeto é;i“’ de Valdivialas 1 ¢ yiary | 100% | 100% | Av. Las Condes 13349, Las Condes. Chile
;ﬂ;ﬁ'\fj‘;ﬁ;‘\d“ Valdivia Ordinary | 100% | 100% | Av. Quilin 5473, Peaalolén, Santiago, Chile
f,::)':f;jl’ijj?p‘f Valdivia Ordinary | 100% | 100% [Av. Pedro de Valdivia 1939, Providencia. Santiago. Chile
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List of subsidiaries {continued)

Appendix (continued)

Coelegio San Jorge de Miratlores

Av. General Ernesto Montagne N° 360, Miraflores, Lima —

- 0, L7
SCRL Ordinary 100% | 1002 Pert
- s Fiis bJ / H -, | ae
Colegios Laude. SA Ordinary 100% | 100% Av. [)}. 1-_‘1110_pa 24, Puerta A, Bajo A. 28108 Alcobendas.
= Madrid. Spain
Compania Scolasticomp C_Ttda | Ordinary | 100% | 100% | a0 Tuan Alto delas Ricles 307y Av. Simon Bolivar.
Quito- Ecuador
Corporacién CLR $.A.C Ordinary | 100% | 100% }/:\:;-.u(lcncrul Ernesto Montagne N° 360, Miraflores. 1 ima —
Feole Mosaic SA Ordinary 100% | 100% | Avenue Dumas 23. 1206 Geneva, Switzerland
. . . A 1788 Singha Complex. 30th Floor. Unit 3001-3003. 3009-
}‘ﬁj“iaj',"“ Holdings (Thailand) 1oy giar | 100% | - | 30014 New Phetchaburi Rd.. Bang Kapi. TTuai Khwant.
i Bangkok.10310. Thailand
Edumanagement Partners Privaic Skootr TForest Building, 2nd Flooor, Block C, RMZ Futura,
dumanag EEVEC L Ordinary | 100% - |Plot 14 & 13, Phusc-2. Iliteeh City, Hyderabad, Telangana
Limited i
500081
English College Dubai L.LLC * ** | Ordinary 100% - PO Box 11812, Al Sata 1. Dubai, United Arb Emirates
Saite 203. 11, Al Sarab Tower, Abu Dhabi Global Market
English College Holdings Ltd * Ordinary 80°% - Squarc. Al Maryah Island. Abu Dhabi, United Arab
Emirates
Fairmont Empowering Dreams Room 2002G. 2(th Floor, Donghua Financiai Building,
(Shanghai) Cultural Ordinary 10:0% - No. 28 Maji Road, China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade
Communications Co 1.td 4 Zone
Fairmont Global Education — o 44/F Fdinburgh Tower The Landmark, 15 Queen's Road
Services Lid * Ordinary 100% ) Central, TTong Kong
Fairmont Schools Inc * Ordinary 100% - 1575 W. Mable Street, Anabeim, California 92802
I.evel 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela. Pusat
Fondcare Sdn, Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% | Bandar [Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah
Persekutuan, Malaysia
Calle Heriberto Frias 1401, Colonia del Valle Sur. Alcaldia
Formacién. Educacion Y Ordina 100% 90 Benite Juarer. C.P 03104, Mexico City. Mexico (Registro
Cultura, §.C. N ik ° ® | Piblico de la Propicdad y del Comercio de la Ciudad de
M¢éxico)
France Family Partners E1P ** Ordinary 100% | 100% | 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70816
Hamilton International
Development Limited {formetly T o o, | Mesaimeer 56 - street number 1117, building number 117.
knawn as Marlborough Group Ordinary 100%  100% Doha, Qatar
Limited)
Hanot Toronio Joint Stock N . w0, | 3rd floor. Belvedere Building. 28A Tran Hung Dao. Phan
Company ## Ordinary | 4545% | 45 45% Chu Trinh ward. Hoan Kiem District. Hanoi city. Vietrtam
Hl%h School Thomas Jefterson. Ordinary 100% | 100% Gardcma 5. Ex-}'la_t.:acnda de Santa Monica. 54050
5.C 1 lalnepantla. Méxivo
level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela. Pusat
Imu Bijak Bestart Sdn. Bhd. ## n/a - - Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah
Persckutuan, Malaysia
Boulevard Miguel Cervantes Saavedra 169, piso 2,
Inmobiliaria d¢ Mexico Mes . o Colenia Granda, Alcaldia Miguel Hidalge C.P. 11520,
’ ary “a E . . . . . ’
S.A deCV. Ordinary 100 100% Mexico City, (Registro Publice de la Propiedad v de
Comercio de la Ciudad de México)
Ineobiliaria Emibu $.A. Ordinary | 100% | 1000 | Dotores Suere 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonaler.
Guayagquil - Ecuador
Inmobiliaria Panamericana C.A. | Ordinary | 100% | 1000, | Dolores Sucre 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzalez,

Guayaquil - Ecuador
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Appendix {(continued)

List of subsidiaries (continued)

Calle Amores 1629, Colonia Del Valic, Alcaldia Benito
Inmobiliaria Pel. S.A. Ordinary 100% 1 100% | Juares C.P. 03100, Mexica City, (Registro Pablico de la
Propicdad v de Comercio de la Ciudad de Méxica)
Instituto Educativo Moderno De Ordinary 100° 100% Plot No. 4, Km. 2.3 Via Samborondon, Samborandon.
Guayaquil Inemoquil C. Ltda. o e | Guayas Provinee. Ecuador
Instituto Thomas Jetferson Avenida Asteroides 1200, Colonia Rancho Sam Antonio,
L‘J-:ﬂ:;{:: Q" o ;:) ‘;‘E Ordinary | 100% | 100% | Municipio de Santiago de Querdtaro, Querétaro C.P. 76149
ampany DUerelara. .5 {Registro Publico de la Propiedad de Querétaro)
Vialidad Ramal [.a Tijera 1753, Municipio de Tlajomulco
Instituto Thomas Jeflerson o o o, | de Zuniga. Localidad 1.as Amapas C.P. 45640
Guadalajara. §.C. Ordinary 100% 1 100% Guadalajara, Jalisco (Registro Publico de la Propiedad v de
Comercio de Jalisco)
Avenida Prolongacion Jesias 3451, Colonia Los Girasoles
[nstituto Thomas Jefterson Valle . o . | Municipie de Zapopan Guadalajara. Jalisco. C.P. 45130
X ] Yo % . L . .
Real, S.C. Ordinary 100 100 {Registro Publico de la Propiedad y de Comercio de
Jalisco)
[nternational Parents Trust, LI.C Ordinary 100% 100% | 3867 Plara Tower Drive. Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70816
srmational S < i B - e -
{mc.r_ndtmn_al _Suhnols Partnership Ordinary 100% | 100% 7,1‘.']1 Floor 280 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4RB. United
Services Limited * Kingdom
Ln;\e;smncs L-a Colina MCM. Ordinary 100% | 100% | i.a Calera. Cundinamarca, Colombia
Inoh Intemational School Sdn Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium. Jalan, Damanlela. Pusat
p ‘ ’ ' Ordinary 100% | 100% | Bandar Damansara. 530490. Kuala [.umpur. Wilayah
Bhd. -
Persckutuan, Malaysia
ISP Baton Rouge. Inc. Ordinary 100% | 100% | 1209 Orange Street. Wilmington, Delaware 19801
ISP Bellevue Tne. Ordinary 100% | F00% | 14640 NE 24TH Street. Bellevue. Washingion. 98007
. . - . . Rua Gil Encas. 640, parte. Brooklin Novo. Sao Paulo.
ST (O, C i 0 _
ISP Brasil Participacoes LTDS Ordinary 100% 04061-042. Brazil
ISP Brazil Limited (formerly PIL T o o | 7th Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London. EC2M 4RB, United
Brazil Holdings 2 Limited) Ordinary | 100% | 100% | o gom
ISP Broward Holdings I.LC Ordinary 106% | 100% | 1200 South Pine Island Read. Plantation. Florida 33324
ISP Broward 1L1.C Ordinary 100% { 100% | 1200 South Pine Island Road. Plantation. Florida 33324
ISP CBNH Srl € Ordinary 20°% ) Avc.mda Sarasota No. 51, Santo Nomingo. Distrito
Nacional
ISP Chile Limited * Ordinary 100% | 100% 71!1 Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London. EC2M 4RB, United
Kingdom
ISP Chile SpA Ordinary 100% | 100% | 3561 Oficina 401, Las Condes. Santiago Chile
ISP Colombia Limited * Ordinary 100% | 1a0% 'h_h Flour 280 Bishopsgate. London, EC2ZM 4RB, United
Kingdom
ISP Colombia SAS Ordinary 100% | 100% |La Calera, Cundinamarca. Colombia
ISP Costa Rica Limited * Ordinary | 100% | 1000, | 7th Floor 280 Bishopsgate. Uondon. FC2M 4RR. Lnited
Kingdom
S Mo B H Trmate N T coler " I
I*SCI Dominican Republic Limited Ordinary 100% ; 7lh Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London, EC2M 4RB. United
Kingdom
ISP East Cost Holdings Inc Ordinary 100% 1+ 100% | 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801
ISP Feuador Fimited * Ordinary 100% | 100% 7[\(:':];3:;: 280 Rishopsgate. London, EC2M 4RB. United
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List of subsidiaries (continued)

Appendix (continued)

1788 Singha Complex. 30th Floor, Uit 3001-3003, 3009-
ISP Holdings 1 Lid © #* Ordinary HI0% - 30014, New Phetchaburi Rd., Bang Kapi, Huai Khwant.
Bangkok, 10310, Thailand
1788 Singha Complex. 30th Floor. Unit 3001-3003_ 3009-
ISP Holdings 2 1.1d © ** Ordinary H)0% - 30014, New Phetchaburi Rd., Bang Kapi, Huai Khwant.
Bangkok.10310. Thailand
1788 Singha Complex, 30th Floor, Unit 3001-3003, 3009-
ISP Holdings 3 T1d © #4#4 Ordinary 49% - 30014, New Phetchaburi Rd., Bang Kapi. Huai Khwant.
Bungkok, 10310, Thailand
; 3 e codle TN 4 e
1SP India Limited * Ordinary 100% 100% 7l..h Fioor 280 Bishopsgate. [.ondon. FC2M 4RB. United
Kingdom
ISP Kchoe [Toldings [1.C Ordinary 93% 93% | 3867 Plara Tower Drive. Baton Rouge. T.outsiana 70816
2 i (2 i
ISP Malaysia 1 imited * Ordinary 100% | 100% 7’t.h Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London. EC2M 4RB. United
Kingdom
ISP North America Limited * Ordinary | 100% | 100% 7K‘.h Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London. ECZM 4RB. United
ingdom
ISP Peru Limited * Ordinary 100% | 100% 71]1 Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London, EC2ZM 4RB. United
Kingdom
ISP Poland Timited € Ovdinary 100% ) 7'l‘h Floor 280 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4RR. United
Kingdom
ISP Porlugal S.A.° Ordinary 100% - Rua Latine Coclho, 87 Lisboa. Portugal
1788 Singha Complex, 30th Floor, Unit 3001-3003, 3009-
[SP Thai Holdings 1.1d ** Ordinary 100% - 30014, New Phetchaburi Rd.. Bang Kapi, Huai Khwant,
Rangkok, 10310, Thailand
ISP Thailand Limited € * Ordinary 100% _ 'f'l\th Floor 280 Bishopsgate, London, LC2M 4RB, United
ingdom
ISP US Holdings Inc Ordinary 100% | 100% | 1209 Orange Strect, Wilmington, Delaware 19801
S US Management Co. Ordinary 160% | 100% | 1200 South Pine [sland Read. Mantation, Florida 33324
ISP Vietnam Joint Stock e o o | Q2 land plot. Tay Ho Tay New Urban Arca. Xuan Tao
Company Ordinary 100% 1 100% Ward. Bac Tu Liem District. Hanei City. Vietnam
h b) P crate - : P,
ISP Victnam Limited * Ordinary 100% 100% ’.",L.h Floor 280 Bishapsgate, London, EC2M 4RB, United
Kingdom
ISP West Coast Holdings Inc Ordinary 100% | 100% | 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, Delaware 19904
Kehoe-I'rance Day Camp. Inc. ** | Ordinary 100% 100% | 3867 Plara Tower Drive, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70816
Kehoe-France Inc. ** Ordinary 100% 100% | 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70816
KK Straits International Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium. Jalan Namanlela, Pusat
P Ordinary 100% | 100% : Bundar Damansara. 30490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah
Fducation Group Sdn. Bhd i ~
Persekutuan, Malavsia
. . — " o, | 3000 Wachovia Financial Center, 200 South Riscayne
Laro CGLLC Ordinary 100% { 100% Blvd. Miami. FL, 33131, USA
: Kk 7. 10 aa - s
Liceo Panamericano LPSA S.A. | Ordinary | 100% | 100% ?f’"’f“ Sucre 302 and Nicolas Augusto Gonzales.
juayaquil, Ecuador
Eynn Rose Corp Ordinary 100°% | 100% | t81 Bay Street. Suite 2100, Toronto. M3J2T3
Lynn-Rose College Inc. Ordinary 100% | 100% | 181 Bay Street, Suite 2100, Toronto, M5I12T3
Magafe 2 Srl Ordinary | 100% | 100% | Via Francesco Olgiati. 14, 20143 Milan, Ttaly
Manthan Educational Solutions Skootr Forest Building. 2nd Flooor. Block C, RMZ Fatura.
anthan Laucational SOLOs - oy dinary | 100% - {Plot 14 & 15. Phase-2. Hitech City. Hyderabad, Tclangana
Private Limited 500081
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Appendix (continued)

List of subsidiaries (continued)

Manthan L.ducationat Society * ) ) ) Ramachandrapuram mandal, Sangareddy District.
#i# 'd Hydcrabad. Teiangana 502032
Mile Srl Ordinary 100% | 100% | Via Francesco Olgiati. [4. 20143 Milan. laly
Muntazch English School SPC . o o, | Bou Hamour 36, Mesaimeer Streel, building number 43,
(Park House English School) Ordinary 100% | 100% | Doha. Qatar
crnational Sc ] I : sot ] IO Tnite
()‘ak‘s International School Ocdinary w00 | 1000 7th Floor 280 Bishopsgate, T ondon, EC2M ARB, United
Limited : Kingdom
Nucleo Educacional Mocma §/5 Ordinary 90% ) " Viera de Morais Street. 177 - Campo Belo. San Paulo.
Tida * any . 04617-010. Brazil
Permatio Cansultancy DWC Ordinary | [00% | 100% PO Box 54084, Dubai. UAF
Dubat Branch
{’TT{‘“““ Consultancy DWC Ordinary | 100% | 100% | PO Box 54084. Dubai. VAT
. N . | 1788 Singha Complex. 30th Floor. Unit 3001-3003, 3009-
Phuket Tnternutional Educat ! j N
Ce:tr? (IELIT;;(T;} Heation Ordinary 100% - 130014, New Phetchaburi Rd., Bang Kapi. Huai Khwant.
‘ Bangkok, 10310, Thailand
Boulevard Miguel Cervantes Saavedra 169. piso 2.
. - . . Colenia Granda, Alcaldia Miguel Hidalgo C.P. F1520,
- T .
Pictos SAPI de OV Ordinary 100% i 100% Mexico City (Registro Piblice de la Propiedad v de
) Comercie de la Ciudad de México)
PIL. (Dubai) SPC 1 Lid ## n/a - : - PO Box 34084, Dubai. UAE
PIL. Furope Floldings Limited * | Ordinary | 100% | 100% Z{tﬂ] ;‘j?)?; 280 Bishopsgate, London, 1:C2M 4RB, United
PIL. Mexico [Moldings | Limited Ordinary 100% | 100% 7lh Floor 280 Bishopsgate, 1.ondon. 1C2M 4RB, United
* Kingdom
| 2
- 3 — T —
PIL. Mexico Holdings 2 Limited | Ordinary | 106% | 100% ;‘L‘]grtli‘;‘r’; 280 Bishopsgate, London. EC2M 4RB. United
PI.L Mldglc East Holdings Ordinary 100% | 100% 71!'1 Floor 280 Bishopsgate. London. EC2M 4RB. United
Limited Kingdom
PIL. UK Holdings 1 Limited * Ordinary | 100% | 100w | 7th Floor 280 Rishopsgaie. London, EC2M 4RB, United
Kingdem
PIL UK Holdings 2 I imited Ordinary 100% | 100% ’."t_h Floor 280 Bishopsgate, London, EC2M 4REB, United
Kingdom
Promouvoir Management o )
Consultancy LLC P n/a . 9% |
Reach British School [.LC ## n/a - - Baniyas East, PO Box 12986, Abu Dhabi, UAE
River Forest Partners [LLC ** Ordinary 100% | 100% | 3867 Plaza Tower Drive. Baton Rouge. [.ouisiana 70816
Rivicra Preparatory School I o/ o, 1 3000 Wachovia Financial Center. 200 South Biscayne
Holdings. LLC Ordinary | 100% | 100% 1 p1oy Miami. F1. 33131, USA
H |
ssirlguuz y Maulén Educaciona Ordinary 100% I 100% | Rodriguez y Maulén Educacional SpA Santiago. Chile

Rowntree Montessori Shools Inc | Ordinary 100% | 100% | 182 Bay Street, Suite 2100, Toronto, M3J2T3

| Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat

3G Straits Imemational Ordinary | 100% © 100% | Bandar Damiansara. 50490, Kuala |umpur, Wilayah
Education Group Sdn. Bhd, d
Persekutuan, Malaysia

The Excecutive Centre, Satarpuria Sativa. Knowledge City.
7/3B, Octave Block. Hyderabad. Telangana, India, 300081

SMAcrocity Eduserve Private

_— . )
Limited ¢ Ordinary 75%

The Exceutive Center, Level 7, Octave 3 B, Salarpuria

Sfl' ]\./.Iar_\.' : I?.c_i.umangg%‘mcm Ordinary 73% 75% | Sattva Knowledge City. Hitech City, PO Box 500081,
Services Priviate Limited X
[vderabad. India

The lxecutive Cenler. T evel 7, Octave 3 B. Salarpuria
St Mary's Socicty ## n/a - - Sawtva Knowledge City. Hitech City, PO Box 500081,
Hyderabad, India

Star International School LLC ** [ Ordinary 100% | 100% { A! Twar School. 7th Strect, Al Twar 2. Dubai, UATL
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Appendix (continued)

| 2462 ResCowork01. 24th Floor, Al Sila Tower, Abu Dhabi
Star Schools Holding Limited Ordinary 80% 80% - Global Market Square. Al Marvah [sland. Abu Dhabi.
| United Arab Emirates
Straits International Fducation - i Tevel 13A-6, Mengra Milenium, Jalan Damanleli, Pusat
) N ! Ordinary 100% | 100%  Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala [.umpur. Wilayah
Group Sdn Bhd.
Persekutuan, Malaysia
23. Soi Sukhumyvit 53 (Paidi Madi), Sukhumvit Road.
Systems Little House [.td 4 ** Ordinary 75% - Khlong Tan Nuca Sub-District. Vadhana District,
Bangkok. 10110, Thailand
Temple Cambridge 1imited Ordinary 100% | 100% I7(th Fioor 280 Bishopsgate. London. EC2M 4RB. United
ingdom
Fevel 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela, Pusat
Tenby Aman Sdn. Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% | Bandar Damansara, 30490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah
! Persekutuan. Malavsia
! Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlcla, Pusat
Tenby Ecohtll Sdn. Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% | Bandar Damansara. 30490, Kuala L.umpur, Wilayah
Persekutuan. Malaysia
i ! Level 13A-6, Menara Mifenium. Jalan. Damanlela, Pusat
Tenby Educare SDN, BHD. Ordinary 100% . 100% |Bandar Damansara, 30490, Kuala l.umpur, Wilayah
! Persekutuan, Malaysia
Level 13A-6. Menara Milenium. Jalan. Damanlela. Pusat
Tenby Fducation Sdn. Bhd. ## nfa - - i Bandar Damansara. 50490. Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah
Persckutuan, Malaysia
Unit Level 13(A), Main Office Tower, Financial Park
Tenby Labuan Foundation ## n/a - - I abuan. Jalan Merdeka. 87000, Federal Territory of
[ .abuan, Malaysia
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlcia, Pusat
Tenby Rawang Sdn. Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% | Bandar Damansara, 50490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah
Persckutuan, Malavsia
I.evel 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela, Pusat
Tenby Southern Sdn. Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% |Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah
Persekutuan, Malaysia
Level 13A-6, Menara Milenium, Jalan, Damanlela, Pusat
Tenby World Sdn. Bhd. Ordinary 100% | 100% |Bandar Damansara. 50490, Kuala Lumpur. Wilayah
Persckutuan. Malavsia
The Aquila School Owned by
Shaikh Mohammed Maktoum - . .
Juma Al Maktoum One Person nfa - - PO Boex 26340, Dubai, UAE
Company LI C (Aquila) ## )
The Hamilton Intermational . "Mesaimeer 56 - streel number 1117, building number 117,
School LEL # Ordinary 49% | 9% Doha. Qatar
Thomas Jetferson Zona . Jorge Jiméner Cantia 1, Hacienda de Valle Escondido,
Fsmeralda TIZE. §.C. Ordioary | 100% | 100% | 3035 00" aper Mateos, México
Tienda Cincuenta Aniversario, . Costa Rica, San Jose. Santa Ana. Posos,
S.AL Ordinary 100% 100% one and a halt kilometers west from Banco DAVIVIENDA
;mxpequll tamabiliaria Torpimob Ordinary 100% i 100% | La Modema Sirect, plot 3-1, Samborondon - Fcuador
Vietkd Vision Joint Stock . W o, | #712. Belvedere Building. 28A Tran Hung Dao, Phan Chu
Company Ordinary 100% ~ 100% | Trinh ward. 1oar Kiem Bistricl, Hanoi City, Victnam
\"nul_1g Explorers Educationat Ordinary 100% | 100% 7215 Millereek Drive. Mississauga, Ontario. Canada. 1L.5N
Services Inc. 3R3

International Schools Partnership - Confidential Document




International Schools Partnership Limited {Registered Number: 09817502}

Appendix (continued)
List of subsidiaries (continued)

& The entities are dircet subsidiarics of the Company, all others are indirectly held.

The entities are held indirectly by a subsidiary of the Company that is not 100% owned by the Group.

*%  T'he indirect percentage ol ownership is:
- Kehoe-France Day Camp. Ing,
- Kehoe-France Inc.
- Irance FFamily Partners LLLP
- River Forest Partners LLC
- English College Dubai LLC
- Star International School LEC
- ISP loldings 1 [.1d
- ISP Holdings 2 T.ad
- ISP Thai Holdings Lud
- Lducation Holdings (Thailand) Ltd
- Phuket International Education Centre Co Ltd

- Systems Little House .id

A The entities were acquired during the year. Reler to note 29 for {urther information.
C  The entities were incorporated during the year.,

D The entity was liquidated during the year.

M The entity was merged with Colegios Laude, SA during the year.

The Group acquired the remaining 10% shareholding from the non-controlling shareholder on 8
September 2022,

55.00%
935.00%
95.00%
95.00%
80.00%
80.00%
73.99%
73.99%
73.99%
73.99%
73.99%
68.42%

Although the Group owns indirectly less than hall of the shares of these entities, the Group controls them
# Dby virtue of agreement with the companics’ other shareholders wherehy the Group exercises management

control over the entities.

Hi
arrangements.

The Group decs not own equity interest in the entities but controls and operates them through contractual

g The Group holds majority of the board seats. owns equity interest and operates the company through a

contractual arrangement.

gugy  Entity is registered as a school juristic person under the Thailand Private School Act, separate from its

parent entity
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